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Financial Highlights

MBEREE

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
Bz BZE
—E-N\F —T)\F
+=ZA=+—H =A=+—H
IEA@EA LEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFT
(Restated)
(g&E5))
Revenue - 3,058,707 3,628,116
Gross profit EH 1,949,805 2,463,927
Gross profit margin IS 63.7% 67.9%
Operating profit EIE AT 1,287,750 1,732,144
EBITDA margin EBITDAX 46.9% 52.4%
EBIT margin EBIT= 42.1% 47.7%
Selling and marketing expenses to sales HERMIGHEERXIGIHEHL X 6.8% 5.1%
Administration expenses to sales TR IGIHE L= 18.8% 19.9%
Profit before income tax B % A & F) 1,374,957 1,859,553
Profit from continuing operations FEBICEETE 2 &7 1,054,152 1,509,866
Profit from continuing and discontinued RARERFEE ARGFELS
operations attributable to the equity holders HEAR 4R 575 2 BT
of the Company 1,017,959 1,263,797
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share BREAREERF, (BE)
(RMB cents) (AR¥ESD)
— Continuing operations — B EER 27.78 43.22
- Discontinued operation — I PR ETR 4.97 (2.56)
32.75 40.66
Net cash generated from operating activities LERYEEACESFE 1,232,906 1,538,662
Net cash* FIR e 3,452,252 7,502,606
Total equity e 13,745,418 13,118,337
Final dividend per share (HK cents) TRRERRE OBL) 8.8 15.0
Special dividend per share (HK cents) GRS (BL) 18.9 -

Total dividend for the current reporting period/year 7N &5 HAfE 2 % B
(HK cents) (AL 37.7 31.0
Dividend payout ratio for the current AR B, 2 FIRE X

reporting period/year 100.9% 63.0%
Debt ratio* BEL X4 31.4% 1.9%
Current ratio (times) MELE () 4.2 9.3
Liquidity ratio (times) RELLE (F) 3.8 8.6
Inventory turnover (days) FEREX(H) 199 216
Trade receivables turnover (days) JEURBR R AEE R (H) 98 104
Trade payables turnover (days) JETRRFAEE (B) 78 89
* Net cash means “Short-term time deposits” plus “Cash and cash — * [FH 2 SR FRTER 7 M HEERE 2

equivalents” minus “Borrowings”. ZEY H B -
# “Debt ratio” means “Total borrowings (include current & non- * [BELF]ER[HEEH (EEZRERIERE

BB [z (T 85 #Ees)]

current borrowings” divided by “Total Equity (exclude non-controlling
interests)”.
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture

CORPORATE PROFILE

Huabao International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), consisting of flavours and fragrances segment, aroma
raw materials segment, tobacco raw materials segment, condiments
segment, is mainly engaged in the R&D, production and sales of
flavours and fragrances, aroma raw materials, tobacco raw materials,
as well as condiments. The Group also makes diversified investments
around its core businesses. It is an industrial holding group based on
China’s taste-based consumer goods market.
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture

The Group is a market leader in China’s flavours & fragrances
industry. It owns many famous flavour brands, including “Huabao
Flavours” on the A-Shares platform, “Hedon”, “Huabao”, “H&K",
“Tianhong”, “Huafang”, “Owada”, “Amber” and so on. The Group
has internationalised product development and manufacturing
capabilities, owns production bases in regions such as Shanghai,
Guangdong, Jiangsu, Yunnan, lJiangxi, Fujian, Hong Kong and
Botswana, etc., has a R&D centre in Holzminden, Germany, a state-
level enterprise technology centre in Shanghai, and R&D departments
in Guangdong, Yunnan and Fujian. Huabao Kongque, a subsidiary
of the Group, is the Vice Chairman Unit of China Food Additives
& Ingredients Association. At the same time, the Group takes on
leadership roles in a number of industry associations which are
relevant to flavours and fragrances business, including Deputy Director
of China Association of Fragrance & Flavour and Cosmetic Industries,
Deputy Director of China Association of Bakery & Confectionery
Industry, Chairman of Shanghai Food Additive & Batching Association.

The Group is also one of the market leaders in China’s tobacco
raw materials field, where its production capacity and sales revenue
account for a significant market share and its production technology
and product quality have taken the leading position at domestic
level and reached advanced international level. Guangdong Jinye, a
subsidiary of the Group, is one of the RTL R&D bases authorised by
the STMA. In November 2012, the second phase of RTL production
line of Guangdong lJinye was completed, put into production
and accepted by the STMA, which became the first landmark of
papermaking RTL production line certified by the STMA. Its production
technology has been recognized by the STMA to have reached the
highest technology level in terms of domestic paper-making RTL
production, while its major technical parameters have also reached
advanced international levels. In 2016, the “Key Laboratory for
RTL Technology Research in Tobacco Industry”, jointly founded by
Guangdong Jinye and Guangdong Tobacco, was selected as the sole
laboratory in the RTL field in China. Guangdong Jinye became the sole
RTL enterprise owning a national key laboratory in China. In terms
of new materials, Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co., Ltd.
has developed rapidly in the cigarette new materials field, which is
represented by flavour capsule and core line and is becoming a new
growth point. Newly established bases Jiangxi Huabao Xinhui Science
& Technology Co. Ltd. in 2017, as well as Dianhua benxiang which
was established by joint venture with Yunnan Tobacco New Materials
Technology Co. Ltd. in 2018, became two flavour capsule business
bases. Both of the bases expanded the Group’s flavour capsule
capacity.

SE/ET ©EXL
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The Group is also one of the leading enterprises in China’s aroma raw
materials field. The principal products include many natural aroma
and synthetic aroma products. Its production capacity and sales
revenue account for a significant market share in the industry, and its
production technology and product quality have reached the leading
domestic and international level. In 2015, the Group successfully
acquired Yancheng Chunzhu, a leading enterprise in aroma raw
materials industry. In 2017, the Group successfully acquired Jiangxi
Xianghai. The acquisitions played a positive role in the establishment
and layout of the Group's aroma raw materials segment. The Group,
by virtue of its own industry advantages of the leading position and
strong scientific research strength, plans to build a leading aroma raw
materials production base in Asia and even the world.

In 2018, the Group made strategic adjustments to its business.
Through the acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff, the Group entered into
the condiment market that is of great growth room, and also diversify
the Group's business structure and sources of income. In addition, the
Group successfully disposed of the loss-making e-cigarette business
and optimised the Group's financial resources and efficiency.

At present, the Group has successfully established an industry chain
with full coverage from raw materials, processing, to consumption,
which brings the Group’s competitive strength in taste-based fast-
moving products industry to a new level. The Group will also combine
its industry expertise and integration capability with the social capital,
through the multi-capital platforms, multi-collaboration channels, as
well as multi-investment collaboration models, to create more value
for the shareholders.

SE/ET ©EXL
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SPIRIT
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Innovative, pragmatic,
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nt first, value creation and
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S35
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o Adhere to the “concentric diversification strategy” and develop into the world’s leading taste-
based consumer product industrial holding group.

] Consolidate the existing market of flavours and fragrances and explore new markets with
product and technology innovation

o Seize the opportunity of integration in aroma raw materials industry and strives to achieve the
goal of “Being the world’s leader in the aroma raw materials industry”

o Closely monitoring opportunities in emerging markets and expand the markets of tobacco raw
materials

o Consolidate the Group’s leading role in the niche segment in the condiment industry, leverage
innovative sales platform and incentive measures to build condiment business as the Group’s
growth line

e EBRIRALEZTIEE] BREAZHRELHRERZHERELESE

s REBREBNGEENS BEEMERMAF RHEEDS

e MEBRMITEEANKE MIKAEHEMTENER| G BFEE
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Chairlady Statement

CHU Lam Yiu
RAK3E
Chairlady & CEO

TEREEHTE

Dear shareholders,

In 2018, the global economy and financial markets were turbulent
due to the rise of trade protectionism, Brexit and risks in emerging
economies. In 2018, China’s economic growth rate reached 6.6%,
the lowest growth rate in 28 years. Against the backdrop of
slowdown in the macroeconomy, the Group adhered to the strategy
of concentric diversification focusing on the taste-based industry
and successfully completed the strategic adjustment of its business
segment. During the Period Under Review, flavours and fragrances
business was successfully listed in the A shares market and maintained
steady growth. The Group tapped into the foodservice segment
by successfully acquiring Jiahao Foodstuff through a competitive
global bidding. In addition, the Group strategically disposed of VMR
Products and exited the US market. Thanks to these adjustments,
the Group further optimised its business structure and obtained a
clearer growth path. For the nine months ended 31 December 2018,
the Group’s revenue amounted to approximately RMB3,059 million,
net profit attributable to the shareholders of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB1,018 million. | am delighted with the
achievements of the Group.

During the Period Under Review, in response to the market and
regulatory changes, the Group disposed of the US e-cigarette
business which has been suffering loss at a reasonable consideration.
The disposal not only offset the loss of the e-cigarette business
in the past few years, but also enabled the Group to accumulate
extensive experience in innovative tobacco products business. The
Group believes that, by capitalising on its accumulated expertise and
judgment, it could capture future opportunities in the innovative
tobacco products business. Furthermore, the Group successfully
acquired Jiahao Foodstuff, a leading manufacturer in the compound
condiment industry. Benefiting from the acquisition, the Group further
expanded its business to the downstream industry chain and explored
condiment business with larger market scale and growth space. With
such footprint in condiment business, the Group will be able to tap
into the foodservice segment in the future and expand its business

ETFEHRES
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scope and capability. Through these strategic realignments, the Group
has successfully established an industry chain with full coverage from
raw materials, processing, to consumption, which brings the Group’s
competitive strength in taste-based fast-moving products industry to a
higher level.

“Client first, value creation and shared achievements” is the core
value of the Group. During the period under review, based on
forward-looking market research, each segment of the Group
provided its customers with stable and high-quality products and
services that were well received by the market. At the same time,
the Group aligned the interests of partners with that of customers
through the innovative platform to fulfill our promise of creating
value for customers. The Group pays high regards to the principle
of “Success depends on effort” and understands that products and
services innovation are underpinned by employees’ initiative and
execution capability. Therefore, despite the economic downturn, the
Group remained unchanged in its investment in human resources in
order to add value to its customers through the most outstanding
talents.

Looking forward to 2019, Chinese government sets GDP growth
target from 6% to 6.5%. At the Central Economic Work Conference,
the leadership has indicated that there would be new and worrisome
developments amid generally steady economic operation, the
external environment is complicated and severe, and the economy
faces downward pressure. With such challenging macroeconomic
environment, the Group will respond positively by consolidating
its share in the existing markets and identifying the problems and
demands of customers and consumers while exploring potential
new markets to help customers gain success. Our management is
of the view that with the advancement of structural shift, China’s
economy will progress amid stability and moves toward a high-quality
development path. Enterprises with competitive strength will be able
to thrive in China, the world’s largest consumer goods market.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers, suppliers, and business
partners for their continuing support. Also, | would like to thank all
the directors, management, and employees who have been dedicating
to the development of Huabao. We look forward to continuing to
work with you to create a better tomorrow.

CHU Lam Yiu
Chairlady & CEO

Hong Kong, 12 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RECENT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
Acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff

On 4 September 2018, the Group successfully acquired 100%
interest of Jiahao Foodstuff at a final consideration of approximately
USD696 million. Driven by the development of the domestic economy,
increasing urbanization, consumption upgrade, and change of
consumption environment and patterns, China’s foodservice market
enjoys a rapid growth. As the foodservice industry further develops
towards to chainstore and customized direction, restaurants’ demand
for condiments of high quality, high stability and high-customization
grows significantly. Guangdong Jiahao was established in 1994, it
has advantages in the niche market. Guangdong Jiahao's two major
products, chicken bouillon and wasabi paste, are widely known
and recognized in China’s foodservice industry and possessed a
leading market share. At present, Jiahao Foodstuff has a nationwide
distribution network aiming at foodservice clients. Jiahao Foodstuff
would leverage innovative strategic sales platform to strengthen
its sales power. Jiahao Foodstuff positions itself as “Professional
brand for the professional chef”, its “Close Connection” marketing
strategies enables Jiahao Foodstuff's salespersons to better
understand the chefs and restaurants’ demand, thereby developing
products that could meet the market's demand and preference.
In addition, Guangdong Jiahao is located in the trade centre of
Zhongshan, a city that has easy access to all means of transportation
with an advantage over production cost. The management of Jiahao
Foodstuff have extensive operating and managing experience in the
condiment industry. After the acquisition, the Group will gradually
implement the synergies of the acquisition in terms of distribution
channel, cost control and R&D. The acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff is
an implementation of the Group's strategy “Concentric Diversification
based on Consumers’ demand in the Taste-based Fast-moving
Products Industry”. Jiahao Foodstuff offers an opportunity to the
Group to break into the RMB100 billion condiment market. Jiahao
Foodstuff will expand the Group’s business operation scope, optimize
business structures, and create more value for our shareholders.

Acquisition of Hunan Jishou

In September 2018, Smart Sino (Shanghai) Investment Management
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, acquired 85% equity interest in
Hunan Jishou, a company incorporated in China. The consideration
of the acquisition was RMB13,498,000 in cash. Hunan Jishou mainly
engages in the production and sales of cigarette materials and
cigarette filters. The Group will strengthen its layout in the cigarette
materials industry and expand its scope of operation.
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Disposal of the E-cigarette Business

On 2 October 2018 (Florida time, United States), VMR Products,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into and
completed an agreement with, among others, JUUL Labs, Inc. and
its subsidiary to dispose all of the issued and outstanding units
of VMR Products. The Group has approximately 62.7% indirect
interest of the issued and outstanding units of VMR Products. The
consideration of the disposal was USD31,352,380 and the cash have
already been received by the Group. VMR Products is engaged in the
design, engineering, production, assembly, integration, manufacture,
marketing, sale, supply and distribution of electronic cigarettes. The
successful disposal of VMR Products significantly minimized the policy
and regulatory risks of the Group in the e-cigarette business and
further enhanced the Group’s financial position.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Overview of the tobacco industry

In 2018, in the context of escalating trade frictions, increasing
geopolitical risks and volatility in capital flows in emerging market
economies, the global economy slowed down. In 2018, China’s
GDP grew by 6.6%, the lowest in 28 years. In the short term,
structural reform measures will put certain downward pressure on
China’s economy, but in the long run, the Chinese economy is still
empowered with momentum to move forward. As an important
part of the real economy, the tobacco industry has anti-cyclical
and defensiveness characteristics. In light of the severe domestic
and global macroeconomic situation, the tobacco industry is still
developing steadily and forwardly.

In 2018, the total industrial and commercial tax and profit of the
tobacco industry was RMB1,155.6 billion, representing an increase
of 3.69% year-on-year; the contribution to the national treasury
amounted to RMB1,000.08 billion, representing an increase of
3.37% year-on-year; the industry added value was RMB787.7 billion,
representing an increase of 4.88% year-on-year; the total income of
nationwide tobacco farmers from planting tobacco leaves amounted
to RMB55.0 billion and the average income from planting tobacco
leaves per tobacco farmer was RMB54,000, helping 41,000 poor
tobacco farmers to shake off poverty.

In respect of R&D of new cigarette products, thin, short, medium-
length and capsule cigarettes remained the core of new product
development market. Short cigarettes were popular in the market due
to the compact and stylish shape, delicacy and elegance, portability
and lower tar content. The sales volume of capsule cigarettes
remained rapid growth due to its varied tastes and rich interestingness
throughout the year. In the short term, thin, short, medium-
length, and capsule cigarettes will continue to play a leading role in
optimising the structure of cigarettes and propelling the sales volume
of cigarettes.
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In terms of tobacco leaves, the STMA implemented progressive
regulation in three years from 2014 to 2016 to reduce the planting
area and purchase volume of tobacco leaves and proactively control
the inventory of tobacco leaves. Under the guidelines of “control of
total amount, safeguard of red line and reduction of inventory”, the
production of tobacco leaves was in stable development. (Source:
STMA website)

Overview of food, beverage and fragrances industry

As affected by trade frictions and changes in the domestic and
global macroeconomic environment, China’s GDP recorded its lowest
growth rate in 28 years in 2018, and there was much attention on
“consumption downgrade”. Due to these unfavorable factors, the
food and beverage industry, as a necessity for residents, also recorded
decline. According to data from the National Bureau of Statistics,
from January to December 2018, the sales revenue of food processing
industry of industrial scale was RMB1,867.98 billion, representing a
decrease of 20.6% year-on-year. The sales revenue of the alcohol,
beverage and refined tea processing industry was RMB1,553.49
billion, representing a decrease of 13.30% year-on-year.

During the Period Under Review, “green, health and convenience”
further became the development direction of the food and
beverage industry. Due to the enhancement of consumers’ health
and environmental awareness, consumers had increasingly higher
requirements on the traceability and sustainability of the raw materials
of products, and enterprises that could make responsible purchases
in production, supply and marketing were increasingly recognised by
consumers. The aging of population has prompted more and more
middle-aged and elderly consumers to pay attention to the medical
functions and nutritional value of food and beverage products. The
advancement of urbanisation has made young consumers’ life busier
and posed higher requirements on the packaging and portability of
food and beverage products.

In respect of fragrances industry, according to the statistics of
enterprises of industrial scale from the National Bureau of Statistics,
from January to November 2018, the main business revenue of soap
and detergents reached RMB138.9 billion, representing an increase
of 1.9% year-on-year; the main business revenue of cosmetics was
RMB134.3 billion, representing an increase of 12.72% year-on-year;
the main business revenue of oral hygiene products amounted to
RMB20.5 billion, representing an increase of 7.34% year-on-year.
Soap and detergents accounted for the largest market share in the
fragrances industry and the cosmetics industry flourished due to the
promotion of the new business models including beauty makeup, new
retail and social e-commerce.
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Overview of the condiment industry

Condiments are the market’s rigid demand and its downstream
customers are mainly catering enterprises. According to the National
Bureau of Statistics, in 2018, the market size of catering revenue
exceeded RMB4 trillion for the first time, representing an increase
of 9.5% vyear-on-year. In particular, the turnover of fast food and
specialty catering enterprises increased rapidly. The turnover of fast
food service enterprises increased by 10.4% over the last year, and
the catering distribution and take-out delivery services increased by
18.8%. The steady development of the catering industry has driven
the demand for condiments. In addition, the condiment industry
has strong anti-cyclical and anti-inflation characteristics. Even in the
economic downturn, the condiment market can still maintain positive
development. Besides, the leading condiment enterprises rely on their
own strengths and brand awareness to enhance their upstream and
downstream bargaining power and pricing power, optimise product
mix and reduce production costs, and to improve profits to further
become larger and stronger. Small and medium-sized condiment
enterprises have to further develop and deepen their sales channels
to expand their sources of income. The condiment industry tends to
be further integrated and the giants in the industry will be in a more
favorable role.

RESULTS

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Group's sales
revenue from continuing operations reached approximately RMB3,059
million; the gross profit margin was approximately 63.7%; operating
profit margin was approximately 42.1%; the profit attributable to
the equity holders of the Company amounted to approximately
RMB1,018 million; and the basic earnings per share was RMB32.75
cents.

Special note: Change of financial year end date

The Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are statutorily
required to prepare their accounts with the financial year end date of
31 December. On 11 December 2018, the Board resolved to change
the financial year end date of the Company from 31 March to 31
December to align the Company’s financial year end date with that
of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries and to facilitate the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. This is the first
financial year after the change, and the financial statements presented
for current financial reporting period covered the nine-month period
from 1 April to 31 December 2018 (“the Current Reporting Period”)
with the comparative figures covered the twelve-month period from 1
April 2017 to 31 March 2018 (“the Financial Year 2017/18").
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The new financial years subsequent to the change would cover the
full year from 1 January to 31 December of the same year. To provide
a clear picture of the Group’s operating results during the new
financial year, the Group also presents the unaudited financial results
for the twelve-month period from 1 January to 31 December 2018
("the Period Under Review") and the twelve-month period from 1
January to 31 December 2017 (“the Corresponding Period Last Year”)
on a voluntary basis for year-on-year comparison.

The unaudited financial results for the Period Under Review and the
Corresponding Period Last Year are summarized below:

EEENRE DN

BE% FUBRFENEZFBEREA1A1BE
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Unaudited
For the twelve months
period ended 31 December

RECE
BE+=-A=+—BL+=@EA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥Tx ARBTT
Continuing operations EEEEE
Revenue EER 3,981,536 3,453,461
Gross profit EM 2,590,939 2,293,186
Gross profit ratio EFIE 65.1% 66.4%
Other income and other gains — net H AU A K B A zs — 558 180,464 170,294
Selling and marketing expenses HERMGHEERS (264,169) (170,820)
Administrative expenses THEH (762,284) (720,619)
Operating profit EiBE AN 1,744,950 1,572,041
Finance income — net ﬁﬁ%Ll&U\—i%’r%ﬁ 112,892 99,954
Share of net profit of associates and FEAG B A B R SR S
a jointly controlled entity = %ZE”TU 14,272 16,285
Profit before income tax BRB AT 2 R 1,872,114 1,688,280
Income tax expenses FriS i (430,529) (340,814)
Profit from continuing operations for the period ﬁ%%%%ﬂ‘&2$ﬁﬁ i & A 1,441,585 1,347,466
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operation for 1A ¥R 2 RERTE
the period Eﬁl |,/ (&) 113,911 (104,977)
Profit for the period HiR & A 1,555,496 1,242,489
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Unaudited Unaudited
Segment Sales Segment Results
REE REE
DEHE WA DEERE

For the twelve months
ended 31 December

For the twelve months
ended 31 December

BE+tZ-A=+—-H BZ+-A=+-H
IE+=@A IE+=@A
2018 2017 2018 2017
“BE-NE T+ ZBE-NE —EZ—+F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT AR®EFTRT ARETH
Continuing operations: FEREEK:
Flavours & Fragrances B 2,149,369 2,186,008 1,229,883 1,252,778
Tobacco Raw Materials 1A R R 954,528 722,898 455,784 308,274
Aroma Raw Materials HRE 706,469 546,031 117,649 109,108
Condiments AR 170,979 - 23,451 -
Others Hit 191 (1,476) (81,817) (98,119)
3,981,536 3,453,461 1,744,950 1,572,041
Discontinued operation: RIEREEK:
Innovative Tobacco Products MAEER G 169,232 234,779 138,048 (89,489)
Total @t 4,150,768 3,688,240 1,882,998 1,482,552
BUSINESS REVIEW XKERE
Review of flavours and fragrances business ERREKERE

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the flavours and
fragrance business recorded a sales revenue of approximately
RMB1,664 million and an operating profit of approximately RMB953
million, operating profit margin of the business segment was
approximately 57%. For the twelve months ended 31 December
2018, the flavours and fragrance business recorded a revenue of
approximately RMB2,149 million, representing a slight decrease of
approximately 1.7% as compared with the Corresponding Period Last
Year; the operating profit of the segment amounted to RMB1,230
million, representing a slight decrease of approximately 1.8% as
compared with the Corresponding Period Last Year. Operating profit
margin reached approximately 57.2%, remaining almost the same as
compared with the Corresponding Period Last Year. During the Period
Under Review, the stability in the operating profit was mainly due to
the optimization of product mix, upgrade of marketing strategies, and
further efforts to develop new markets.
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(1)

2

Flavours

In 2018, in a stable tobacco industry environment, the Group
continued to focus on customers and better improve the
stability and taste of the Company’s tobacco flavours for
customers through R&D in flavouring technology to consolidate
customers’ trust for the Group's products. During the Period
Under Review, the Group following the trend, vigorously
developed non-combustible flavour products to meet the rising
market demand for non-combustible cigarettes. In terms of
food flavours, the Group continued to maintain relationships
with domestic well-known food and beverage customers, and
relied on understanding of the differences in regional tastes in
the Chinese market to provide customers with customised and
feasible solutions to help their products have the right flavours.
In response to the “Big Health” trend, Huabao Kongque of
the Group launched sweet and scorch-type extracts using
raw materials including highland barley to meet consumers’
demand for natural and healthy products. In addition, Jiangxi
Huabao Kongque of the Group has obtained a food production
license, indicating that Jiangxi Huabao Kongque is qualified for
production.

Fragrances

Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology Co., Ltd. has always
been in the leading position in the fields of incenses and
household disinfection and insecticide in the fragrance niche
market of the PRC. As affected by the increasing environmental
governance efforts in the country, the sales revenue of the
sanitary fragrance market fell to some extent as compared
to the Corresponding Period Last Year. Although traditional
mosquito-repellent incense has been gradually replaced by
clean and convenient liquid mosquito-repellent incense in
recent years, the Group’s household disinfection and insecticide
fragrance business recorded a double-digit increase in revenue
as compared with the Corresponding Period Last Year due
to the upgrading of products, technical enhancement and
optimisation of services. The revenue of personal care fragrance
business recorded a single-digit increase as compared with the
Corresponding Period Last Year as a result of the rising demand
for shampoo and dye products.
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In 2018, Huabao Flavours completed its initial public offering, raising
proceeds of approximately RMB2,377 million and successfully listed
on the ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock Exchange. For the twelve months
ended 31 December 2018, a total of approximately RMB731.56
million of the proceeds was used for the investment projects as
in the Company’s circular dated 23 March 2017. Among them,
approximately RMB72.88 million of the proceeds was used in the
manufacturing base of Huabao Yingtan's Flavours and Ingredients,
representing an investment progress of approximately 7.04%;
approximately RMB9.71 million was used in the Lhasa Pure Land
Healthy Food Project, representing an investment progress of
approximately 2.06%; approximately RMB169,100 was used in the
R&D of Huabao H&K’s Flavours and Food Technology Project, an
investment progress of approximately 0.11%. Besides, approximately
RMB648.80 million was used to replenish the working capital of
Huabao Flavours. As of 31 December 2018, the balance of the
unused proceeds (including cumulated interest income received) was
approximately RMB1,618 million.

The construction progress of the manufacturing base of Huabao
Yingtan's Flavours and Ingredients fell short of expectation due to
the relatively heavy rain fall in Yingtan, Jiangxi. The first phase of
the project was originally scheduled to be completed in July 2018,
but was actually completed in January 2019, resulting in the delay
of the second phase of the project. The progress of the Lhasa Pure
Land Healthy Food Project was slow as the plateau climate and short
construction time in the Lhasa area. Due to the need to transform the
original factory of Huabao Kongque into the R&D technology center
of flavours and food, the R&D of Huabao H&K's Flavours and Food
Technology Project ceased the original flavours production business
and the production was handed over to Jiangxi Huabao Kongque
for entrusted production. The progress of the manufacturing base of
Huabao Yingtan's Flavours and Ingredients fell short of expectation, as
a result of which the relevant production transition between Huabao
Kongque and Jiangxi Huabao Kongque barely took place in February
2019 and the commencement of the project was postponed.

Huabao Flavours will continue to apply the proceeds to promote the
implementation of investment projects and make timely adjustments
according to the progress of the projects.
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Review of tobacco raw materials business

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the tobacco raw
materials business recorded a sales revenue of approximately RMB715
million and an operating profit of RMB325 million, operating profit
margin of the segment was approximately 45.5%. For the twelve
months ended 31 December 2018, the tobacco raw materials
business recorded a sales revenue of approximately RMB955 million,
representing an increase of approximately 32.0% as compared with
the Corresponding Period Last Year; the operating profit of the
segment amounted to RMB456 million, representing an increase
of 47.9% as compared with the Corresponding Period Last Year.
Operating profit margin reached approximately 47.7%, representing
an increase of 5.1 percentage points as compared with 42.6% of the
corresponding period last year. During the Period Under Review, the
increase in the operating profit was mainly due to the rapid increase in
the sales of tobacco new materials.

(1) RTL

In the past few years, as the STMA proactively implemented
strict supervision and management of tobacco leaf planting area
and purchase volume, the RTL inventory was improved. As a
result, the Group’s RTL inventory decreased as compared with
the Corresponding Period Last Year. In order to further reduce
the RTL inventory, Guangdong Jinye proactively promoted the
implementation of the “Going Out” strategy. During the Period
Under Review, Guangdong Jinye signed sales agreements with
12 overseas enterprises including 10 user enterprises and two
distribution enterprises, which are located in countries and
regions including Cambodia, Vietnam, Indonesia and Hong
Kong. The sales volume and amount of the Group’s RTL in
these countries and regions have increased by several times as
compared with the Corresponding Period Last Year, providing
momentum for the improvement of RTL business development
of the Group.

In addition, in view of the success of HNB tobacco products in
overseas markets including the United States and Japan, the
State Tobacco Monopoly Administration has paid increasing
attention to the development of HNB products. At present,
seven mainland domestic tobacco companies have successively
introduced and sold HNB products overseas. The demand
for HNB products will indirectly step up the demand for
the corresponding RTL products. As one of the leading RTL
manufacturers in the industry, the Group kept a close eye on
customer demand and market and regulatory changes, and
deployed relevant R&D and production capabilities during the
Period Under Review.
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Tobacco new materials

Since 2013, the sales volume of tobacco new materials
represented by flavour capsule in the market has been
multiplying year by year, and flavour capsule has been favoured
by consumers due to its interestingness and unique taste.
By virtue of the R&D strength and rich experience in the
field of taste, the Group has captured approximately one-
third market share of flavour capsule. Since end consumers’
demand for and preference of flavour capsule products
determine the development of the entire industry, the Group
has further optimised market survey and conducted research
and questionnaire survey on consumers’ consumption of
flavour capsule products to understand the tastes favoured
by consumers and develop targeted products. In addition,
the Group has also improved the adaptability of its products
through the upgrading of technology, enhanced the quality
of its products through technological advancement, and
strengthened its cooperative relationship with customers, to
consolidate and expand its market share in the tobacco new
materials market.

At the same time, due to the strong market demand, more
and more competitors entered into the flavour capsule market,
which, together with the cost reduction of tobacco enterprises
and fierce competition in the flavour capsule industry, posed
further pressure over the sales price of flavour capsule.
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Review of aroma raw materials business

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the aroma raw
materials business recorded a sales revenue of approximately
RMB509 million and an operating profit of RMB57.41 million,
operating profit margin of the segment was approximately 11.3%.
For the twelve months ended 31 December 2018, the aroma raw
materials business recorded a sales revenue of approximately RMB706
million, representing an increase of 29.4% as compared with the
Corresponding Period Last Year; the operating profit of the segment
amounted to approximately RMB118 million, representing an increase
of approximately 7.8% as compared with the Corresponding Period
Last Year. Segment operating profit margin reached approximately
16.7%, representing a decrease of approximately 3.3 percentage
points as compared with the Corresponding Period Last Year. During
the Period Under Review, the decrease in the operating profit margin
was mainly due to the increase of the low gross profit margin
products in the sales proportion as compared with the Corresponding
Period Last Year, which brought down the overall gross profit margin
of the segment.

Looking back at 2018, the global aroma raw materials industry
maintained overall stable growth, and the aroma raw materials
are increasingly used in the manufacturing of food, perfume,
deodorant and toiletries. With the enhancement of living standards
and health awareness, the market demand for natural aroma raw
materials has gradually increased. As the Chinese government
promotes environmental protection, small and medium-sized aroma
raw materials enterprises have stopped production or conducted
rectification due to failure to meet environmental protection
requirements, which, however, also provides opportunities for the
technologically advanced and affluent aroma raw materials enterprises
to integrate small and medium-sized enterprises.

As affected by the chemical accidents of certain aroma raw
materials enterprises in the industry, the sales price of ethyl maltol
of Guangdong Zhaoging remained at a relatively high level. With
extensive production experience in the field of ethyl maltol and deep
insight into the domestic market, the Group flexibly adjusted product
prices to maintain its market share.

Yancheng Chunzhu is one of the important sources of income of
aroma raw materials business, and its ester aroma materials are in
a leading position in China. In addition to continued reinforcement
of its advantages in the field of natural and synthetic ester products,
Yancheng Chunzhu also proactively consolidated its technology and
strength in the fields of acid, aldehyde and alcohol products. During
the Period Under Review, Yancheng Chunzhu launched improved
products such as ethyl butyrate and 2-methylbutyric acid to meet the
changing needs of the market.
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Yongzhou Shanxiang is a leading enterprise in the production and
manufacturing of litsea cubeba oil and citral. In August 2018,
Yongzhou Shanxiang signed a strategic cooperation agreement
with Givaudan to strengthen the alliance and further introduce the
products of Yongzhou Shanxiang into the international market.
In addition, as litsea cubeba oil and citral products are subject to
seasonal influence, the Group continued to promote the R&D and
production of other natural products including benzaldehyde and
cinnamon oil during the Period Under Review, to alleviate market
demand fluctuations and the influence of single product on the
business.

Jiangxi Xianghai, which was acquired by the Group in September
2017, has completed the construction of the phase | base and has
already completed trial production of a small amount of furanone
products. Due to the complexity and innovativeness of technology,
Jiangxi Xianghai needs more time to optimise the production
technology and process to further reduce production costs and
enhance the competitiveness of products’ sales prices. The Group
expects that Jiangxi Xianghai is able to achieve full production by June
this year. Phase Il of Jiangxi Xianghai is under planning and the main
products are those that can be used in the pharmaceutical industry
including sulfurol and caproic acid.
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Jiangxi Xianghai, the aroma raw materials manufacturing base of the Group,
is expected to begin mass production before June 2019.
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Review of the condiment business

During the period from 4 September 2018, the date on which
the Group completed the acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff, to
31 December 2018, the condiment business recorded a sales
revenue of RMB171 million and operating profit of approximately
RMB23.45 million, respectively. Operating profit margin amounted to
approximately 13.7%. The core products of Jiahao Foodstuff include
chicken bouillon, wasabi paste, concentrated fruit juice and soy sauce.
During the Period Under Review, Jiahao Foodstuff's products remained
stable development.

On 27 November 2018, Guangdong lJiahao and Weizhijia entered
into an entrusted management agreement. Weizhijia specialises in the
marketing and promotion of fast-moving consumer goods in China
and is mainly engaged in the sales and promotion of B2B condiments.
Its management team has profound experience and interpersonal
network in the catering industry in the PRC. Weizhijia will provide
professional service knowledge to Guangdong Jiahao, to enhance
its brand awareness in the market and assist Guangdong lJiahao to
expand its market share and gradually reach sales targets.
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The production line of Jiahao's core products chicken bouillon.

FEROEmBTEER

23




24

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 2k AR 2= 2018 Annual Report 43§

Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of R&D

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s R&D
expenses were to approximately RMB198 million. R&D expense
accounted for approximately 6.5% of the Group's sales revenue, such
ratio decreased by approximately 1.1 percentage points as compared
to the 7.6% for the Financial Year 2017/18.

In terms of tobacco flavours, the Group carried out 32 scientific
research projects, applied for 13 patents, and published 11 articles in
domestic authoritative journals in 2018. The research scope covered
all aspects from raw material extraction methods in the earlier stage
to product quality monitoring in the later stage throughout the
production process. The research contents included the development
and research of important aroma raw materials for tobacco, the
technology for supercritical extraction of core raw materials for
tobacco flavours and molecular distillation separation technology, the
preparation technology of self-emulsifying water-soluble flavour and
fragrance products and application research thereon, and the research
on quality tracking and control of commercial cigarettes. Meanwhile,
Yingtan Huabao Flavors & Fragrances Co., Ltd. and Yunnan Tianhong,
both being wholly-owned subsidiaries of Huabao Flavours, obtained
high-tech enterprise qualification in 2018.

In terms of food flavours, Guangzhou Huabao Food Co., Ltd. has
made breakthroughs in the R&D of capsicum oleoresin, and obtained
the authorised invention patents for “a preparation method of water-
soluble capsicum oleoresin” and “a preparation method of water-
soluble capsicum oleoresin of high pungency degree” in 2018.
While ensuring products production and delivery, Shanghai Huabao
Kongque has continuously improved its production equipment
and made breakthroughs in terms of spray drying, raw material
emulsification and agitation, and was granted four innovative utility
patents in 2018.

In terms of fragrances, Xiamen Amber has improved and innovated
its production equipment while focusing on product R&D. In 2018,
Xiamen Amber applied for one invention patent and 10 innovative
utility patents and was granted a number of innovative utility patents
for new R&D equipment including flavours and fragrances blending
and agitation system, fragrance assessment case and flavoring
platform. Xiamen Amber also obtained the high-tech enterprise
qualification in 2018.
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In terms of RTL, the “special paper-making RTL” and “flavour
auxiliaries” of Guangdong Jinye were identified as high-tech
products. The identification of high-tech products is the recognition
of Guangdong Jinye’s R&D strength in product and technical capacity.
The Research on Innovative Pre-treatment Technology of Paper-
making Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves and Tobacco Raw Materials
and Development of Supporting Equipment ( GE#LABEEEBEE
RATFERIE AT T MR B EREFR ) ), a major science and
technology project of STMA led by Guangdong lJinye, successfully
passed the project conclusion acceptance. According to the
acceptance opinions, through this project, the Group has broadened
the scope of use of the RTL raw materials, improved the quality of RTL
and tobacco raw materials and product quality control, and effectively
promoted the technological progress and development of the RTL
industry.

In terms of tobacco new materials, the Group conducted market-
oriented R&D and was authorised a total of eight patents, including
one patent for invention applied for by the Group independently,
i.e. “a slow-release core line for alcohol-flavoured cigarettes and its
preparation and application”, one patent for invention which was
transferred to the Group from another patentee and six innovative
utility patents which were applied for by the Group independently.

In terms of aroma raw materials, Guangdong Zhaoging was
authorised a patent for invention, i.e. “a synthesis process of ethyl
maltol” in May 2018 and publicised as a proposed national high-tech
enterprise in November. Yancheng Chunzhu was authorised a patent
for "a method for preparing phenylacetaldehyde”.

In terms of condiments, Jiahao was authorised the patent for
invention of “a method of using the taste system and electronic
nose to jointly evaluate the flavour level of wasabi paste”. During
the Period Under Review, Jiahao and Jiangnan University jointly filed
seven patents for invention, which further strengthened their R&D
capabilities in respect of core products including chicken bouillon and
wasabi paste.

Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 3,473 employees
in the PRC, Hong Kong, Germany, Botswana and Korea. For the
nine months ended 31 December 2018, the labour costs (including
pension and mandatory provident fund, etc.) amounted to
approximately RMB374 million.
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In 2018, the strategic acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff further
diversified the Group's business. The human resources department
proactively conveyed the Group's vision, spirit and values to the
employees of Jiahao Foodstuff, enabling them to better understand
the culture of Huabao and quickly integrate into Huabao. With the
joint support of the Group and the management of Jiahao Foodstuff,
Jiahao Foodstuff’s colleagues are vigorously implementing the
business strategy for the new year, exerting efforts to achieve the set
performance goals and contributing their strength to Huabao.

During the period under review, the Group strengthened its talent
recruitment team to enhance the ability and efficiency in respect
of introduction of talents. The Group proactively organised campus
recruitment fairs to introduce young elites at home and abroad to
maintain the vitality of the Group’s human resources. For employees
with outstanding performance, development potential and leadership,
the Group provides them with the opportunity to exert their potential
and their strengths and encourage them to work harder and more
efficiently. Based on the characteristics of each business segment,
the Group implements the incentive principle of “results-oriented
and performance-based incentives” to enhance the fairness and
effectiveness of the incentive mechanism. In addition, the Group
attaches great importance to the physical and psychological health of
its employees, and has built activity centers and badminton courts for
its employees to keep their employees healthy and energetic and to
cope with every day’s work with plenty of energy.

While nurturing employees and developing businesses, the Group
keeps it in mind to give back to the society. During the period under
review, the Group carried out poverty alleviation activities for primary
school students in poverty-stricken areas in Tibet, and continued to
pay attention to and follow up the development of these pupils. The
government in Tibet has highly praised the charity of the Group in
fulfilling its social responsibilities.
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Outlook

In 2019, the uncertainties with the global and Chinese economies
will further increase along with further downward pressure on the
economy. Under the extremely challenging external environment, the
Group will continue to consolidate its presence in the taste-based
field and consistently implements the “concentric diversification
strategy” to improve the integration of upstream and downstream
industry chain, enabling healthy, sustainable and stable development
of each segment. In terms of flavours and fragrances, the Group will
continue to maintain a stable cooperative relationship with existing
customers and provide customers with innovative and forward-looking
solutions; In terms of tobacco new materials, the Group will closely
monitor the changes in market prices, flexibly adjust product prices
and mix, and continue to promote the implementation of the “Going
Out” strategy; in terms of aroma raw materials, the Group will speed
up the construction of Jiangxi Xianghai production base and the
enhancement of production technique, and launch new products; in
terms of condiments, the Group will exert efforts in three aspects, i.e.
enhancement in the product mix, sales channel and human resources,
striving to realise the sales targets.

With clear development goals and strategies, the Group is confident
in consolidating its position in the taste-based field and creating more
value for shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Analysis of results for the nine months period ended 31
December 2018

Sales revenue

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Group's sales
revenue from continuing operations amounted to RMB3,058,707,000,
of which sales revenue from flavours and fragrances reached
RMB1,664,395,000, accounting for approximately 54.4% of total
sales revenue; sales revenue from tobacco raw materials reached
RMB714,662,000, accounting for approximately 23.4% of total
sales revenue; sales revenue from aroma raw materials reached
RMB508,659,000, accounting for approximately 16.6% of total
sales revenue; sales revenue from condiment acquired in the
Current Reporting Period reached RMB170,979,000, accounting for
approximately 5.6% of total sales revenue.

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2018, the Group's sales
revenue from continuing operations amounted to RMB3,981,536,000,
representing an increase of approximately 15.3% as compared with
RMB3,453,461,000 for the twelve months ended 31 December 2017.
The increase in the sales revenue is mainly attributable to the increase
of sales revenue of tobacco new material under tobacco raw materials
segment and aroma raw material as compared to the Corresponding
Period Last Year, and the consolidation of sales revenue of Jiahao
Foodstuff acquired in the Current Reporting Period.

Cost of goods sold

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Group's
cost of goods sold for continuing operations amounted to
RMB1,108,902,000. For the year ended 31 March 2018, the
group’s cost of goods sold from continuing operations amounted to
RMB1,164,189,000 (restated).

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Group's gross
profit from continuing operations amounted to RMB1,949,805,000
with gross profit margin of 63.7%.

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2018, the gross
profit of the Group from continuing operations amounted to
RMB2,590,939,000, representing an increase of approximately
13.0% as compared with RMB2,293,185,000 for the Corresponding
Period Last Year. Gross profit margin for the twelve months ended
31 December 2018 was 65.1%, representing a slight decrease
of approximately 1.3 percentage points from 66.4% of the
Corresponding Period Last Year. The decrease in gross profit margin
was mainly because sales revenue of products with relatively lower
gross profit margin accounted for a higher proportion than that in the
Corresponding Period Last Year.
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Other income and other gains — net

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, other income and
other gains (net) of the Group from continuing operations was
RMB122,323,000 (year ended 31 March 2018: RMB195,388,000
(restated)).

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group mainly comprised of
travelling expenses, transportation costs, advertising and promotion
expenses, salaries and office expenses. For the nine months ended 31
December 2018, the selling and marketing expenses from continuing
operations of the Group were RMB208,417,000 (year end 31 March
2018: RMB186,623,000 (restated)), with the ratio of selling and
marketing expenses to total sales revenue amounted to approximately
6.8%, representing an increase of 1.7 percentage points as compared
with 5.1% (restated) for the year ended 31 March 2018. The increase
of such ratio was mainly attributable to the selling and marketing
expenses to sales ratio of condiment business acquired during
the Current Reporting Period was higher than that for the other
businesses of the Group.

Administrative expenses

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Group's
administrative expenses from continuing operations amounted to
RMB574,345,000 (year ended 31 March 2018: RMB721,259,000
(restated)), with the ratio of administrative expenses to total sales
revenue amounted to approximately 18.8%, representing a slight
decrease of 1.1 percentage points as compared with 19.9% (restated)
for the year ended 31 March 2018. The decrease of such ratio was
mainly because the provision for impairment of goodwill for fragrance
business and impairment of other receivables were made for the year
ended 31 March 2018 which caused higher administrative expenses, it
was partly offset by the amortization expenses of intangible assets and
the professional fees related to the acquisition of condiment business
during the Current Reporting Period.

Operating profit

Operating profit from continuing operations of the Group for the
nine months ended 31 December 2018 was RMB1,287,750,000 (year
ended 31 March 2018: RMB1,732,144,000 (restated)).

Operating profit from continuing operations of the Group for the
twelve months ended 31 December 2018 was RMB1,744,950,000,
representing an increase of approximately 11.0% as compared with
RMB1,572,041,000 for the Corresponding Period Last Year, mainly
due to the business growth of tobacco new materials under the
tobacco raw materials business.
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Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses from continuing operations of the Group for the
nine months ended 31 December 2018 was RMB320,805,000 (year
ended 31 March 2018: RMB349,687,000 (restated)). Income tax rate
for the Current Reporting Period was approximately 23.3%, which
was increased by approximately 4.5 percentage points as compared
with 18.8% (restated) for the year ended 31 March 2018. It was
mainly due to the increase in withholding income tax for the Current
Reporting Period.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company from
continuing and discontinued operations was RMB1,017,959,000
for the nine months ended 31 December 2018, and it was
RMB1,263,797,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 December 2018, the net current asset value of the Group
was RMB7,734,866,000 (31 March 2018: RMB8,961,234,000).
The Group generates its working capital mainly through its
operating activities to maintain a sound financial position. As at 31
December 2018, the Group’s cash and bank balances amounted
to RMB7,142,391,000 (31 March 2018: RMB7,712,606,000), over
90% of which was held in RMB. In addition, the Group hold wealth
management products of RMB515,177,000 (31 March 2018:
RMB102,000,000) which was classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss during the Current Reporting Period.

Bank borrowings and debt ratio

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had bank borrowings of
RMB3,690,139,000 (31 March 2018: RMB210,000,000), of which
secured loan amounted to RMB2,888,092,000 (31 March 2018:
nil) was due within five years, and the unsecured loans amounted
to RMB802,047,000 (31 March 2018: RMB210,000,000) were due
within one to two years. For the nine months ended 31 December
2018, the average annual interest rate of the secured loan was
5.70%, and the average annual interest rate of the unsecured loans
was 3.72% (31 March 2018: 4.25%). As at 31 December 2018, the
Group's gearing ratio (total borrowings, include current and non-
current borrowings, divided by total equity (excludes non-controlling
interests)) was 31.4%, which was increased from 1.9% as of 31
March 2018. It was mainly attributable to the new secured loan of
approximately RMB2.888 billion used to finance the acquisition of
Jiahao Foodstuff during the Current Reporting Period.
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Investing activities

The Group's investing activities included the purchase of property,
plant and equipment, financial assets investment and merger and
acquisition activities related to the strategical development strategies.
For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the net cash used in
investing activities amounted to RMB5,375,678,000, mainly used for
the acquisition of subsidiaries. For the year ended 31 March 2018, the
net cash used in investing activities amounted to RMB376,763,000.

Financing activities

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the net cash
generated from financing activities amounted to RMB2,940,612,000,
mainly comprised of addition of bank loans of RMB3,580,389,000,
while the Company paid cash dividends of RMB405,353,000 to
shareholders during the Current Reporting Period. For the year ended
31 March 2018, the net cash generated from financing activities
amounted to RMB1,412,105,000.

Trade receivables turnover period

Trade receivable turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade receivables as at the beginning and end
of a relevant period divided by the total sales revenue for the
corresponding period and multiplied by 270 days (year ended 31
March 2018: 360 days). The Group generally offers its customers a
credit period of approximately 0-180 days, depending on the business
volume of, and the length of business relationship with the customers.
For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s average
trade receivables turnover period was 98 days, decreased by 6
days as compared with 104 days (adjusted by excluding figures of
discontinued operation) for the year ended 31 March 2018. It was
mainly attributable to the very low balance of trade receivables of
condiment business acquired during the Current Reporting Period
which cause the Group's average figures decreased.

Trade payables turnover period

Trade payable turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade payables as at the beginning and at the
end of a relevant period divided by the cost of goods sold for the
corresponding period and multiplied by 270 days (year ended 31
March 2018: 360 days). Credit periods granted by suppliers to the
Group ranged from 0-180 days. For the nine months ended 31
December 2018, the Group's average trade payables turnover period
was 78 days, representing a decrease of 11 days as compared with 89
days (adjusted by excluding figures of discontinued operation) for the
year ended 31 March 2018. It was mainly attributable to the shorter
trade payables turnover period of condiment business acquired during
the Current Reporting Period which caused the Group’s average
figures decreased.
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Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s inventory balance amounted
to RMB896,243,000 (31 March 2018: RMB766,005,000). For the
nine months ended 31 December 2018, the inventory turnover period
(calculated on the basis of the average amount of inventory balances
as at the beginning and end of a relevant period divided by the total
cost of goods sold for the corresponding period and multiplied by 270
days (year ended 31 March 2018: 360 days)) was 199 days, decreased
by 17 days as compared with 216 days (adjusted by excluding figures
of discontinued operation) for the year ended 31 March 2018. It was
mainly attributable to the effective implementation of the Group’s
destocking policy and the effect of condiment business acquired
during the Current Reporting Period.

Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland China
and the majority of the sales revenue is denominated in RMB, with
the exception of only a certain amount of imported raw materials
and equipment which are denominated in foreign currency such as
USD or EUR. The Group’s bank deposits are mainly denominated in
HKD, USD and RMB. Management concurs the views of the People’s
Bank of China on the RMB exchange rate, that is, the RMB exchange
rate has the capability to continuously remain basically stable within a
reasonable range of equilibrium.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's equity interest in Jiahao
Foodstuff Limited and Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd, and its
land and buildings in Zhongshan China were used as collateral for a
bank loan of approximately RMB2.888 billion.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of the purchases of property, plant, equipment, financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income and investment
in an associate, contracted for but not provided in the financial
statements amounting to approximately RMB363,516,000 (31 March
2018: RMB259,877,000), which was mainly investment in domestic
and overseas funds amounted to approximately RMB127,016,000.

Contingent liabilities

Based on the information available to the Board, the Group had no
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2018.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS #1{T& =

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 49, the Chairlady of the Board, CEO, Executive Director and
the Chairlady of Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Chu has been a member
of the Board since March 2004. Ms. Chu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Executive
Director of the Company). Ms. Chu is also a director of the Company's principal
subsidiaries marked with “C1” as set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements. Ms. Chu has extensive experience in formulating strategies and making
executive decisions on business operation, investments and market development. She
was a member of the Fourth and Fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Committee (Shenzhen, Guangdong province). Ms. Chu, through the corporations
controlled by her, is the beneficial owner of shares of the Company as set out in page 74
headed under Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures.

AMBEZL 495 ARREFEER BRVUTE ATESFIEXLZES
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RETHZEERR REEATEARBAHEASERERE RIIMEMRE
TERE8ERB8 ARt BEIEEFNQRR BEaBBARBRN  FI1BE
BNFTAAFRERESENRMD  HERD MMEF 2 -

Mr. XIA Liqun, aged 52, an Executive Director, Vice Chairman and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Xia has been a member of the Board
since September 2006. Mr. Xia is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “X1"” and the legal representative of those companies marked with “X2"
as set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Xia holds a Bachelor’s
degree in economics and is a certified accountant, certified tax specialist and certified
appraiser in China. Mr. Xia has over 20 years of financial and corporate management
experience. He previously worked in domestic accounting firms in China and was
a senior management member of a foreign invested enterprise in China. Mr. Xia is
currently the honorary chairman of the Food Additives and Ingredients Association in
Shanghai City.

ERMRELE 5250 ARAHTTES BIERAFTHEESCRE BT RF
NABRHEEZTEXNE -BEXRENERHRNGA Y HBKRMIE36A D AIA X1
BIX2I R AR T EMBRARMNEZTREZERRA - EXERBLERE
TR LPEEM A EMREEEEMFEMER BEREHEER T
FUBRECEREETELR -REEBRNPEANMSAMEHANEETEZ
IBRECEXSEERERU EXERETLETRANNBMEMITERS
2EBER-

33



34

Huabao International Holdings Limited =¥ BIFX {2k AR A= 2018 Annual Report 43§

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EE R SR EEEEE

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 56, an Executive Director, Vice President and the Company
Secretary of the Company. Mr. Poon has been a member of the Board since March 2004.
Mr. Poon was awarded the postgraduate diploma in laws by the University of London.
He holds a Bachelor’'s degree in laws, a Bachelor's degree in business studies and a
Master’s degree in international accounting. He is a fellow of CPA Australia, The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and a member of its Technical Consultation Panel, China Focus Group and
Audit Committee and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute. Mr. Poon has years of experience in compliance, corporate finance and listed
companies management.
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Mr. XIONG Qing, aged 41, an Executive Director, CFO and Vice President of the
Company, joined the Group since May 2007. Mr. Xiong is also a director of the
Company's principal subsidiaries marked with “XQ1" and the legal representative of
those companies marked with “XQ2" as set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Xiong majored in international accounting from Tsinghua University
School of Economics and Management, and graduated with a Bachelor’'s degree in
economics. Mr. Xiong is also an Executive Master of Business Administration degree
holder of European Institute of Business Administration (INSEAD in France). Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Xiong worked in several international investment banks for years.
He has extensive experiences with Chinese enterprises and international capital market.
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Mr. LAM Ka Yu, aged 26, an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lam has been a
member of the Board since November 2013. Mr. Lam is the son of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
(the Chairlady of the Board, CEO, Executive Director and Controlling Shareholder of the
Company). Mr. Lam is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked
with “L1"” and the legal representative of those companies marked with “L2" as set out
in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Lam educated in the United
Kingdom and the United States of America. For corporate management experiences,
Mr. Lam is currently a managing director and legal representative of a private company,
which is engaged in e-commerce business in China. He previously served as a director
and the general manager of a company which is engaged in advertising media business
in China and he was a director of a non-profit foundation in China.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS B EHITES

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 61, an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee has been a member of the
Board since May 2006. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience in
commercial accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Lee has principally engaged in
corporate finance and regulatory aspects in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He was
an assistant vice president of the Listing Division of the Stock Exchange, and his duties
included regulating and monitoring the Hong Kong listed companies in relation to their
compliance with the Listing Rules and processing new listing applications. He also served
as a senior consultant of an investment bank for more than 5 years.
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Ms. MA Yunyan, aged 57, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Ms.
Ma has been a member of the Board since September 2004. Ms. Ma graduated from
the Law School of Peking University in 1984 and obtained qualification as a lawyer
in China in 1986. She is the senior Partner of Shu Jin Law Firm. Ms. Ma is currently
an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Techand Ecology & Environment
Co., Limited and Jiangsu Nata Opto-Electronic Material Company Limited (both of the
companies are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange). She was a member of the
Fourth, Eighth and Ninth Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange. From August
2009 to August 2011, she was a member of the Growth Enterprises Board Public
Offering Review Committee of China Securities Regulatory Committee. She has been
dedicated to teaching and doing research in the Law School in relation to international
commerce and investment aspects for 10 years. She has years of experience in the legal
field in relation to the capital markets, including investment, merger and acquisition,
issuance of securities, etc., and has lead-managed the issuance of shares and convertible
bonds and major restructuring of numerous companies listed in PRC and Hong Kong.
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Dr. DING Ningning, aged 71, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of both of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Dr.
Ding has been a member of the Board since August 2013. Dr. Ding graduated from
Tsinghua University with a Bachelor’'s degree in electrical engineering, and graduated
from the Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China in
its first doctorate course in economics. Dr. Ding is currently a researcher of the Social
Development Research Department of the Development Research Center (“DRC") of the
State Council of the PRC, an executive director of the China International Association
for Urban and Rural Development. He has been conducting research at the DRC for
over 30 years since 1982, and he was a director of the Enterprise Economic Research
Department of the DRC from 1993 to 1998 and a director of the Social Development
Research Department of the DRC from 1998 to 2008. Dr. Ding was a member of the
Listed Company Supervisory Committee of China Securities Regulatory Commission.
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Mr. WU Chi Keung, aged 61, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Wu
has been a member of the Board since August 2013. Mr. Wu is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wu has over 30 years
of experience in financial audit, corporate restructuring and merger and acquisitions. He
was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu until he retired in December 2008.
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Ms. YUAN Xiaogin, aged 50, a president of Huabao Flavours, joined the Group since
August 2006. Ms. Yuan is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked
with “YX1" and the legal representative of those companies marked with “YX2" as set
out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Yuan holds an MBA degree
and is a qualified engineer. Before joining the Group, Ms. Yuan served as executive in a
Hong Kong listed state-owned enterprise. She has over 20 years of experience in senior
management position. Ms. Yuan is currently the deputy director of China Association
of Fragrance Flavour and Cosmetic Industries, deputy director of China Association
of Bakery & Confectionery Industry, chairman of the Food Additives and Ingredients
Industry Association in Shanghai City and consultant of the Federation of Industry
and Commerce in Chaoyang District, Shantou City. She was a representative of the
People’s Congress in Shantou City, Guangdong Province and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in Chaoyang
District, Shantou City.
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Mr. CHOY Man Fai, aged 55, a vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined the Group
since August 2006, responsible for marketing and sales of tobacco flavours. Mr.
Choy is also a director of the company’s principal subsidiaries marked “FC1"” and the
legal representative of those companies marked “FC2" as set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. He holds a diploma of applied chemical technology of
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Choy served as a marketing manager in a number
of world renowned flavours and fragrances companies. Mr. Choy has over 20 years of
experience in flavours and fragrances marketing and management.
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Mr. SONG Junhe, aged 50, a director and vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined
the Group since August 2006. Mr. Song is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “SJ1” and the legal representative of those companies marked
with “SJ2" as set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Song
graduated from Anhui University and holds a Bachelor’s degree in analytical chemistry.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Song was a board member of a large domestic chemical
enterprise. He has comprehensive management experience in R&D and production in the
field of chemical industry.

REMELE 505 FERRESTREEH BT F/\ABRNMALER -
RAENMRENREGES VB MRME36AAE [SI1] M S12] FR 2 ARR R T EH
BRARNESREAERRA - RALEEXZNLZHAE BEOMLEEXELE
- RALEEMARAEEA SHE-FKBEARBMCTIARETESTERE A
BEEMLITERMABERLEESGAEERLR-

Mr. ZHANG Ziheng, aged 41, a director of Huabao Flavours and the president of
Tobacco Raw Materials Division of the Group, joined the Group since July 1999. Mr.
Zhang is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “ZH1"
and the legal representative of those companies marked with “ZH2" as set out in Note
36 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Zhang graduated from East China
University of Science and Technology and holds a Bachelor's degree in applied chemistry
(industry of fine chemistry). Mr. Zhang joined the Group after graduation, and he has
served in the production, management and purchasing departments of the Group. He
has extensive experiences in the field of corporate management. Mr. Zhang is currently
a committee member of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in
Shantou City and a vice chairman of the Federation of Industry and Commerce in
Chaoyang District, Shantou City.

RFEEE 4R EFERREEILEEEARMERIEE B —NANNF
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Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 71, the chief flavourist of Huabao Flavours and general
manager of Aromascape Development Centre in Germany, joined the Group since
February 2007. Mr. Davies is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “AD1" as set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
Mr. Davies holds a Higher National Diploma in food science of Grimsby College of
Technology, United Kingdom. Mr. Davies served as a senior flavourist in charge of
creation and applications in a number of world renowned flavours and fragrances
companies and tobacco factory, including BBA, Carreras Rothmans, Dragoco and
Symrise. Mr. Davies has over 35 years of experience in tobacco flavours.

Alan DAVIESSE%, @ 7158 EE B E AR AEE - B Aromascapefff & H1.0 42
KB - B_ZTTLF_ARMAKRER - Daviesst A M H NG A W B wK
Mis36 B [ADT FSE e ARBIEEMB AT ESE - DaviesE £ H EE
Grimsby College of Technology®) R a2 m A BIK SUR » 7 & F 8 % K EBR &1
ZHBRBERQ R MER - £ 3EBBA « Carreras Rothmans * Dragoco & Symrise °
HEETSRAEME I EMBENER Daviest t HEBB=ZTHENER
ERERKES-

Mr. LUO lJing, aged 40, a vice president and chief human resources officer of the
Company. Mr. LUO graduated from the Department of International Politics at Fudan
University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Law, and then obtained a Master’s Degree in
Management from University of Leeds. Mr. LUO also holds a senior human resources
management qualification. Prior to joining the Group, he held the position of chief
human resources officer and some other senior management positions in number
of large group companies, as well as accumulated rich management and consulting
experiences in enterprises human resources planning and organizational strategic
development.

BRALE BFI0R ARABRHENERANERE BLLEEXNEBEREHK
BURRER BXrEEL 20 WRRENLAZEESRT BV -BLELERESR
ANEREEMER EMARAKRENBESTALKERRAETERANERE
EFRAEEBM EEENANBERRIMABEBRERTEZRBTEENEER
FAEEEE

Note: Information contained in this section was up to 31 December 2018
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Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives by which the
management of a company is directed and controlled to maximize
the profitability and long-term value of the firm for shareholders while
taking into account the interest of other legitimate stakeholders (UK
Cadbury Report 1992). The Board recognizes the importance and
benefits of good corporate governance practices and has adopted
certain corporate governance and disclosure practices aiming at a high
level of transparency and accountability. The Company is committed
to continuously improving its corporate governance practices as part
of its own corporate culture.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the
Company had complied with the code provisions in the CG Code and,
where appropriate, adopted the recommended best practice as set
out in the code provisions, except for code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1:

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, Chairlady of the Board and
Executive Director of the Company, took up the position of CEO
starting from 9 April 2013. As the Board meets regularly to consider
matters relating to business operations of the Group, the Board is of
the view that the above arrangement will not impair the balance of
power and authority of the Board and the executive management.
The effectiveness of corporate planning and implementation of
corporate strategies and decisions will generally not be affected.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The INEDs
of the Company were not appointed for a specific term as they are
subject to retirement by rotation no later than the third annual general
meeting of the Company since their last appointment or re-election
and are eligible for re-election in accordance with the Company's
bye-laws. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those set out in the CG Code.

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code but about promoting and
developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The Directors
will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve the current
practices of the Company on the basis of the experience and
regulatory changes to enhance the confidence of shareholders of the
Company, and to safeguard shareholders’ interest for assuring healthy
business developments.
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Changes in Information in respect of Directors

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, no changes
to information required to be disclosed by Directors pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) between 22 November
2018 (being the date of approval of the Company’s 2018/19 interim
report) and 12 March 2019 (being the date of approval of this Annual
report) of the Company.

THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Company has a well-balanced Board. The Board comprises five
Executive Directors and four INEDs. The members of the Board are as
follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO)
Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary)
Mr. XIONG Qing (CFO)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Ms. MA Yunyan

Dr. DING Ningning

Mr. WU Chi Keung

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) between any members of the Board, except
for Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (both are
Executive Directors of the Company). Biographies of the Directors
are set out on pages 33 to 37 of this annual report. The present
Board has experience, expertise, and qualifications in aspects of
production and operation, management, accounting and finance,
legal and regulatory both in Hong Kong and China. Two out of four
INEDs possess recognized professional qualification in accounting.
The INEDs bring independent judgment, professional knowledge and
experience appropriate for the Board’'s deliberations. All Directors
have relevant qualifications in relevant field of expertise and have
exhibited personal and professional ethics and integrity. The diversity
of experiences and backgrounds enables the Board to enhance better
corporate governance and performance standard and to bring in
valuable contributions and objective advices for the development of
the Group's businesses.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Board met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third
of the Board, with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate qualification, or accounting or related financial
management expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules). The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and concluded that
all the INEDs are considered to be independent pursuant to the Listing
Rules.
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Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the Chairlady of the Board (responsible for the
management of Board’s operation and development of the Group's
strategic planning) and Executive Director of the Company. She took
up the position of CEO (responsible for important management and
business decisions making of the Group) since 9 April 2013. Ms.
Chu has extensive experience in business operation and strategic
planning. The Board believes that Ms. Chu, by taking up the roles
of the Chairlady and CEO concurrently, is beneficial to the business
development and management of the Group.

Mr. XIA Ligun as Vice Chairman, is responsible for the daily
operational management of the Group and report to the CEO directly.
With the support of Mr. XIA Liqun as the Vice Chairman, Mr. XIONG
Qing as the Chief Financial Officer, Mr. POON Chiu Kwok as the
Company Secretary, and the Qualified Accountant, the Chairlady
shall ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
board meetings and receive adequate, complete, reliable and timely
information for making decisions. Apart from the above, the Chairlady
is also responsible for the duties as specified in code provisions A.2.4
to A.2.9 of the CG Code.

Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The primary objective of the Board is to maximize the profitability
of the Company and to safeguard and enhance long-term value of
the Company for the shareholders. To this end, the Board assumes
the responsibilities for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic development direction, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. All new board
members have been given information on the general business
background and policy of the Company on joining the Board. All
Directors have been provided with regular trainings by external
experienced lawyers to update and refresh the applicable legal and
other regulatory requirements and enhance the knowledge and skills
required by directors to perform their duties.

The Board, led by the Chairlady, is collectively responsible for
formulating and approving the business strategies of the Company,
setting objectives for management, overseeing its performance and
assessing the effectiveness of management strategies.

The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s operations and conduct meetings
with senior management of the Group at which operational issues
and financial performance are evaluated.
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The bye-laws of the Company set out the responsibilities and
proceedings of the Board. Significant operational policies have to be
discussed and approved by the Board. To enable the Directors to meet
their obligations, an appropriate organizational structure is in place
with clearly defined responsibilities and limits of authority.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors and senior management of the Company in respect of legal
action that may be brought against them in the course of execution of
their duties in good faith.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts scheduled board meetings on a quarterly basis to
discuss strategies and business issues, including financial performance
of the Group. Details of attendance of the Directors at the physical
meetings are set out on page 60 of this annual report.

Notices of board meeting are given to each member of the Board
at least 14 days prior to the meeting, whereby the Director can put
forward his/her proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and the
relevant board papers are then circulated to the Directors at least 3
days before a board meeting is convened to enable them to make
informed decisions at the meeting.

Drafts of the board minutes and board committee meeting minutes
are circulated to all Directors and the relevant board committee
members respectively for their review and comments before
finalization. The final version of such minutes will be kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors
and committee members. If a Director has an interest in a matter
to be considered at a board meeting, the Board will ensure that
an adequate number of independent directors are involved in the
consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant director(s)
having an interest in the matter will abstain from voting.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and relevant
materials and have unrestricted access to advice and services of the
Company Secretary/Legal Department and Compliance Department
of the Company with a view to ensuing that board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Directors are able
to seek independent professional advice as and when required at the
Company's expense. INEDs are encouraged to take an active role in
board meetings and serve on the sub-board committees.

During nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Chairlady has held
a meeting with the INEDs without the presence of Executive Directors.
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Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Although all the Directors were not appointed for a specific term,
every Director shall, in accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company,
retire from office by rotation no later than the third annual general
meeting of the Company since their last appointment or re-election
and are eligible for re-election.

Directors’ Interests and Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding dealing in the securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company has
received their written confirmations that they have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
nine months ended 31 December 2018. Full details of the Directors’
interests in the Shares are set out on page 74 of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of its powers
that it may think fit to a director or member of senior management
of the Company. The Board has formulated specific rules and
policies on such delegation of power to facilitate efficient operation
of the Company and is supported by three committees which are
the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Each of these committees
has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The chairman of the committees will report their
findings and make recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr.
LEE Luk Shiu (the chairman of Remuneration Committee), Ms. MA
Yunyan, Mr. WU Chi Keung, and one Executive Director, Mr. XIA
Liqun.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include making
recommendations for approval by the Board with respect to matters
relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors and senior
management. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
was published on the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk
and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website at www.hkexnews.
hk. In discharging its responsibilities, the Remuneration Committee
has performed the following works:
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o To review and make recommendations on the Company's
policies and structure for the remuneration of the Executive
Directors and senior management;

o To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive Directors by
reference to market conditions, performance of the Group and
the individual and corporate goals and objectives as set by the
Board from time to time, and make recommendations on the
remuneration of the INEDs for the Board’s approval; and

o To review and evaluate the Company’s share option scheme (if
any).

Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own
remuneration packages. During the nine months ended 31 December
2018, the Remuneration Committee met once to review the
emolument packages of the Directors and senior management.
The individual attendance of Remuneration Committee members at
meetings is set out on page 60 of this annual report. Details of the
emolument of the Directors are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements while details of the Share Option Scheme to the
Directors and senior management are set out on pages 71 to 72 of
this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk
Shiu (the chairman of Audit Committee), Ms. MA Yunyan, Dr. DING
Ningning and Mr. WU Chi Keung.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include assisting
the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board,
particularly by providing independent review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management controls and, to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors of the
Company. The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties set out in the terms of reference under
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code as delegated by the Board. In
discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has performed
the following work:
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o To review the financial budget and planning including
the annual and interim financial statements and results
announcements during the financial year/for the reporting
period;

o To discuss with the external auditors and the management on
possible accounting risks;

. To review the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls,
corporate governance, internal controls and risk management
systems;

o To review the sufficiency of manpower, resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions,

o To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of the
external auditors;

o To review the independence of the external auditors and make
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

o To review and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with corporate governance and other legal and
regulatory requirements, and to report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendation.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee was published on the
Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange'’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss accounting issues, and reviews the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems. During the nine
months ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee met twice
for reviewing the financial reports for 2018 audited annual results and
2018/2019 interim results (including the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and the contents disclosed in the Corporate Governance
Report) and the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal controls system. The individual attendance of Audit
Committee members at meetings is set out on page 60 of this annual
report. Members of the Audit Committee were satisfied with the
Company'’s risk management and internal control systems and the
financial reporting disclosures.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the Group's
audited annual results for the nine months ended 31 December 2018.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director, Ms. CHU
Lam Yiu (the Chairlady of Nomination Committee) and two INEDs,
namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu and Dr. DING Ningning.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy for the Board’s consideration and
implementing the Board’s approved nomination policy, considering
the development targets and strategies of the Company and the skills
mix needed in respect of the Board, and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee was published on the Company’s website at www.
huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website at
www.hkexnews.hk. In discharging its responsibilities, the Nomination
Committee has performed the following work:

o To review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
diversity of Board members, and make any proposed changes to
the Board according to the Company’s corporate strategy;

o To consider the development targets and strategies of the
Company and the skills mix needed in respect of the Board, and
make recommendations to the Board;

o To assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs'
annual confirmations on their independence; and make
disclosure of its review results in the Corporate Governance
Report;

o To review the time required from a Director to perform his/her
responsibilities; and

o To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors.

The Company has revised the Terms of Reference of the Nomination
Committee during the nine months ended 31 December 2018
to comply with the new requirements by the Listing Rules. The
amendments aim to set out the selection criteria for potential INED
candidates and to promote the diversity policy of the Group. The
revised Terms of Reference became effective on 27 November 2018
with selection criteria set forth below:

(i) To enhance the long term development of the Company as first
priority;

(i) To note such candidate’s personal integrity, quality and insight
and whether the Company’s overall needs would be satisfied;
and

(i)  To note the diversity of the Board and the vision and benefits
brought.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the board by considering
a number of factors and measurable objectives, including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional skills, knowledge, experience and length of service, in
order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents, skills,
experience and background of the Board. Appointments of Board
members shall be based on merit, and candidates will be assessed
based on objective criteria. The Company will also take into account
factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the Policy, review the Policy from time to time, report to the Board
on their decisions or propose recommendations on any amendments
for the Board’s review and approval, in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Policy.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination
Committee met once for reviewing the board structure, the diversity
of Board members and the commitment of Directors and making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considered that the composition of the Board is well balanced
and diversified in terms of gender, age, educational background,
professional skills and experience. It meets with the needs of the
business operations and development of the Group. The Board is
of the view that every Director has dedicated sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company. Each Director had disclosed to
the Company at the time of his/her appointment of the directorships
held in other listed companies or nature of offices held in public
organizations and other significant commitments. The Company has
also requested Directors to provide in a timely manner any change
in such information. The individual attendance of Nomination
Committee members at meetings is set out on page 60 of this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has full responsibility for maintaining an integrated and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, which includes the establishment of a defined management
structure with specified limits of authority. The internal control
system is designed to assist in the achievement of business objectives
of the Group, safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, ensuring the proper maintenance of accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
for publication and ensuring compliance with relevant legislation
and regulation. The internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The internal control system (embedded in the operations of
the Company and forms part of the Company’s culture) includes:
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o effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

o capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the business
arising from factors within the company and to the change in
business environment; and include procedures for reporting
immediately to appropriate management levels regarding any
significant control weakness that are identified together with
details of corrective action being undertaken;

o reliability of financial reporting; and
o compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective
internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure and Risk Management

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and lines of
authority.

The Company has set out Internal Audit Department with scope of
works advised by the Audit Committee.

The Legal Department and Compliance Department areled by
experienced professional legal staff, together with Compliance
Department and other business functions (including Internal Audit
Department) of the Group, monitor and assess risk regularly, boost
related management standards and evaluate investment projects. The
Company has engaged a reputable law firm, Herbert Smith Freehills,
as its annual retainer counsel for provision of legal advice relating to
compliance of Listing Rules and regulatory requirements.

Authority and Control

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate strategies
and policies and related matters formulated by the Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements budget management and the financial budget
is executed upon approval by the Board. Relevant procedures have
been established to assess, review and approve major capital and
recurring expenditures, and regular review and make comparison
between operating results and the budget.

The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to
ensure accurate and complete accounting and management records
are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried out
regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly prepared
in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles, the
Group's accounting policies and the applicable laws and regulations.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Internal Audit
Department had carried out an annual review on the internal control
system including financial, operational and compliance control, and
risk management functions. The review adopts a risk-based approach
to create and review the effectiveness of an internal control system
and includes the following works:

(i)  To follow up the enhancement progress in response to the
previous recommendations from an external independent expert
in respect of internal control system;

(i)  To carry out a high level review on the internal control system
of new members/businesses of the Group under the principles
set out by The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Committee ("COSO") covering major control aspects;

(i) To arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test
on the internal control system of members of the Group on a
selective basis pursuant to the principles of COSO; and

(iv)  To design and review the questionnaires on the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems submitted by
the head offices of the Group, subsidiaries, business sectors of
the Company.

The Company has adopted a set of risk management and internal
control policies and procedures to safeguard the Group's assets, to
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records and reliability of
financial information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company received
the information about local, market and the competitors’ dynamic
movements each week and their understanding of the risk assessment
is enhanced through the on-the-job training and regular senior
management meetings, at which they discuss cases of the potential
risk management.
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Identification, assessment and management:

- The head of each department such as the Investment

Department, Finance Department and the Board of the
Company will inform and report to the relevant Directors
regarding the factors that have impact on the profit and price
based on the nature of business and their own experience.
During the course of execution, the concerned project teams of
the Company will handle relevant documents and report to the
relevant personnel (including the Directors).

- As for the matters as required to be disclosed under the Listing

Rules, the Compliance Department will present the issues to
the Board for review and discussion, and the Legal Department
and Compliance Department will inform relevant members of
the project team that dealing in the shares of the Company is
prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

- Generally, the price sensitive information forms regarding the

daily operation and connected transactions of the Company
will be circulated to relevant departments at the beginning
of every month by the Finance Department, and the Finance
Department will combine and submit the forms to the
Compliance Department for overall review in the middle of each
month, ensuring that there are no material omissions. The Legal
Department and Compliance Department will also confirm with
the Compliance Department for any material contracts.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, Internal
Audit Department has presented its review report and make
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee
has discussed with the management and reported the progress of
the work plan and related findings, particularly those related to new
members of the Group to the Board at board meeting.
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Measures to further enhance Internal Control Systems and
Corporate Governance practices

In compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and for
the purpose of reinforcing the Group's internal control system, the
Company has established a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees to raise concerns, in a confidential manner, with the
Audit Committee about possible irregularities in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters related to the Company. The Audit
Committee is responsible for reviewing the relevant policy and system
regularly.

The Directors has strengthened corporate governance practices,
including execution of the internal reporting policy throughout the
Group in monitoring the operation and business developments of the
Company so as to capture potentially price-sensitive information on
an on-going basis, monitoring the continuing disclosure obligation.
The Board has further strengthened corporate governance practices by
establishing lending policy to monitor its credit level. In addition, the
annual retainer counsel of the Company has provided the Directors
(existing and new board members) and the relevant senior executives
with training on Listing Rules, regulatory requirements and cases of
enforcement at least twice a year.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Internal Audit
Department of the Company has carried out internal control audits
in respect of those risk areas, such as business operation, financial
system, project investment and management, corporate governance,
etc., and also head offices, business sectors and certain subsidiaries
of the Group. The Internal Audit Department has reported to the
Directors in respect of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system and significant risks. The Board reviewed
and evaluated the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries by considering
reviews performed by the Audit Committee with the assistance of
the management team and Internal Audit Department and external
auditors.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms, and management
has also confirmed to the Board, that the Group's risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate (including the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate) and have complied with the CG
Code provisions on risk management and internal control throughout
the nine months ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this
annual report.
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Directors’ Training

All Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development and provided the Company with their records of
training they received for the nine months ended 31 December
2018. Directors participated in the training which included reading
regulatory updates, attending seminars or conducting training sessions
and exchanging views.

Executive Directors HITES
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu RMEE L+
Mr. XIA Liqun BB RE
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok BB 5 A
Mr. XIONG Qing ARJED S
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFEE

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu KL
Ms. MA Yunyan it = 22+
Dr. DING Ningning EEBL
Mr. WU Chi Keung ikt tas

Company Secretary’s Training

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director, Vice President and
Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible for assisting the
Board for facilitating communications among Directors as well as
ensuring that the Board’s policy and procedures are followed properly.
The Company Secretary also provides professional advice and services
to the Board on corporate governance and other matters. He is
also responsible for organizing general meetings and facilitating the
induction and professional development of Directors.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, Mr. Poon has
obtained over 40 hours of relevant professional training.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial Reporting
The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely publication
of financial statements. In preparing the financial statements,
relevant statutory requirements have been complied with, applicable
accounting standards in force in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent
basis, going concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditors’ Report and Remuneration

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing and
reporting on the financial statements. The Auditors’ Report to the
Shareholders is set out on pages 81 to 89 of this annual report.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the remuneration
paid/payable to the Company's auditors (including statutory auditors
of the subsidiaries) in relation to audit services and non-audit services
provided to the Group are as follows:
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Audit services ZERT

— for the audit of the Group — S EE 5,000

— for the statutory and other audits of the ~ —F R aATE R E 2T
subsidiaries 3,096
Non-audit services A% B AR 75 949

Please also refer to Note 24 to consolidated financial statement
set out on page 186 of this annual report for details of Auditors’
Remuneration.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares. The
number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 December 2018 was
3,107,962,876. Details of share capital of the Company are set out

EEREBRSE
B SRR
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2T N\F+_A=1+—H 2ETEBER
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in Note 18 of Notes to the consolidated financial statements on page
177 of this annual report. Shareholders holding issued ordinary shares

of the Company were set out below:

Full details can
be found on
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the following Total number Percentage
page of of issued of the issued
this report Shares held share capital
HRALFR EHESR HE#T
UTEH ERTROAE REBDL
Category/Name LY et

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Nete D RIRIE 22 (W=D Page 74 748 2,293,408,900 73.79%
Mr. XIONG Qing ®ote 2) AR P o A (W) Page 74 748 3,720,000 0.12%
2,297,128,900 73.91%
Public NRAT 810,833,976 26.09%
Total (ot 3 G &t (03 3,107,962,876 100.00%

Notes: B 5T

(1) As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of
depositary receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder of
depositary receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control the
exercise of 30% (or such other amount as may from time to time be
specified in the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs
as being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) or more of
the voting power at general meeting of the Company;

(2)  Directors of the Company; and
(3)  Please refer to page 79 of the annual report under the section headed

"Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company's Listed Securities”
regarding the latest number of issued Shares.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the bye-laws of the Company, shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company, to require a special general meeting (“SGM") to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business transaction specified
in such requisition.

The requisition shall state clearly the matters required to be considered
and approved at the SGM and must be signed by the requisitionist(s)
(with contact details) and submitted to the Board in written form to
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at least 21
days before the proposed date of the SGM.

The SGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists may themselves do so in accordance with the provisions
of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1982 of the laws of Bermuda
(as amended) (the “Companies Act”), but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said date.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at general
meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, (i) any number
of shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth (5%) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of
the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which the
requisition relates; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, may submit
to the Company a written request stating the resolution intended to
be moved at AGM or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting.
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The written request/statement must be signed by all the requisitionists
and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of the requisitionists, and must be deposited at the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong, not less than
6 weeks before the AGM in case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution or not less than one week before the general meeting
in case of any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for
a date 6 weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be
deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Shareholders’ right to propose a person for election as a
director

Shareholders shall have the right to propose a person for election
as a director at the Company’s general meeting. Please refer to the
detailed procedures for such right on the Company’s website www.
huabao.com.hk.

Making enquiries by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to examine the relevant information
of the Company according to the Bye-laws. Shareholders should direct
their questions about their shareholdings to the Company's branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited. Shareholders
may also direct questions or requests for information through the
Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk or by contacting the
Head of Investor Relations Department of the Company (e-mail:
ir@huabao.com.hk).

ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In addition to the on-going Investor Relation Department’s efforts
mentioned in the next section, the Board values the importance of
communications with the shareholders. The Company uses a range of
communications tools, such as AGM, annual report, various notices,
announcements and circulars, to ensure its shareholders are kept well
informed of key business imperatives.

The Company has maintained a website www.huabao.com.hk which
serves as a forum for corporate communication with its shareholders
and the general public. All corporate communications required under
the Listing Rules are displayed and can be achieved (for documents
published in the previous 7 years) on the Company's website and
there is established procedure to ensure timely update in compliance
with the Listing Rules.
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Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in the best
interests of its shareholders at all times and in all areas of its
operations. The Group actively promotes open communication and
full disclosure of all information needed to protect and maximize
transparency.

Shareholders’ communication policy

The shareholders” communication policy is available for viewing on the
Company's website at www.huabao.com.hk.

Shareholders’ Meetings held during the nine months ended
31 December 2018

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to communicate
with the Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement of the Shareholders’
rights, significant issues were dealt with under separate resolutions
at the general meeting, including the election and re-election of
individual Director. Details of general meeting(s) held during the nine
months ended 31 December 2018 are summarized as follows:

TEE

FEANERE

AEBAZERRY 2T USBRERKENE
MiTE - AEBEEIRIREFH BB R MR
RAERAEHZEMTEETEEREE-

#Ed:

BRERBRIBER
RN B2 R AR A] B A B A hwww.
huabao.com.hk E & (] °

REZB-N\F+ZA=t—HBLEAEAET
HIRERAE

BERAE/REFSHERREMR—([EEBRE -
RITEBRRERRKE LITEEN E2FH

DREBEMRBRENREAG LRE  BIFE
BRBEENEZ - RBEE_T—-N\F+_A

=t HIEABARTZERASE[NT

Meeting Date Venue Resolutions
a3 B 1t B RER
Annual general meeting 6 August 2018 Boardroom 6, M/F, 1. To receive and consider the audited financial statements and the

RRBEERE —Z-N\FENARAE Renaissance Hong Kong
Harbour View Hotel,

1 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
E/%/%1
ERERBER

HEEEER

reports of the directors and of the auditors for the year ended 31

March 2018;
EERE_T-\FZAZ+-HULFELECUBRR &
FeRmERZEMRE

To declare a final dividend for the reporting period ended 31
March 2018;
ERBE_ZS-NF=ZA=+—HIFENHRRS

To re-elect Directors and to authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations;

BRES UTREEEGHEEREZHE:

To re-appoint the auditors and to authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations; and

BRECEN TREEESETHEME

To grant general mandates to buy back shares, to issue shares and
to exercise the buy-back mandate

BT —REREARBRD ST RITERERE

To cancel the Preference Shares of the Company

AEHAREEER:

To authorise the registered office of the Company to make all
required entries in the register of members and the make the
necessary filings with the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda to
reflect the cancellation of Preference Shares
BRREARABLENETMEVRNERRRBEREDR
RETFNEE NIRRT HE LR

AR

To amend the Bye-laws of the Company

CHESNSEEUE

To authorise the registered office of the Company to make all
necessary filings with the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda with
respect to the amended Bye-laws
REANTBLERMETANMBURBREAABLRIEL —
T HENFRE
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MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

Details of the mergers and acquisitions of the Group carried out
during the nine months ended 31 December 2018 can be found on
page 65 of this annual report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Company can
be found on pages 76 to 79 of this annual report.

ATTENDANCE RECORD

Details of attendance of the Directors (either in person or through
telephone conferences) at board regular meetings, meetings of board
committees and general meetings during the nine months ended 31
December 2018 are set out below:

—N\FE+A=+—B1LENBEA KA
EHEFEBEHAANFRECSE -

AEBZHEBERFIHBIANANERSET6
2798

H & RC 8%

EEER _F-N\F+_A=1t—HILLNE
ABBHEEXNEBRERER T ALFEES
F EXZEeeRMERRRENBFERF

BEHIT

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual
Regular Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
EZgres ERZEEEE FHMZEEEESE REZE8EE RRBFAE
No. of meeting held BERH 5 2 1 1 1
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlacy and CFO) FMEL L (ZEFEREHTE) 5/5 N/A 7 N/A i 1 17
Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman) BRBAE (FLE) 5/5 N/A i £ ”n N/A i A 7
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary)  ERBE %4 (A F#EZ) 5/5 N/A i N/A T iE R N/A T8 1”n
Mr. XIONG Qing (CFO) RBEE (BBIKE) 5/5 N/A 7R N/A T NA T n
Mr. LAM Ka Yu HEFELE 5/5 N/A T8 N/A TE R N/A TE 17
Independent Non-executive Directors BUYFHTES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRKEE 5/5 212 ”n 7 "
Ms. MA Yunyan MEHRZT 5/5 22 1 N/A T8 B 11
Dr. DING Ningning EEHL 5/5 212 N/A i R 7 "
Mr. WU Chi Keung HEBREE 5/5 22 1 N/A T8 B 11
MAJOR CHANGES TO THE BYE-LAWS ’_\ﬁ,%ﬂi AlERBE
During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Company WZZE—NF+_A=+—HItAEA &AQ

amended the Bye-laws by, among others, removing all references to
the preference shares of the Company. The amendments of the Bye-
laws became effective on 6 August 2018. The amended Bye-laws is
available on the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website at www.hkexnews.hk

T{zaTTAT%HH,\J WEBHA REBIBER]
NEIHER Hh e g HBREARMELKREY
FTBESIA - AalfAlZEBITIR_E—\FNA
NBES BT R B 4RI AT A AR 7 A8 uh
www.huabao.com.hk & & 78 B 22 BT 48 i www.
hkexnews.hk# B o



Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§

Investor Relations Report

The Company is committed to upholding an open and proactive
investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing the knowledge
and understanding of the investment community with respect
to the Company's corporate mission and vision, development
strategies, competitive position in the industry and operating and
financial performance, so as to enable public investors to make
informed decisions on their investments. The Company fulfils the
abovementioned through a designated Investor Relations Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary between
the Company and public investors. The Company abides by the basic
and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure that communication with
Shareholders, investors and media is conducted in a fair manner and
that no material non-public information is made available to any
individual on a selective basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS REVIEW

On 21 December 2018, the Group repurchased 126,000 shares in the
open market with approximately RMB352,000. During the reporting
period, the Company proactively communicated with investors by
multiple channels to convey its latest developments, performance, and
strategic goals so that investors could have a better understanding of
the Group and sets solid foundation for the Group's activities in the
capital market in the future. Investor relations activities conducted by
the Group are as follows,
Details Frequency
Results presentation 2

Non-deal roadshow 2 (Hong Kong and

Shanghai)

Investor meeting 1 (Shenzhen)

On-on-one and Group meeting 30
Conference call 3
Site visits and reverse roadshow 3

° Results presentation

On 21 June 2018 and 23 November 2018, the Group hosted
annual and interim results presentation respectively. At the
presentation, the management answered investors’ questions in
regard to the Group's operating and financial performance.

° Roadshows and investor meetings

The Group proactively attended reputable investment
bank’s roadshows and investor meetings, and leveraged
every opportunity to illustrate the Group’s performance and
development strategies to investors so that the Group could
enhance its reputation and image in the capital markets.
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Site visits and reverse roadshows

During the period under review, the Group arranged
shareholders, analysts, and investors to visit the Group’s R&D
and manufacturing bases so that they could have a good
understanding of the Group’s operations. On the other hand,
the participants in the capital markets could leverage the site
visits opportunities to monitor the Group’s operations and urge
the Group to make progress.

Annual general meeting

It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and
meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with the Company. Shareholders can raise any
questions and comments on the performance or future
business directions of the Company and on any resolutions to
be considered at the AGM. The Company’s Chairlady and the
Audit Committee’s Chairman were present in person or through
telephone/video conferences and available to answer questions
raised at the AGM.

Analyst coverage

In order to let investors better understand the Group's business,
the Group proactively communicated with industry analysts
with an aim to gain more attention from the capital markets.
At present, the Group are covered by the analysts of research
institutions below,

o First Shanghai Securities Limited
o Tianfeng Securities Company Limited

Detailed financial statements

The company attaches great importance to annual reports
and interim reports, put a lot of resources for these two
reports’ preparation, and uses them as one of the major
communication bridges between the company and investors.
Through this approach, the latest information of the Group
can be transmitted to investors, aiming to convey the Group's
comprehensive strategy, operating principles, business and
financial performance and future prospects in a detailed and
accurate manner.
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E-Communication via Websites of the Company and
Professional Investor Relations Website

The Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk contains
information such as important corporate data, biographical
details of Directors, organizational structure and press releases.

In addition, the Company also has professional investor relations
website (http://huabao.todayir.com/html/ir.php) to publish
interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars
that enables the Company’s Shareholders and members of
the investment community to have timely access to the most
updated information about the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACTS

For inquiries, please contact:

Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited
Suite 3008

30th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2877 8999
Fax: (852) 2511 8229
E-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk

Information for investors (as at 31 December 2018)

1.

Huabao International Holdings Limited

Board Lot Size 1,000 shares
Number of shares issued 3,107,962,876 shares
Market capitalization approximately

(based on the closing price of HKD10.35 billion
HKD3.33 per share on
31 December 2018)

Stock Code
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 00336
Limited stock code

Reuters ticker 336.HK

Bloomberg ticker 336:HK
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2.

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Company Limited (a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company listed on the ChiNext of the

Shenzhen Stock Exchange)
Board Lot Size

Number of shares issued

Market capitalization
(based on the closing price of
RMB31.07 per share on
28 December 2018)

Stock Code

ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange stock code

Reuters ticker

Bloomberg ticker

Financial Calendar

Closing date for transfer of shares
for Annual General Meeting

Annual General Meeting

Ex-dividend date

Closing date for transfer of shares
for proposed final and
special dividends

Date of payment of proposed final

and special dividends for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018

Financial year-end date

100 shares
615,880,000 shares

approximately
RMB19.14 billion

300741

300741.5Z

300741:CH

From 29 April 2019
(Monday) to

3 May 2019 (Friday)
(both days inclusive)

3 May 2019 (Friday)

8 May 2019 (Wednesday)

From 10 May 2019
(Friday) to
15 May 2019
(Wednesday)
(both days inclusive)

On or about
28 June 2019 (Friday)

31 December
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended
31 December 2018.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL
Acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff

On 4 September 2018, the Group successfully acquired 100% interest
of Jiahao Foodstuff in a final consideration of approximately USD696
million. The wholly owned subsidiary of Jiahao Foodstuff, Guangdong
Jiahao, is an industry leader in the production, sale and distribution
of chicken bouillon (liquid cooking stock), wasabi paste, concentrated
fruit juice (used in cooking applications) and functional soy sauce in
China. Following completion of the acquisition, the Group successfully
expanded its foothold to condiment sector. The acquisition of Jiahao
Foodstuff is an implementation of the Group’s strategy of “concentric
diversification based on consumers’ demand in the taste-based fast-
moving products industry”.

Disposal of VMR Products

On 2 October 2018 (Florida time, United States), VMR Products,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into and
completed an agreement with JUUL Labs, Inc. and its subsidiary to
dispose all of the issued and outstanding units of VMR Products, the
consideration was USD31,352,380 and the cash have already been
received by the Group. The successful disposal of VMR Products
significantly minimized the policy and regulatory risks of the Group in
the e-cigarette business and further enhanced the Group’s financial
resources.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
Group is principally engaged in the R&D, production, distribution
and sales of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma
raw materials, condiment products and other segments in the PRC.
The activities of the Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Further discussion
and analysis of the operating activities of the Group during the nine
months ended 31 December 2018, and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group's business, as required by Schedule 5 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairlady’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” as set out on pages 9 to 10 and pages 11 to 32 of this
annual report respectively. Such discussion forms part of this directors’
report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. To the best
of knowledge and belief, the Directors consider that the following are
the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group as at the date
of this report.

The risk of down-stream industry control and policies on
tobacco industry

Following the promulgation and implementation of the new
Advertising Law of China in 2015, the restrictions on cigarette
marketing have in turn become more rigid, and consequently the
room for marketing the tobacco market becomes narrower. On
the other hand, the tax-induced price hike policy has raised the
consumption tax and wholesale price, and subsequently escalated
the consumption cost of cigarettes, which to a certain extent
have suppressed the demand for cigarette consumption. With the
tightening of tobacco control policies by the international health
organizations and local governments, and the increased awareness
of the public on health and tobacco control, it is possible that the
production and sales volumes of cigarette will further decline in the
future, which in turn will cause the reduction of sales income and
operating profit of the tobacco-related products of the Company. In
this regard, the Company will continue to pay attention to the impacts
of industry and policy changes on the business, and will adjust our
business and development strategies in a timely manner.

The risk of consumer behaviour changes and the impact on
the down-stream industries

With the continuous progress of society and the improvement of
people’s living standards, consumers have increased their awareness
of health and environment protection. On the other hand, the
age structure and level of consumers continue to evolve. New
consumption trend as well as consumption concept and consumption
behaviour keeps changing. The demand for the Group’s downstream
tobacco, food, daily chemical industry continues to change, thus
affecting the Group's flavours and fragrances and food ingredients
related products and we may face the risk of market share shrinking.
The Company will continue to focus on and enhance the insight into
consumer behaviour, and further optimize the product structure to
meet the requirements of a new generation of consumers.
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The impact of food safety policy

At present, the PRC implements an authorized management system
for the food industry. The main laws, regulations and standards
involved are the Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Announcement on the Production License of Food Additives.
At the same time, international organizations such as the International
Standards Organization (ISO), the Codex Alimentarius Commission
(CAQ), and the International Organisation of Food and Flavor Industry
(IOFl) have formulated and promulgated product standards and
industry norms to provide industry management systems and industry
standards.

To a certain extent, the new law will increase the operating costs of
enterprises. Should there be any further changes in the above policies
and standards, it will have a direct impact on the Company's future
development. The Company will make corresponding adjustment,
investment and improvement in product structure, production
technology and product performance and other aspects to ensure our
products and operation comply with food safety standards.

The impact of Environmental Protection

With the increased awareness on the environmental protection by the
society, the government’s continuous improvement in environmental
protection may lead to more stringent environmental protection
standards and requirements in the future; if the Company cannot
upgrade the production facilities in time to improve the handling
of wastage, this will have an adverse impact on the Company’s
production and operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group plays an important role in protecting our environment
and is committed to minimizing our impact on the environment
and natural resources. We educate and train our employees on
environmental issues and proper handling of hazardous substances
and require adherence to corporate guidelines on environmental
protection measures. Our plants have basically installed equipment
and procedures designs to comply with business operation.

In addition, the Group installed video conference and telephone
conference facilities for convening board meetings, committee
meetings and management meetings. It enhances the efficiency of
business travelling and convening meetings for the management so as
to reduce the energy consumption.

The Group promotes awareness towards environmental protection
to the employees. It implements green office practices such as
utilizing emails for internal and external communication, adopting
e-filing in server; minimizes documents printing and copying; and
reduces energy consumption by switching off lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use.
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We have completed our Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") report which contains our ESG information in 2018 and
the requirements under the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules. The ESG report of the
Company for 2018 will be published no later than 3 months after
the publication of this Annual Report on the websites of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and of the Company
(www.huabao.com.hk).

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognizes that employees, customers, suppliers and
business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group.

Regarding employee salary and incentive system, the Group has
formulated a set of remuneration system referenced to the market to
attract and retains key personnel and talents with appropriate skills,
experience and competence which would complement and meet the
corporate and business objectives of the Group. The Group ensures
all employees are reasonably remunerated and the remuneration
packages of employees are reviewed regularly and necessary
adjustments are made to the remuneration packages to align with the
market standards. Further details on the Group’s staff are set out in
the “Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction” section
of this report.

The Group adheres to its core value of “client first” for years to
maximise client values, maintains good relationship with its customers
and suppliers, and has ongoing communication with the customers
and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic
mails and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.
Besides, the Group has entered into related agreements to promote
probity and environmental protection with respective suppliers and
conducted an appraisal of its suppliers, with a view to maintaining
business relationships with suppliers and customers based on principle
of mutual benefit.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from time to time),
the Listing Rules and the SFO relating to, among other things, the
information disclosure and corporate governance.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's performance for the nine months ended
31 December 2018 by business segment is set out in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the nine months ended 31 December
2018 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 91 of
the annual report.

Dividend Policy

The Group is committed to sharing its development and achievements
with shareholders through proactive, stable and sustainable dividend
policy. The Group would strive to strike a balance between meeting
shareholder’s expectations and managing funds prudently. When
considering the dividend policy, the Group will comprehensively
observe the macro-economic operation, the competition pattern of
the industry and the Group’s own development strategy. Under the
premise of ensuring that the Group has sufficient working capital to
implement the development strategy, the Group will distribute surplus
funds to shareholders and reward their support for the Group. If the
Company pays dividends, the dividend payout ratio will remain at
50% or above.

Proposed final and special dividends

The Board proposes to declare a final dividend of HK8.8 cents per
Share (Year 2017/18: HK15 cents) and a special dividend of HK18.9
cents per Share (Year 2017/18: nil) both in cash, amounting to
HKD860.9 million (equivalents to approximately RMB754.3 million)
(2017/18: RMB374 million) in aggregate for the nine months ended
31 December 2018, which are expected to be paid on or about 28
June 2019 to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 15 May 2019. The payment of the final
and special dividends is subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM
which is scheduled to be held on 3 May 2019.

CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

In order to determine the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and
vote at the AGM of the Company which is scheduled to be held
on 3 May 2019, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from 29 April 2019 to 3 May 2019, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. All properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 26
April 2019. Shareholders whose names are recorded in the register of
members of the Company on 3 May 2019 are entitled to attend and
vote at the 2019 AGM.
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CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR PAYMENT
OF FINAL AND SPECIAL DIVIDENDS

In order to determine Shareholders who qualify for the proposed
final and special dividends, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 10 May 2019 to 15 May 2019, both days
inclusive, during which no transfer of shares will be effected. All
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on 9 May 2019. Shareholders whose names are recorded in
the register of members of the Company on 15 May 2019 are entitled
to receive the final and special dividends both in cash for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
nine months ended 31 December 2018 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 93 and in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to RMB2,745,620,000 (31 March 2018:
RMB2,609,978,000).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the nine
months ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately
RMB415,000 (31 March 2018: RMB375,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 220.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the Company’s annual
general meeting held on 9 August 2016, the Company terminated
the share option scheme adopted on 22 September 2006 (“2006
Share Option Scheme”) and adopted a new share option scheme
("New Share Option Scheme”) on 9 August 2016 (“Adoption Date”).
As at 31 December 2018, all outstanding options granted prior to
termination of the 2006 Share Option Scheme lapsed. The New Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the Adoption Date and the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme are substantially the same as those of the 2006 Share
Option Scheme. The following is a summary of the New Share Option
Scheme:

(@) Purpose
The New Share Option Scheme aims at encouraging the
participants to make contributions to and promote benefits
of the Group and developing and maintaining business
relationships with participants for the benefit of the Group.

(b) Participants

The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions of the New
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, invite person(s) who
or which is/are eligible to participate as grantee(s) and receive
options under the New Share Option Scheme, to take up share
options to subscribe for Shares.

(c) Maximum number of shares available for subscription

The total number of share options to be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued Shares
of the Company as at 9 August 2016. Upon approval by the
Shareholders, the Company may renew the Scheme Mandate
Limit, provided that each renewal shall not exceed 10% of the
issued Shares as at the date of approval by the Shareholders,
and a circular regarding the proposed renewal of the Scheme
Mandate Limit has been dispatched to the Shareholders in a
manner complying with, and containing the matters specified
in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
The aggregate maximum number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of share options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total
number of Shares in issue from time to time.
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(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options under the New Share
Option Scheme) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company. Any excess over 1%
shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general
meeting with such participant and his/her close associates
abstaining from voting and the Company shall issue a circular
pursuant to relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

(e) Time of acceptance and exercise of a share option

The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within
30 business days from the date of the offer letter issued by
the Company. The grantee shall pay HKD1 as consideration
for accepting the offer of the share option granted. The
grantee may subscribe for Shares during such period as may be
determined by the Board (the said period shall not in whatever
case be later than the last day of the 10-year period after the
day on which the offer relating to the option is duly approved
by the Board in accordance with the New Share Option Scheme
(subject to early termination).

(f)  Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the offer
of the grant of option to the grantee, the New Share Option
Scheme does not provide for any minimum period for which
share options must be held before it can be exercised.

(g) Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the New
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board and
shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheet on the date of offer, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares.

(h) The life of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10
years starting from 9 August 2016 (can be terminated before
expiration).

As at 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report, no share
options were granted under the New Share Option Scheme.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the nine months ended 31
December 2018 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO)

Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary)
Mr. XIONG Qing (CFO)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Ms. MA Yunyan
Dr. DING Ningning
Mr. WU Chi Keung

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) and (2) of the Company'’s bye-laws,
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, Mr. XIA Liqun and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu shall retire by
rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, all of them being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company, its ultimate holding company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the nine months ended 31 December 2018 or at any time
during the nine months period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) is considered to have an interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of directors and senior management as at 31
December 2018 are set out on pages 33 to 40 of the annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the nine months ended 31 December 2018
are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Directors Capacity

EEHE 5%

CHU Lam Yiu Held through controlled corporations et
RIRIE g el e I NCIES ¥ S IR
XIONG Qing Beneficial Owner

il EREA A

Note: 2,293,408,900 ordinary shares of the Company were held by
Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International Limited,
Power Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited, Raise Sino
Investments Limited and Real Elite Investments Limited, respectively.
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole beneficial owner of the aforesaid six
companies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors nor their close associates had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or associated companies as defined in the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the nine months ended 31 December 2018 was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the nine months ended 31 December
2018 and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and subject to the relevant
provisions therein, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she may incur in or sustain by the execution of his/her duty
as a director of the Company or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors
and senior management of the Company in respect of legal action
against them in the course of execution of their duties in good faith.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above and Note 18 to the financial statements, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company during the nine months
ended 31 December 2018.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2018, other than the interests disclosed in the
section headed “Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, no substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
held interests or short positions in 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

LOAN FACILITY WITH COVENANTS RELATING TO
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

On 17 August 2018, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with a PRC bank for a loan of approximately RMB2,888 million for a
term of 5 years.
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Pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules, so long as the facility
agreement is still in full force, the obligation to disclose exists. As one
of the precedent conditions of the facility agreement, Ms. CHU Lam
Yiu, the ultimate beneficial controlling shareholder of the Company,
shall, directly or indirectly, maintain her controlling stake in the
Company throughout the term of the Loan Facility. Breach of such
undertaking will constitute an event of default which entitles the
Lender to, among other things, demand immediate payment and/or
repayment of all amount outstanding under the Loan Facility from the
Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the percentage of
revenue from sales of goods or rendering services attributable to the
Group's five largest customers combined accounted for approximately
35.94% and the largest customer contributed approximately 13.15%
to the revenue from sales of goods or rendering services of the Group
(Yunnan Tobacco Materials (Group) Company Limited being the
largest customer), and the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group'’s five largest suppliers combined accounted for approximately
24.50% and the largest supplier contributed approximately 13.65%
to the purchases of the Group.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group's continuing connected transactions are primarily classified
based on the independent operation of the Group’s business
segments, i.e. Huabao Flavours is principally engaged in the flavours
and fragrances business and the Remaining Group (including
Guangdong,Jinye Group) is principally engaged in business segments
of tobacco raw materials (including RTL and new materials products
applicable to tobacco industry), aroma raw materials, condiment
products and other segments.

In addition, to align with the change of the financial year end date
of the Company from 31 March to 31 December, the Company had
revised the annual caps of certain continuing connected transactions,
such that the revised annual caps, to the extent possible, will cover the
reporting period ending 31 December, which being the same financial
year end date of the Company. Please refer to the announcement
dated 15 January 2019 published by the Company for details.
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Huabao Flavours is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, while Guangdong Jinye is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Guangdong Jinke is a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Guangdong Jinye. Guangdong Tobacco holds more
than 10% equity interest in Guangdong Jinke. Guangdong Tobacco
Company are regarded as connected persons at the subsidiary level
of the Company under the Listing Rules. The Company, through its
subsidiaries, indirectly owns 60% equity interest in Yunnan Tianhong.
The remaining 40% equity interest in Yunnan Tianhong is held by
Yunnan Hehe. Hongta Tobacco owns 75% equity interest in Yunnan
Hehe. By virtue of such 40% interest in Yunnan Tianhong, Hongta
Tobacco Group are regarded as connected persons at the subsidiary
level of the Company under the Listing Rules. Transactions between
each of Huabao Flavours Company and Guangdong Jinye Group
with Hongta Tobacco Group constitute connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement entered
into between Huabao Flavours and Yunnan Hehe on 26 May 2017
in relation to the provision of tobacco flavours products and related
services by Huabao Flavours Company to Hongta Tobacco Group, the
term of the Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement shall be for
a term of 3 years from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 (both days
inclusive).

Pursuant to the Hongta JY Framework Agreement entered into
between Guangdong Jinye and Yunnan Hehe on 26 May 2017 in
relation to the provision of RTL, stem powder, auxillary materials
and related services by Guangdong Jinye Group (except for Huabao
Flavours Company) to Hongta Tobacco Group, the term of the Hongta
JY Framework Agreement shall be for a term of 3 years from 1 April
2017 to 31 March 2020 (both days inclusive).

Pursuant to the HB Flavours Framework Agreement entered into
between Huabao Flavours and Guangdong Tobacco on 1 March
2017 in relation to the provision of tobacco flavours products and
related services by Huabao Flavours Company to Guangdong Tobacco
Company, the term of the HB Flavours Framework Agreement shall
be for a term of 3 years from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019
(both days inclusive).

Pursuant to the JY Framework Agreement entered into between
Guangdong Jinye and Guangdong Tobacco on 1 March 2017 in
relation to the provision of RTL products and related services by
Guangdong Jinye Group (except for Huabao Flavours Company)
to Guangdong Tobacco Company, the term of the JY Framework
Agreement shall be for a term of 3 years from 1 January 2017 to 31
December 2019 (both days inclusive).
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Pursuant to the JK Framework Agreement entered into between
Guangdong Jinke and Guangdong Tobacco on 1 March 2017 in
relation to the provision of auxillary materials and related services
by Guangdong lJinye Group (except for Huabao Flavours Company)
to Guangdong Tobacco Company, the term of the JK Framework
Agreement shall be for a term of 3 years from 1 January 2017 to 31
December 2019 (both days inclusive).

The annual caps for the continuing connected transactions with
Hongta Tobacco Group and Guangdong Tobacco Company are revised
as follows:

Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement
AEEERMNERGZ

Hongta JY Framework Agreement
AR EERGH

HB Flavours Framework Agreement

ZERMIERHH

JY Framework Agreement

SRERBZ

JK Framework Agreement

SRER %

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the actual transaction
amount under the Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement,
the Hongta JY Framework Agreement, the HB Flavours Framework
Agreement, the JY Framework Agreement and the JK Framework
Agreement was RMB13,574,238, RMB80,049,605, RMB85,362,363,
RMB46,421,701 and RMB6,264,923, respectively.
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6,270,000 34,000,000 N/A /i
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the INEDs of the Company. The INEDs confirmed that the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i)  in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged the independent auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers to report on the Group’'s above-
mentioned continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 'Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018 in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided to
the Stock Exchange by the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group during the nine months ended 31 December 2018
are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
None of these related party transactions constitutes a disclosable
connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules, except for
the transactions described in this paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, in respect of which the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
have been complied with.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Company
bought back a total of 126,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 per Share
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$402,070 (excluding transaction costs) with internal
resources. All Shares bought back were subsequently cancelled on 14
January 2019. The issued share capital of the Company comprised
3,107,836,876 shares after the above bought back.
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Details of Shares bought back during the nine months ended 31

BE_Z-N\F+T-_A=+—HIEAEAR

December 2018 are set out as follows: ElRERMDBFBFET
Highest price Lowest price Aggregate
No. of shares paid per share paid per share consideration
Repurchased (HKS) (HKS) paid
BE PR A3 P {38 PR A3 HY
Month/Year £,/ A ROBE EBESERERER BESREREY BRAHE
December 2018 ZE-N\ETZA 126,000 3.20 3.15 HK$402,070
Total it 126,000 HK$402,070

The Directors believe that the bought-back set out above would
enhance the net asset value per Share and/or earnings per Share of

the Company.

Save as disclosed, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities

during the nine months ended 31 December 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group's corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 60 of the annual

report.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2018, none of the members of the Group was
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or claim was pending or threatened or made against any

member of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to the best
belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
the prescribed public float throughout the nine months ended 31
December 2018 and up to the date of this report as required under

the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at

the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By Order of the Board
CHU Lam Yiu
Chairlady and CEO

Hong Kong, 12 March 2019
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUABAO INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 90 to 219, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018;

° the consolidated income statement for the nine months ended
31 December 2018;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
nine months ended 31 December 2018;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the nine months
ended 31 December 2018; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Fair value assessment of the identifiable net assets relating to

the acquisition and recognition of goodwvill

Impairment of goodwill

Key Audit Matter

Fair value assessment of the identifiable
net assets relating to the acquisition and
recognition of goodwill

As further explained in Note 31
(Business combinations) to the
consolidated financial statements, on
4 September 2018 (the “Acquisition
Date”), the Group completed acquisition
of Jiahao Foodstuff Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Jiahao Foodstuff”),
which are principally engaged in the
production, sales, marketing and
distribution of condiment products in
the People’s Republic of China, for a
cash consideration of approximately
USD695,985,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB4,745,437,000).
After that, the Group held 100%
equity interests of Jiahao Foodstuff,
which were consolidated by the
Group from the Acquisition Date. Fair
value of identifiable net assets of
RMB1,109,887,000 and goodwill (the
difference between the consideration
paid for the acquisition and the fair
value of the identifiable net assets) of
RMB3,635,550,000 were recognised. The
increase of fair value of the identifiable
net assets of Jiahao Foodstuff from its
carrying amount mainly represents the
recognition and valuation of intangible
assets, such as trademarks and customer
relationship.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Regarding the fair value assessment of
identifiable net assets relating to the
acquisition and recognition of goodwill, we
performed the procedures as follows:

- We assessed the competency,
objectivity and independence
of the external valuer used by
management.

- We used our in-house experts
to assist us in evaluating the
appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies used in determining
the fair values of the net assets.

- We discussed with management
and external valuer, assessed
the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used by the external
valuer such as forecast and terminal
growth rate, budgeted gross margin
by comparing these assumptions
against historical data of Jiahao
Foodstuff, relevant market data and
industry research.
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Key Audit Matter

Management has engaged an
independent valuer to assist in
identifying the intangible assets and
perform valuation of the identifiable
assets and liabilities.

Significant management judgements
were involved in the fair value
assessment of identifiable assets and
liabilities, particularly in identifying
and valuation of intangible assets
(such as the valuation methodology
and underlying assumptions of the
valuation of purchase price allocation,
including the forecast and terminal
growth rate, budgeted gross margin
and discount rate), which have impact
on the recognition of goodwill. We
considered this area as a key audit
matter because the reasonableness of
the above mentioned judgements and
assumptions had a significant impact on
the fair value of the identified net assets
and recognition of goodwill.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

- We cross checked the parameters
adopted in the discount rate
calculation (including risk free rate,
beta, market risk premium, etc)
with third party sources. We also
cross checked the calculation result
by using independent expectations
of discount rate model and
assumptions.

- We tested the mathematical
accuracy of the calculation of
fair values of intangible assets,
identified net assets and goodwill.

- We reviewed the business
development plan to evaluate the
synergies achieved by the Group in
the acquisition and reassessed the
overall reasonableness of goodwill
recognised in the acquisition.

As a result of performing our work, we
found the management's estimates and
judgements used in the acquisition to be
supported by the available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter

Impairment of goodwill

Refer to Note 5 (Critical accounting
estimates and judgments) and Note 9
(Intangible assets) to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 December
2018, the Group had material goodwill
balance amounting to RMB5,867,509,000
arose from acquisitions during the
period and previous years, which was
allocated to the Group's cash-generating
units (“CGUs"). No impairment was
recognised in current period.

Management tests annually whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment,
in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 2.9. The recoverable
amount of CGUs has been determined
based on value-in-use calculation.

Management concluded that, based
on their assessment, no additional
impairment loss was considered
necessary for all CGUs in current period.

We focused on these balances because
the determination of whether or not
an impairment charge was necessary
involved significant judgements about
the future results of the business.
Management's impairment assessment
involves significant estimation, and
budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-
tax discount rate and forecast and
terminal growth rates are considered to
be the key assumptions.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to management's
impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

- We used our in-house experts
to assist us in evaluating the
appropriateness of value-in-use
calculation methodology adopted
by management.

- We tested the mathematical
accuracy of the underlying value-in-
use calculation.

- We also evaluated the historical
accuracy of the plan and forecast
by, for example, comparing the
forecast used in the prior year
model to the actual performance of
the business in the current year.

- We discussed with management
and evaluated the underlying key
assumptions of budgeted gross
margin and forecast and terminal
growth rates used in the cash flow
forecast taking into account market
developments.

- We evaluated and recalculated the
pre-tax discount rate used in the
calculation by comparing with the
industry or market data.

As a result of performing our work, we
found the management's estimates and
judgements used in the impairment
assessment to be supported by the available
evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

BB R

s HEZRAKELESTERMBEN
e R o IRIBPAEIR A EHEE  HE
EAFHEEFELBREENE RN HE
EE femAl s8Ry ERENFEL
BRNEEERREE - MRHEMRBRFE
BERTHEEN AV EEZBENHRE S
RBEREIBRGEEUBHRRPNEEH
BRE-BREABOEETRE  MRMAEE
HRFERBEER - HMINEmEENZ
ZEN RS B L PAEUS B REHRRE © AT -
AREERIFERAAELES BEETHE

+ 435 4 AN
FHELE -

o HESRAUBmMERMERIBIAN LB
MAR BREEE UNMEEMBHRER
BRERBRIHMEIR-

e  EEERNERAXBEHNUBKE
BERGR - EENENRE WEHE
EUBHRRERER -HMEAE BEXH
BT EEMBT - RAABEE
RAEE2HEE-

BREMFERIN HPIEBFZEGEB T TE
MBEARE BHELZHE BEXEAERS &
EREMERT P B L ABEHNEMEKX
R o

HMEREAZESRRIEN SHHARMEN
BEBBLMMEBEERERE R WA
ABAAEAEMER AT ERFIE LN
PREREMEMER  UREERNERLT
E RO By #E 4 A



Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§

Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lam Sung Wan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 12 March 2019
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

mE BRI R

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

As at As at
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 ) 2018
\ R=B-NE RZZTNF
W +=A=+—8H —H=+—H
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment IERY T 7 1,244,569 1,006,425
Land use rights + b A 8 187,310 171,856
Intangible assets BEE 9 6,899,997 2,531,828
Investments in associates RBERAI2®RE 10 396,685 371,444
Investment in a jointly controlled entity NERNEHIEE 2IRE 11 7,085 5,100
Financial assets at fair value through other AanEEidfEl
comprehensive income HE gt AEMiRE
Wes 2 SR EE 12 159,197 -
Available-for-sale financial assets AEHESREE 12 - 80,672
Deferred income tax assets REFTEIMEE 13 111,593 80,346
Other non-current assets HindEmeh & E 15,874 16,144
9,022,310 4,263,815
Current assets RBEE
Inventories s 14 896,243 766,005
Trade and other receivables 5 N E A EYRIE 15 1,540,188 1,456,484
Financial assets at fair value through ARTEESELEEH
profit or loss ARG SREE 16 574,298 -
Available-for-sale financial assets AP EemEE 16 - 102,000
Short-term time deposits 2 B 7E HAT7 X 17 1,606,790 1,076,955
Cash and cash equivalents REeRBEFEY 17 5,535,601 6,635,651
10,153,120 10,037,095
Total assets BEE 19,175,430 14,300,910
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves attributable to AREEREBFEA
the Company’s equity holders BAERARG#E
Share capital Hﬁﬁ 18 318,647 318,647
Reserves & 19 2,571,885 2,343,573
Retained earnings RE & 20 8,863,604 8,601,342
11,754,136 11,263,562
Non-controlling interests FEEFIERE S 1,991,282 1,854,775
Total equity mrER 13,745,418 13,118,337
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FERBEME
Borrowings B 3 21 2,756,438 -
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFTFHAE 13 254,520 81,386
Trade and other payables B 5 &AM ER RIE 22 800 25,326
3,011,758 106,712
Current liabilities REBAE
Borrowings K 21 933,701 210,000
Trade and other payables B 5 N EM B IR 22 996,866 657,949
Current income tax liabilities BHIMSHaE 264,598 207,912
Contract liabilities aRaE 6 223,089 -
2,418,254 1,075,861
Total liabilities waeE 5,430,012 1,182,573
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 19,175,430 14,300,910

The notes on pages 95 to 219 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
KMELZLT
Chairlady

FE

FISE29EMMERANGZ AW B RMRNER

#B1n -

Mr. Xiong Qing
REOH T4

Director

EF
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Consolidated Income Statement

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

mEWER

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 2018 31 March 2018
BE-T-N\& HE-_Z-N\&F
+=ZHB=+—-H —A=+—~8
EhiEA EFE
Note (Restated)
(s (&)
Continuing operations: BEREER:
Revenue EEH 6 3,058,707 3,628,116
Cost of goods sold HEM AR 24 (1,108,902) (1,164,189)
Gross profit ER 1,949,805 2,463,927
Other income and other gains - net H AW A R E A M zs — 558 23 122,323 195,388
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSGHEERS 24 (208,417) (186,623)
Administrative expenses THER 24 (574,345) (721,259)
Net impairment losses on financial assets CREERBELFE (1,616) (19,289)
Operating profit EERR 1,287,750 1,732,144
Finance income IR T ON 154,344 122,755
Finance costs BBERA (76,913) (3,578)
Finance income - net B A — 558 26 77,431 119,177
Share of profit of associates and AN Nk
a jointly controlled entity BRZAMN 10, 11 9,776 8,232
Profit before income tax BRBLATBF 1,374,957 1,859,553
Income tax expense FriSHt 27 (320,805) (349,687)
Profit from continuing operations BELEEE s ANE
for the period/year FERR 1,054,152 1,509,866
Discontinued operation: RIEREER:
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operation for BRI ST 2 NEERS
the period/year FERMN/ (FE) 28 136,839 (113,746)
Profit for the period/year RUE FEER 1,190,991 1,396,120
Attributable to: PEfh
Equity holders of the Company RARIEREA A 1,017,959 1,263,797
Non-controlling interests JEIE SR 173,032 132,323
1,190,991 1,396,120
Earnings/(loss) per share for profit from AEE FEADTER
continuing operations and discontinued BREAERLRBERLER
operation attributable to the Company’s RUEREERNER
equity holders for the period/year &,/ (F8R) RMB cents RMB cents
AR¥ES ARES
Basic and diluted: EARREE:
Continuing operations BECEXEB 29 27.78 43.22
Discontinued operation BRIHC R 29 4.97 (2.56)
32.75 40.66
The notes on pages 95 to 219 are an integral part of these Z95E219H MM ARG AP IEHRROEE

consolidated financial statements.

#B1n -

91



92

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 2k AR 2= 2018 Annual Report 43§

Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

mEEEKRER

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
Bz BHE
= N s
+=A =A
=+—H =+—H
IERfEA ILFE
(Restated)
(g&&E5))
Profit for the period/year 0 FERA 1,190,991 1,396,120
Other comprehensive income: Hitt2mEU:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss T AJE# 7 E 2 1875 49 H H
Fair value changes of equity investments WAREBETEBEESFHTA
at fair value through other comprehensive Hiiralam s emEE2
income, net of tax K& AE 26,408 -
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss A E# 7 2 1Bz A E A
Fair value changes of available-for-sale financial AHEESRMEEZKEIE
assets, net of tax NREE - (39,458)
Currency translation differences on foreign BINEB c B E =58
operations 103,365 (142,588)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of HEMBRRERRZ
a subsidiary HINEE 1 29,519 -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) EE FERBEHEMEZE
for the period/year, net of tax W% (FE) 159,292 (182,046)
Total comprehensive income FHE FERBRERE
for the period/year, net of tax e bo] 1,350,283 1,214,074
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  FE(G 2 UK B %8 :
Equity holders of the Company RATIERFEEA 1,171,899 1,088,980
Non-controlling interests PSS 178,384 125,094
1,350,283 1,214,074
Total comprehensive income attributable to KAFERBEEAELEZE
equity holders of the Company arises from: WasBERE:
Continuing operations SFEICEET 1,017,430 1,167,590
Discontinued operation ISR 154,469 (78,610)
1,171,899 1,088,980

The notes on pages 95 to 219 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

FEISE219EMM ARG A M RMRNER
#B1n -
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KLAREREARY
Non-

Share Retained controlling Total

Note capital  Reserves  earnings Total  interests equity

st e BE  REEH Bt RESMER 988

Balance at 1 April 2017 H-E-tEMA-A 86T 99764 858166 | 986577 7033 10606912

Fa vl changes on avalable-orsde financel assets netof tx ~— TREESBAEZRRENLAERT 19 - (34 o T - (34

Curency transaton diferences EHAgRE - (11539 - (135359 7209 (142589)

Profit or he year RERET - - 189 | 126379 1333 13910
Total comprehensive income for the year ended BEZ2-N\EZR=r-RLEEM

31 March 2018 PENREE - (B 1263797 | 1088980 1509 1214074
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners; HALTREANRS:

Appropriatons from et proft BEHER 19,20 S B (193283) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controling nterests WFEHEERE ARG - - - - (20954 (2095
sue of new shres to non-<ontroling nterests of Huabao Flaours & - ZEERRGAERAA ([EERA )

Fragrances Co,, Lt {*Huabao Flavours”) MR ERR AR - 13861 S| 135860 965981 231184
Adeitonal investment in non-sholly owned subsiiaries AR ENELT - “7) - 479) m (150)
Acquistion of equty inerest n iangyi Yianghai Bilogical Technology Wi TRE G4 RERAT

Co, Ltd *Jiangs Yianghal" ([IEEA]) 2 ER - - - - 616 616
Capttal injecton fom non-controling nterests R ENBAT Rl ER - - - - 3975 3975
Fina cividends for he year ended 31 March 2017 paid to shareholders EFFEZE-F—+F=A=T-BILEEZ

LT 0 - - 56800 | 676800 - 7680
Iteri and specal dhidends for th six months ended BRREZE-S-tFAA=TRLARAL

30 September 2017 paid to shareholders R RERRE 2 - - 05| (@057 - (05w
Totaltransactions with owners REEARREE - 1SBE6 (1190621) | 3805 W96 12973
Balance at 31 March 2018 HW-§-NEZf=1-B 38647 2303573 8601342 | 11263562 N84T 13118337
Balance at 1 April 2018 N-5-NEBR-R BG4 23BETZ 80134 | 1263562 ASATIS 13,183
Fai value changes on financial assets at farvalue throughother —— HIAA BB EE AR B AR MG ANEL

comprehenshe income, net of tax SHEE/RBENAAERS 19 - 26,408 - 26,408 - 26,408
Currency ranslation differences EHAREE - %013 - 9,013 538 103,365
Release of exchange resenve upon disposalof a subsidary HENBATKEN IERE - 29519 - 29,519 - 29519
Profit for the period THREH - - 1099 | 1099 1B 1190991
Total comprehensive income for the ning months ended BECR-N\ETZR=t-RLAfRM

31 December 2018 EJiler - 153940 1,017,959 | 1171899 178384 1350283
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners. ERLEERANRE:

Appropriations fiom net profit BUHIRN 19,20 = 3N (14372) = = =
Dividends peid to non-controling neress WIEEHEERERARE - - - - (3963 (39603)
Acquition of equiy nterestin Hunan Jshou Minzu Materidls Co, Ltd WEAE L &EREHERAT

(*Hunan Jshou') (EEEEDk 3 3 - - - - 1750 1750
Disposal of  subsiiary HEREDRA b - - - = (5,804) (5,804)
Capttal ijecton fom non-controling nterests FEGIEREERN B - - - - 1800 1,800
Repurchase of shares mERR 18 - - (352) (352) = (352)
Fina dividends for he year ended 31 March 2018 paid to shareholders EFFEZE-F-N\FZA=T-BILEEZ

Brhe 0 - - (ds3s3) | (4053%3) - (as3%3)
Iterm cvidends for the six months ended EREZ-Z-NENAZTRILAERZ

30 September 2018 payable to shareholders HERE Ji) - - (26200 [ (75,620) - (5620
Total transactions with owners SEEALRAE - WA (5560 | (81328 (18T)  (13.200)
Balance at 31 December 2018 W-§-NE+ZA=1-R 318647 257885 8863604 | 11754136 1991282 13745418
The notes on pages 95 to 219 are an integral part of these SF95E219HMN ARG AP IEHEROEE

consolidated financial statements.

#B1in -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

RERTREBR

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018
BE HE
“E-N\§ “E-N\F
t=A=t-H ZA=t—A
i 3E IEAM@A tEE
Cash flows from operating activities EETH HENE
Cash generated from operations EEELVES 33 1,475,538 1,850,302
Income tax paid BERMEH (242,632) (311,640)
Net cash generated from operating activities EETHEECHETE 1,232,906 1,538,662
Cash flows from investing activities RETBNRERE
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERI B AR 31 (4,591,054) (22,346)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HEHBRRMER 32 207,146 -
Acquisition of an associate WEEs 20 A (17,450) -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through BANAREESEREZHEA
other comprehensive income HEpmalhia  emeE (48,331) -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AR A EEFEAEZE:H A
BRZeHEE (579,660) -
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets BAELECREE - (470,893)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HEURAEEFTEAEEDHA
fair value through profit or loss BRZeBEE 293,922 -
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets ~ HE A L ES B A EFEFUE = 468,880
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, BADE MEREE
land use rights and intangible assets THFERERENEE (265,114) (130,916)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE BERRXEMERE 33 5,694 7,739
Short-term time deposits placed FEARHBTHER (529,835) (352,807)
Dividend received Bl E 10,161 13,489
Interest received BUHE 138,843 110,091
Net cash used in investing activities RETBAZESFE (5,375,678) (376,763)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEBHNELTE
Dividends paid to shareholders ELESEE (405,353) (997,378)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests IR RS RS (39,623) (23,205)
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests FEGIEREREATEZABNE 1,800 2,315,817
Acquisition of additional interests in RFFEH RN ER B AR
a subsidiary from non-controlling interests FIMER - (750)
New hank borrowings MBRITER 3,580,389 210,000
Repayment of short-term bank borrowings BEEHETER (100,250) (75,500)
Repurchase of shares EE:33n) (352) -
Interest paid BRAE (95,999) (16,879)
Net cash generated from financing activities RETHEEZREFE 2,940,612 1,412,105
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents ~ BE&RBELZEY (BD) /EMNZE (1,202,160) 2,574,004
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the periodiyear Ei#]/E#) 284 kE £ EEY 6,635,651 4,177,807
Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents ~ E¥BEHBEE KRS EENNTE 102,110 (116,160)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period/year Hi%X/ EXzBERESEEY 17 5,535,601 6,635,651

FOSEIE MM ARG A M FREMEE
i3 -

The notes on pages 95 to 219 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
mainly engaged in the research and development, production,
distribution and sale of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw
materials, aroma raw materials and condiment products in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Ms. Chu Lam Yiu
("Ms. Chu"), who is the Chairlady of the Board of Directors,
holds approximately 74% beneficial equity interest in the
Company as at 31 December 2018.

On 4 September 2018, the Group completed the acquisition
of 100% equity interest in Jiahao Foodstuff Limited and
its subsidiaries (”Jiahao Foodstuff”), for a consideration
of USD695,985,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB4,745,437,000). Jiahao Foodstuff were principally
engaged in the production, sales, marketing and distribution
of condiment products predominantly to restaurants in China.
Further details are set out in Note 31.

On 2 October 2018 (Florida time), VMR Products LLC (“VMR
Products”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
entered into a disposal agreement with JUUL Labs. Inc
and its subsidiary to effect the disposal of all of the issued
and outstanding units of VMR Products. The Group has
approximately 62.7% indirect interest of the issued and
outstanding units of VMR Products. The consideration of the
disposal was approximately USD31,352,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB215,679,000). VMR Products was engaged
in the design, production, assembly, integration, marketing, sale
and distribution of electronic cigarettes, independent from other
segments of the Group, of which related results were presented
as discontinued operations, and the comparative figures are
restated accordingly. Further details are set out in Note 28.

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

1.

—RER
EEHEEZERERAFA([ARARER
EAMALAERRER G -HaMiEs
& ik A Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °

ARARMBNDEIERERRARZMBERA
Al kb

RRABBEERAF - RARAIRHEKER
A(IAERE]) 2EBETEETEARLME
(TFBEDARRER LE DHEIHEES
BOERRE FRHEAKRER  RMNE
HE(RREDDARRZEERTR 1
“E-N\FTA=FT—B RZEHEEAR
BIH74% 2 #es o

RZZE—N\FAANA REBEZKKERS
RMBRAGREMNBRAR ([EXREM])Z
100% A% # - Y2 (& X {8 49 /2 3= 7T695,985,000
(SR AREEAL,745,437,0007T) 5 R
MEENRELEE -HE 2HEDHEAKRE
W EEERFBEINEE -FBEHNGRETE
WERMIEE3T o

WZZE—NE+A B (HEBERR)
AEEZIEEZEWERTVMR Products LLC
(VMR Products ] ) » #2JUUL Labs, Inc. & E -+
NEIEE W - LHE VMR ProductsZ 2%
31T R AR 1T B AL o 7N & [ B 5 # A VMR
Products® # 47 J2 i K171 B8 A1 2 62.7 % &
& HEREHN AZEIT31,352,000 (HHERL
AR #215,679,0007T) ° VMR Products® £
WER EE -HEE BE HE HELD
HEFE EEXEBBYURASEEMERS
#e VMR ProductsiA A B9 fEl 2 B R A K
mREINARIEEEER  EEBRBTELE
P FHIBE AR RE R M 28 -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

On 11 December 2018, the Board of Directors of the Company
announced that the financial year end date of the Company has
been changed from 31 March to 31 December commencing
from the financial period ended 31 December 2018 to align
the Company'’s financial year end date with that of the Group's
PRC subsidiaries. Accordingly, the current financial period covers
nine months from 1 April 2018 to 31 December 2018, and
thereby the figures of the comparative periods are not directly
comparable.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of RMB (“RMB’'000"”) unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 March 2019.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the period/years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
financial statements are for the Group.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap.622.

(i)  Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a historical cost basis, except
for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
which are carried at fair value.

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

1.

—REH (&)

RZZ-N\F+-A+— B ADASHEH
MBEFE#EEEM=A=+—B2EAR+T -
A=+—A DEASERFEERERLZT
RAMBRFEAEHA B YARE-T—N
F+-A=+—ALMBABER- Bl &
MREEEE-T—\FONA-BE-T—N
FE+=A=+—ALNMEA MR R EE
PETRE AL -

ARG EPMBHRRGERZEHAEIN AUARE
FTR(TARET T IIR - Aira P B #REK
ER-T-NF=A+_HESFeHET

%o

TEETBRBE

RAEUAGAVBRRMEAN T EGHHER
HRTX -BRARBEIN LEBREMZ
WEFTE R FENERER A a %
BEREERS -

21 mEEE
() EBFEBUBHEEAREELT
161

REBOERE M IERER TIRE
BERNERMBREEN (&
BMBHREEL]) REE AR K
158622 F 1) 15 7E AR il ©

(i) EERFZE
RRABERE M B MR TIIZE LK
RERS - EREREZARR
BEAEEHEZHFAHEMEE
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The following standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year

beginning on or after 1 April 2018:

. HKFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

. HKFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts’ with

Customers

. ‘Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions’ — Amendments to HKFRS

2

o Annual Improvements 2014-2016 cycle

° "Transfers to Investment Property’ — Amendments
to HKAS 40
° Interpretation 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions

and Advance Consideration’

The Group had to change its accounting policies and
make modified retrospective adjustments as a result
of adopting HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15. The impact of
the adoption of these two standards are disclosed
in Note 3 and the new accounting policies adopted
are set out in Note 2.11 and Note 2.23 below. Most
of the other amendments listed above did not have
significant impact on the operating results and
financial position for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 or any prior period and is not likely

to affect future periods.

mEMBWRME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
2. FERETHREAE (H)

21 RBEE (MF)
(i) KEBEFRABIFETHEMEHHIE
Y-/}
AEBR-_Z—N\FHA—ABH
TR AR B RS B O ER A R B E R
MABET A -

o EHBUBMEERNESR [
mMIE]

e EBAAMBHEEAFISHK
[BEFPAKKA]

e FHEUBHmMEENF2R
(BRTA) ARG BERX
NHZZHDENRGE]

o 2014 E2016F A H) 7 F
EE§i

o EBWHEAIFIOR (1]
x) — [WRREN %]

o REFE22R[INEXZ NI
HHRAE]

R IRAE B I 3RS XA E95%
REAUBREERE 155 A%
EEFRESBERIEL&E
FTHB R o RN Z M IE A AIAY
FERKEIRE MRADTS
FFER RS T X FE2.11 R BT 5
2.23 c ERARLA S ET I M AR R [
HE-_Z—-N\F+=-A=+—H
IEUE B EARS - BARD 4 S Ko ok Ak Hf
MM EEE R BRRERT
MERFE-
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for
31 December 2018 reporting periods and have
not been early adopted by the Group. The Group's
assessment of the impact of these new standards and
interpretations is set out below.

HKFRS 16, ‘Leases’

Nature of change

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result
in almost all leases being recognised on the balance
sheet, as the distinction between operating and
finance leases is removed. Under the new standard,
an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a
financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The
only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
the Group’s operating leases. As at the reporting
date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of RMB153,371,000 (Note 34). The
Group estimates that approximately 51.2% of these
relate to payments for short-term and low value
leases which will be recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. The remaining
lease commitments will result in the recognition of
an asset and a liability for future payments and will
affect the Group’s profit and classification of cash
flows.

mEMBWRME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

2.

FESHHRBE (H)
21 REEXE(HF)
(iv) [ERRAZ T ERIREFE

ETHeF R RRBCHME
TER-_FE-NF+_A=1+—
B $RhE MER G £ BAREETR
BIRPRM AEBHZTEILR
EERZENFHEIR T

BB EHREERE165%  [HHE]
gty
BAEMBHmEENEZI6RE R
2016F 1 A& R EKLEHE
MEpEHENT 289 2 M
ENEERNETMBEHEATR
MAWEEBBERNTER  RIBH
ER-EE(HEBEEMERE)
MENHeNESRABEERR
FRo-eEERRNERMEEER
o

HEANSFEEBETERERXR

=8 e

g

hEAEeFEXEAEELER
EMgitRE-BILEZHREAE
AEEBETHHENCERS
#4E B AR #153,371,000 (Ff 5E
34) c REBEEF  WERER L
512% 4 REHMEEERESN
30 RS EGA ISR RE
REBE B THWHERELES A
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 16, ‘Leases’ (Continued)

Date of adoption by the Group

Mandatory for financial years commencing on or
after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the Group does
not intend to adopt the standard before its effective
date. The Group intends to apply the simplified
transition approach and will not restate comparative
amounts for the year prior to first adoption.

There are no other standards that are not yet
effective and that would be expected to have a
material impact on the entity in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

2.2 Consolidation

(a)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

mEMBWRME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying amount
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change
to other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the income
statement.

mE M BRERME
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

(ir)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform
with the Group's accounting policies.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequent accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. 1t means the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

()

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group's investment in associates includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the Group's
share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interests in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(b) Associates (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying
value and recognises the amount adjacent to
share of profit/(loss) of an associate in the income
statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group’s
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor's interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(c) Jointly controlled entity

The Group has applied HKFRS 11
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“Joint

arrangements” to all joint arrangements. According
to HKFRS 11, Investments in joint arrangements are
classified either as joint operations or joint ventures,
depending on the contractual rights and obligations
each investor has. The Group has assessed the
nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When
the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group's net investment in the joint
ventures), the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures
have been changed to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

2.4

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’'s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
Company's functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HKD") and the consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB, which is the Group's
presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances
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Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net

investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in

the consolidated income statement within

income and other gains — net”.

"“other

Changes in the fair value of debt securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as
available for sale are analysed between currency
translation differences resulting from changes in the
amortised cost of the securities and other changes
in the carrying amount of the securities. Translation
differences related to changes in amortised cost
are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes
in carrying amount are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities
classified as available for sale, are included in other

comprehensive income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly
controlled entity that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the equity holders of the company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group’s losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group's ownership interest in associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group's
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of
construction of property, plant and equipment incurred
plus interest capitalised less any impairment losses. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction in
progress until such time the relevant assets are completed
and available for their intended use.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Buildings 20-35 years
Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5-10 years
Leasehold improvements 2-5 years or

over the lease term,
whichever is shorter
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other income and other gains — net”,
in the consolidated income statement.

Land use rights

Land use rights are up-front payments to acquire long-
term interests in the usage of land. They are stated at cost
and charged to the consolidated income statement over
the remaining period of the lease on a straight-line basis,
net of any impairment losses.

Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating
segment level.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(9

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense
and is not subsequently reversed.

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalised separately from
goodwill and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the intangible assets
over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses are
shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licenses
acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of trademarks and
licenses over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 20
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§

mEMBWRME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

2.9

Intangible assets (Continued)

(d) Computer software
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5
years.

(e) Patents
Patents include purchased technology and skills
acquired from third parties. They have a finite
useful life and carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the technology and
skills over their estimated useful life of 3 to 10 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use, are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale
and that represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area
of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations
are presented separately in the consolidated income
statement.

2.11 Investments and financial assets
(a) Classification

From 1 April 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

mEMBWRME

(BB EEAEIN FESEOUARETILIR)
IREHBRAE (H)

2.

2.10

2.1

BRI
ERIEEBEEBCHEXD BRFHE
HEZHERED  MZBOEERB L
TBEBRLELE E-HAEZ
—%9»&%&@%%&%%@@ 14
EREEMRBZMBAR -BRIEE
BzREENREWRERDFHZS -

RERERMEE
(a) £H&

B2018F4A 1R NEEBE
SREBENDAUTTERR:

. ﬁ%?ﬁﬂ%iﬁ’&ﬁﬁ@%%(
u*)\ﬁ{miﬁqy E‘Zﬂ+
)\Té!ﬁﬁ) WEemEE: &

o HIREERAENZRE
o

FZORBRREAEBERSRME
ENEBRALBSRENGH

(58

?f?ﬁﬁ/bﬁ@ﬁgzg?ﬁﬁm e

mRERSTHABREREMEE
Wt BLIFFHER S T AR
éﬁﬁm Yoas & B R e A SR BUR
RALEEZEEN I8 HERRTT
BRI HEHEERE - HEEREA
RINBAARBEFAEREEY
FEAH A 2 E -

REBEEE

g %%ﬁéZ%i‘%
BAEHEEH

BEBKRE-

tl;w



Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§ 115

mEMBWRME

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(BB EEAEIN FESEOUARETILIR)
IREHBRAE (H)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

211 RERESREE (H)

(b) Recognition and derecognition (b) MERERAKIUIEZR
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets BEHRBALLEZEREELER
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which A TUER X5 B EARE B
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. HEEANLEZEEZH - B
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights CREEMSREAEZENE
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have REBMFERLEE MAKEE K
expired or have been transferred and the Group has VB RE 2 4@ K B A 3 B Ko [0 ¥ 3E
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of EERRIEEReMEE-
ownership.

(c) Measurement () itE

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

2.

TEEHBEBE (H)

211 RERESREE (H)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:
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. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for

collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(0

Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/(losses)
and impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in
which it arises.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the
consolidated income statement as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are
not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.

(d) Impairment

From 1 April 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost
and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 4(b) for further details.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

2.12

2.13

Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but
has elected not to restate comparative information.
As a result, the comparative information provided
continues to be accounted for in accordance with
the Group’s previous accounting policy.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14

2.16

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
inventories sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to owners of the Company until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects is included in equity attributable to
owners of the Company.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17

2.18

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18

2.19

2.20

Borrowing costs (Continued)

All other borrowing costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense and exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to
interest costs. The exchange gains and losses that are
an adjustment to interest costs include the interest rate
differential between borrowing costs that would be
incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional
currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred on
foreign currency borrowings. Such amounts are estimated
based on interest rates on similar borrowings in the
entity’s functional currency.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entity operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax
Inside basis difference

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the reporting date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income

tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future
and there is sufficient taxable profit available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised.

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Employee benefits

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme™) in Hong Kong which is generally
funded through payments to insurance companies
under defined contribution plan. It pays contributions to
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. Moreover, all the employees
of the Group’s entities incorporated in Mainland China of
the PRC (the “Mainland China”) participate in employee
social security plans, including pension, medical, housing
and other welfare benefits, organised and administered
by the local governments. The Group also makes defined
contribution to retirement schemes managed by the
insurance company in accordance with German regulation
and rules for the employees of the subsidiary located
in Germany. In the United States of America (“USA"),
the Group makes defined contributions at certain
percentage of monthly salary to retirement and medical
schemes managed by the federal government of USA
in accordance with US rules and regulations. It is the
federal government’s responsibility to pay the retirement
benefits to those staff who retire. The Group has no
further payment obligations once these contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments
is available. No pension obligation is required under the
Botswana laws and regulation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Share-based payment

(a) Share option scheme

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

J excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

J including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in
advance of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recognising the expense during the period between
service commencement period and grant date.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

mE M BRERME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
2. FERETHREAE (H)

222 URHBEZfFziME
(a) BERETSZ
RARERE —BIEEREN AR
DS T & - BB %A &
TREBREEMNRBIESLASEE
HETA(BRE NLE-RE
BBV T B AR T HE 4 AR 5
MARBERRAEA -EREHR
MBS H2RBERDNERE
ZARBEEEBERE:

o  BREEMTHEN (HINE
BARE):

. TRBEEETSRBEE
(PImMBEF] 3% % KB E
R BT AR
EROPE: R

. BETEEBEEE (HIN
BEEERE)NYE-

FMEERRMRFHRTEREESR
FATRE A TITREBEESE R
HE - BRANATEERBHRR
R BEUHESTAMER
TE AT ATRE MR AT BV BAR - SN X
LERT BEARERLBHZ
AR AR Fit X BRI Qe
EE R R GHERE B
Hlz IR AR R EH - &5
E¥RE MR REKEIFEDHREA
MRS R ERT Y r] 178
MBS B MR - TR W
KR REEER (WA
& WHESFELRERE-



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.22 Share-based payment (Continued)

(a) Share option scheme (Continued)
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When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

2.23 Revenue recognition

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales
of goods and services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of
discounts and after eliminating sales with the Group
companies. The Group recognises revenue when the
amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity; and when specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities, as described

below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of
the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of the asset may transfer
over time or at a point in time. Control of the asset
is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

° creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an
enforce able right to payment for performance

completed to date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(9

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the
Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the contract
costs incurred up to the end of reporting period
as a percentage of total estimated costs for each
contract.

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effect of a financing component if it is
significant.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flows discounted at
original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FERHBEBRE (HF)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.24 Research and development costs 224 WERK

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating
to the design and testing of new or improved products)
are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are fulfilled:

(@) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(b)  the management intends to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

(c)  there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic benefits;

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

(f)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life,
not exceeding five years.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense
are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Development assets are tested for impairment annually.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25

2.26

2.27

Operating lease

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor)
are charged to the consolidated income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the final
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
and interim dividends are approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors.
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3.

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. B BXE2H
The Group adopted HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 from 1 April 2018, AEEE-_Z-NFOA-—BRATEHEY
which result in changes in accounting policies (new policies are BRE LR FEFME 1S5 EH T SRR
described in Note 2.11 and Note 2.23) and adjustments to the (e st R E M 211 &M 552.235]
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. TR ENGE M BEREERSENARE-
In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 9, KB BB SRS ERFEOF A B E Mg
comparative figures have not been restated. As a consequence, AEEBRTHLERAMESE Al ERHE S
any adjustments to carrying amounts of financial assets or MEEXNEBERAEBENEZRIEAFRAE
liabilities are recognised at the beginning of the current FYBFW AT -ABER  KIRMEEAE
reporting period, with the difference recognised in opening WEERAZHVRE AL  BEEEBTLR
retained earnings. Provisions for impairment have not been Hf R4 Sk o
restated in the comparative period, as well.
The Group adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified retrospective REBEZEREERNEBHA T ERME B
approach which means that the cumulative impact of the B EAERIE 155 @ - BIRIE 8 REITZ I
adoption (if any) will be recognised in retained earnings as of 1 AEZARHRATES EAFARFEVRT
April 2018 and that comparatives will not be restated. WathfE AEBEETERARE TKRAE RS
BERENE RAEHE-_T—N\FHA—H
RIE ST A EETER - Btk EEAREM
Lt 5% HA P % o
3.1 Impact on the financial statements 31 HHMBHRIRNEE
The following table shows the adjustments recognised for TEABEMEMAR TEERAXY
each individual line item. Line items that were not affected ZHRE - TXHRMEELAE LT
by the changes have not been included. The adjustments R RE o
are explained in more detail as below.
31 March
1 April
originally 2018
presented HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 Restated
EBUK BEBHE
A HEER BEEA
—B-N\E FIHETH  HEISHETH N
= ENER ENE ZE-N\EF
=t—8 AR AR mA—A
Consolidated statement of
financial position (extract) RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EHEESER (FR) ARETR AR®TRn AR®Tx ARETxR
Available-for-sale financial
assets (“AFS") AftHESREE 182,672 (182,672) - -
WAREETER
HEBHFARLMES
FvOCl WENTmEE 80,672 - 80,672
WARBERE
BEEEH AR
FVPL TREE 102,000 - 102,000
Contract liabilities aRa%E - 25,590 25,590
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERNR 683,275 = (25,590) 657,685
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact of adoption

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments (“HKAS 39") that relate to the recognition,
classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities; derecognition of financial instruments;
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.
HKFRS 9 also significantly amends other standards dealing
with financial instruments such as HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments — Disclosures.

The total impact on the Group's retained earnings and
reserves due to classification and measurement of financial
instruments as at 1 April 2018 is as follows:

mE M BRERME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
3. EBREH (HK)

3.2

ERMBHELENFESRERIA] K
RN S
SRRREERABT B BREEANSE
9%t EERK T BB GFHERIFE3R B
TA([BEGEREIGR]) b F R
TMEEMT BB BENER 2 EMG
EEMTANKIER 2REEN
WM PR HIRR - BEW RS
ERFSEHHMESH T AMABNE
A (Pl : BEMBREEER: &
BMTRE-HE)BETTERNEIE-

RZE-—NFMOMA—B AEENRE
ANMEHEHENERTANDBEME

XEWMFELT:

AFS Fvodl Retained
Reserve Reserve earnings
NAARERE
sTER
HBETA
HipRE
AfHE e 25 85
SREE SRMEE
fitfE =] REEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B sE AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
Opening balance - HKAS 39 B
BB R ERERE395 50,136 - -
Reclassify unlisted equity securities ~ 3F a8 U Al it 1 &
from AFS to FVOC| EMEEBEDRENLR
EBEGTEAEEEHHI AL
A NENSREE (a)(ii) (50,136) 50,136 -
Total adjustments RAFMENEBNERE
from adoption (50,136) 50,136 -
Opening balance - HKFRS 9 HiEIE - S
EBNKREEREIR - 50,136 -
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3.

(CONTINUED)

(Continued)

(a)

ings Limited EHFEFIZARARAF 2018 Annual Report 3§

mEMBWRME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEtEBXEH (&)
3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact of adoption 32 EAMBEHREENFS(€mMIA| &K
AFEANNTE (&)
Classification and measurement (a) ZEANE
The Group’s management has assessed which EREHEENTEMBREKE
business models apply to the financial assets held by RIESRE B emEEMETAT
the Group and has classified its financial instruments - WEEERMIASEREAEMY
into the appropriate HKFRS 9 categories. The main BREERFFA T MAEE
effects resulting from this reclassification are as B-ENpHMNFELENT:
follows:
AFS FvOdI FVPL
UAREE
ffE2ER HUAAREE
H#®it A FEAH
Hitizes  #EFA
AHEE W & H9 BEMN
tREE <SREE <LSREE
Financial assets
-1 April 2018 Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
CREE-
“E-N\fWMA—H MaZ ARBTr ARBTn AR%Tx
Closing balance R=ZZ-N\F
31 March 2018 - HKAS 39 ZA=t+t—-HAHX
ERR-BEME
& E R 5395 182,672 - -
Reclassify bank financial products ~ $R774% BLE @ Al 4
from AFS to FVPL EEMEEENHE
KAnBENERR
2 ABRNSR
EE (i) (102,000) - 102,000
Reclassify unlisted equity securities ~ 3F - Fi#E 28 & A& 1€ A] fit
from AFS to FVOCI HESRHEEEDE
EURAEEFER
HE B AHMES
W e i EE (ii) (80,672) 80,672 -
Opening balance NR-E—NEMA—H
1 April 2018 - HKFRS 9 MO8 -BB0K
& RS9 - 80,672 102,000

(i) Reclassification from AFS to FVPL for bank

financial products

Certain investments in bank financial products
were reclassified from AFS to FVPL. They do
not meet the HKFRS 9 criteria for classification
at amortised cost, because their cash flows
do not represent solely payments of principal
and interest. There was no impact on retained

earnings at 1 April 2018.

()

ARG ETHEEEDH
BIAR R BB EAREE
FARm AT B EEZIRIT
= @Em
HIRTEMEENRENA
HEENSREEREHN R
BRIAREBEFERRE
B ABSNESREE B
RZRERTMERRAEM
MB-BZF—N\FHOA—
B - 1 Rl U S
B RE B LR 2 -
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact of adoption
(Continued)

(a) Classification and measurement (Continued)

(b)

(ir)

(iif)

Reclassification from AFS to FVOCI for
unlisted equity securities

The Group elected to present in other
comprehensive income changes in the fair
value of all its equity investments in unlisted
securities previously classified as AFS, because
these investments are held as long-term
strategic investments that are not expected
to be sold in the short to medium term. As a
result, equity interest in unlisted companies
with fair value of RMB80,672,000 was
reclassified from AFS to FVOCI on 1 April
2018. There was no impact on retained
earnings at 1 April 2018.

Financial liabilities and derecognition

There is no impact on the Group’s
accounting for financial liabilities, as the
new requirements only affect the accounting
for financial liabilities that are designated
at fair value through profit or loss and the
Group does not have any such liabilities. The
derecognition rules have been transferred
from HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and have not
been changed.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets at
amortised cost subject to HKFRS 9's new expected
credit loss model:

trade receivables

other receivables

The Group was required to revise its impairment
methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these
classes of assets.
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3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact of adoption
(Continued)

(®)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

(ir)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach to providing for expected
credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
requires the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. The
adoption of the simplified expected loss
approach under HKFRS 9 has not resulted
in any additional impairment loss for trade
receivables as at 1 April 2018. Note 4.1(b)
reconciles the loss allowance as at 1 April
2018 to that at the end of the reporting
period.

Other receivables

For other receivables already in place at 1
April 2018, the Group has determined that
reliably assessing the probability of default at
the initial recognition of each financial asset
would result in undue cost and effort. As
permitted by HKFRS 9, the credit provision will
be determined based on whether credit risk
is low only at each reporting date, until the
receivables are derecognised. The adoption
of the expected loss approach under HKFRS 9
has not resulted in any additional impairment
loss for other receivables as at 1 April 2018.
Note 4.1(b) reconciles the loss allowance
as at 1 April 2018 to that at the end of the
reporting period.

Impairment losses of financial assets are
presented separately in the income statement.
As a result, the Group reclassified impairment
losses amounting to RMB19,298,000
recognised under HKAS 39, from
“administrative expenses” to “net impairment
losses on financial assets” in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31
March 2018.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.3 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers -
Impact of adoption

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers from 1 April 2018 which
resulted in changes in accounting policies. The Group
adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified retrospective
approach which means that the cumulative impact of the
adoption (if any) will be recognised in retained earnings
as of 1 April 2018 and that comparatives will not be
restated.

Presentation of contract liabilities

Reclassifications were made as at 1 April 2018 to be
consistent with the terminology used under HKFRS 15:

Contract liabilities previously presented as advances from
customers in “trade and other payables” were reclassified
as at 1 April 2018 to align with the terminology used
under HKFRS 15.

The Group did not introduce any refunds or customer
loyalty programme which is likely to be affected by the
HKFRS 15.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
with material consideration where the period between
the transfer of the promised goods to the customer
and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

No additional cost occurs to fulfil the contract was
identified.

Other than certain reclassification of contract liabilities,
the adoption of HKFRS 15 did not result in any impact to
the retained earnings as at 1 April 2018 as the timing of
revenue recognition on sales of products is not changed.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.3

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers —
Impact of adoption (Continued)

Presentation of contract liabilities (Continued)

The impacts of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on the

consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April
2018 are as follows:

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
3. EBREH (HK)

3.3

BEBRBERELANBEISHKHEFZBE

REENKA| - RARERHLE

BEE BT ()

EA_T NFEOA—RB - RAFEBHH
EREAEISFEE GRS P BRRROF

%;Eizu?:

HKAS 18 HKFRS 15

carrying carrying

amount amount

31 March 1 April

2018  Reclassification 2018

ERMBERE BERMBR

ERIE188 2 EEAIEISH 2

REER REER

—E-N\E —E-N\E

=A=+—H BENE A—H

Contract liabilities ARARE - 25,590 25,590

Trade and other payables B REMENR 683,275 (25,590) 657,685

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. BERERERE

Financial risk factors 41 HBEABRREZE

4.1

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow interest rate risk, and fair value interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not have any
significant price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group identifies
and evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with its
operating units. The Board provides principles for overall
risk management, as well as policies covering specific
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and investing of excess liquidity.
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4,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and
Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through financial
instruments that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency
in which they are measured. The functional
currency of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB, and
the functional currency of the HK subsidiaries
is HKD. The majority of the subsidiaries of the
Group operate in the PRC and most of their
transactions are denominated in RMB. The
Group did not have other significant exposure
to foreign exchange risk.

If HKD and USD had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against RMB during the nine months
ended 31 December 2018, with all other
factors remaining unchanged, the profit after
income tax for the period and equity as at
period end date would have been affected as
follows:
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4,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(iit)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the Group
does not have significant interest-bearing
assets. Fluctuation of market rates does not
have a significant impact to the Group's
performance.

The Group's exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
which are at floating rates, and expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

At 31 December 2018 and 31 March 2018,
if interest rates on borrowings had been 1
percentage points higher/lower, with all other
variables held constant, there would have
been no material impact to the profit after
income tax for the period/year.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because
of investments held by the Group, which
are classified as financial assets at FVPL. The
Group is not exposed to commaodity price risk.

The sensitivity analysis is determined based
on the exposure to price risk of the financial
assets at FVPL at the end of each reporting
period. If the fair values of the financial
assets at FVPL held by the Group had
been 5% higher/lower, profit after tax for
the year would have been approximately
RMB9,343,000 higher/lower for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018 (year
ended 31 March 2018: nil).
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk if counterparties
fail to make payments as they fall due in respect of:

o payment of trade receivables as invoices fall
due under credit terms after being raised.

o payment of other receivables fall due under
credit terms.

For financial assets originated from 1 April 2018, the
following credit risk modelling applies:

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

o internal credit rating
o external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower

o significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same borrower

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 4.

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§
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()

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses of
trade receivables, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The loss
allowance provision as at 1 April 2018 and 31
December 2018 is determined as follows, the
expected credit losses below also incorporate
forward looking information.

At 1 April 2018
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0-90 91days- 181 days - Over
Trade receivables due days 180 days 360 days 360 days Total
g2 BN 0—90H 91—180H 181—360H ##iB360AH &%
Effective expected loss rate  TBiT B A H X 0% 0% 3.73% 41.39%
Gross carrying amount REEE 908,682 110,860 12,872 30,068 1,062,482
Loss allowance provision BiEeH - - 480 12,445 12,925
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NF+ZA=+—

H

0-90 91days- 181 days - Over
Trade receivables due days 180 days 360 days 360 days Total
) LES 0-90H 91-180H 181—360H #iB360H a3
Effective expected loss rate  JE&HA M E = 0% 0.005% 1.14% 52.36%
Gross carrying amount REEE 1,029,914 88,053 23,781 17,304 1,159,052
Loss allowance provision BiEeH - 4 270 9,060 9,334
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 4.

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
() Trade receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance provision for trade
receivables reconciles to the opening loss

allowance for that provision as follows:
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At 31 March 2018

RZZE—N\F=ZA=+—H

(calculated under HKAS 39) (ERB BT ERIFE3950TE) 12,925
Amounts restated through ERBIRE ANE S

opening retained earnings -
At 1 April 2018 RZE—-NFHEHA—H

(calculated under HKFRS 9) (ERBBVBERERENFIRATE) 12,925
Provision for impairment on trade PR B S EBEWETORE

receivables for continuing operations 924
Reversal for impairment on trade SR [B] A% ) | A ZE RS PR R FORUE

receivables for a discontinued

operation (640)
Increase arising from acquisition of W B 52 5 R on P EE AR Y38 0

Jiahao Foodstuff 6
Decrease arising from disposal of HESSEAMERGERAA

Qingdao Qingda Product Co.,LTD (IE8FX]) 2@

("Qingdao Qingda”) (100)
Decrease arising from disposal & VMR Products 2 J& 4>

of VMR Products (347)
Written off as uncollectible [ 8 525 Wt [0 i o 4 (3,434)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F+ZHA=+—8

(calculated under HKFRS 9) (ERNBEBUBRERENESFAE 9,334
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 4., HKREKRERE (&)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 41 HEREKBEZ (E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) =EEE (&)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued) ()  BZEYN(E)
As at 31 December 2018, the gross RZE—N\F+=—A=+—
carrying amount of trade receivables were H - EZEBFHERE
RMB1,159,052,000, and thus the maximum B A AR®1,159,052,000
exposure to loss of trade receivables were T A M A EEXERRBR
RMB1,149,718,000. M ABBEBEAREK

1,149,718,0007T °
(i) Other receivables (i) EMENRHK

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include other receivables. Other receivables
mainly includes notes receivable, prepayments,
deposits, pre-paid charges, deductible input
tax of Value-Added Tax, advances to staff
retention money and others.

The loss allowance provision for other

Hit A AT EN SR
BEBBREMEYRR - K
RUFETEBREBREE -
BNHIE L BENA
LIRS BN E TR
HReREM

H At 8 M5 R P R ML B £ £

receivables reconciles to the opening loss MBEHEOFEFOT
allowance for that provision as follows:
Other
receivables
H 4th FE KK

RZE-NF=A=+—H

(calculated under HKAS 39) (ERBRB G ERIFE3RAHE) 21,111
Amounts restated through BBBMVRERBNENSE

opening retained earnings -

At 31 March 2018

At 1 April 2018 RZZE—NFHNA—AH
(calculated under HKFRS 9) (ERNBEBVBRERERFIRAEH) 21,111

Provision for impairment loss on o qth U R 2 R E R

other receivables 692
Increase arising from acquisition of W B 32 5 R on P EE A Y38 0

Jiahao Foodstuff 642
Written off as uncollectible ] 48 525 W (2] i o 8 (1,752)

RZE—NF+_A=+—H
(ERBBVBERERERFIRTE) 20,693

At 31 December 2018
(calculated under HKFRS 9)




144

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 2k AR 2= 2018 Annual Report 43§

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(©

() Other receivables (Continued)
As at 31 December 2018, the gross
carrying amount of other receivables was
RMB356,949,000, and thus the maximum
exposure to loss of other receivables was
RMB336,256,000.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecast is performed in the operating
entities of the Group. The Directors monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational
needs and that the Group does not breach
borrowing covenants on its borrowing facilities.
Such forecasting takes into consideration the
Group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance,
compliance with internal statement of financial
position ratio targets and if applicable, external
regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12
months equal their carrying balances, as the impact
of discounting is not significant.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 4. BERKRER ()
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 41 BEEEEER (F)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () EMtmEE (&)
Between Between Between Between
Less than 1and 2and 3and 4and
1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years Total
—FUT -FEZWE MEE=F =FENF NEERF @t
Group £8
At 31 December 2018 R=B-NF
t=A=1-H
Borrowings (including interest) &3 (R IEEEFE) 1,116,890 595045 697,879 805792 1,046,656 4,262,262
Trade and other payables BHRAMENTIE
exduding statutory liabilites (N BFEETREER
and advances from customers {30 747,852 4,555 3,993 2,788 - 759,188
1,864,742 599,600 701,872 808,580 1,046,656 5,021,450
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\E
ZA=t-H
Borrowings (including interest) &3 (B F8) 216,195 - - - - 216,195
Trade and other payables BoREMERTIE
exduding statutory liabilities (M BIEETEEER
and advances from customers {73 498,639 8772 14875 581 - 522,867
714,834 8772 14,875 581 - 739,062

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's net current
assets is RMB7,734,866,000 (31 March 2018:
RMB8,961,234,000).

RZE—-—NF+ZZA=+—
B ASB2RBEEFEA
ANER#7,734,866,0007 (- &
—“NFZA=Z+—"H8B: AR
8,961,234,0007T) °
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.2

4.3

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient for
investing activities including acquisition of new businesses.

The Group monitors its capital risk based on the debt-
to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing the net
debt by the total owners’ equity. The Group’s net debt
is calculated as total borrowings (including current and
non-current borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents.
Since the Group’s cash and bank balance was larger than
borrowing amount, the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio is
zero as at 31 December 2018 and 31 March 2018.

Fair value estimation

The following categorises financial instruments carried
at fair value based on the level of inputs to valuation
techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The different
levels have been defined as follows:

- Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2);
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.3

4.4

4.5

Fair value estimation (Continued)

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

The financial assets of level 3 within the fair value
hierarchy were FVOCI and FVPL as at 31 December 2018
and AFS as at 31 March 2018. There were no transfers
into or out of level 3.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2018 and 31
March 2018.

Market approach is adopted in valuation the financial
assets of level 3. There were no changes in valuation
techniques during the period.

Group's valuation processes

The Group's finance department includes a team that
performs the valuation of financial assets required for
financial reporting purposes with the assistance of an
independent valuer when necessary, including level 3 fair
values. This team reports directly to the chief financial
officer (“CFQO"). Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the CFO and the valuation team
at least once every six months, in line with the Group's
reporting dates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at
amortised cost

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

5.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.9.
The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates (Note
9).

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-
tax discount rate or forecast growth rate used
in the value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of
flavours subgroup under flavours and fragrances
segment had been 25.8 percentage points lower,
24.7 percentage points higher or 16.6 percentage
points lower than management’s estimates at
31 December 2018 respectively, with all other
assumptions remaining unchanged, the Group
would not have recognised an impairment of
goodwill in respect of flavours subgroup under
flavours and fragrances segment.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

()]

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-
tax discount rate or forecast growth rate used
in the value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of
fragrances subgroup under flavours and fragrances
segment had been 4.8 percentage points lower,
8.3 percentage points higher or 30.0 percentage
points lower than management’s estimates at
31 December 2018 respectively, with all other
assumptions remaining unchanged, the Group
would have recognised a fully impairment of
goodwill in respect of fragrances subgroup under
flavours and fragrances segment.

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate or forecast growth rate used in the
value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of tobacco
raw materials segment had been 7.0 percentage
points lower, 3.0 percentage points higher or
11.5 percentage points lower than management’s
estimates at 31 December 2018 respectively, with
all other assumptions remaining unchanged, the
Group would not have recognised an impairment
of goodwill in respect of tobacco raw materials
segment.

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate or forecast growth rate used in the
value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of Yancheng
City Chunzhu Aroma Co., Ltd. (“Yancheng
Chunzhu”) under aroma raw materials segment had
been 2.0 percentage points lower, 4.3 percentage
points higher or 10.3 percentage points lower than
management'’s estimates at 31 December 2018
respectively, with all other assumptions remaining
unchanged, the Group would not have recognised
an impairment of goodwill in respect of Yancheng
Chunzhu under aroma raw materials segment.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

()]

®)

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate or forecast growth rate used in the
value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of Jiangxi
Xianghai under aroma raw materials segment had
been 6.8 percentage points lower, 5.1 percentage
points higher or 26.8 percentage points lower than
management’s estimates at 31 December 2018
respectively, with all other assumptions remaining
unchanged, the Group would not have recognised
an impairment of goodwill in respect of Jiangxi
Xianghai under aroma raw materials segment.

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-
tax discount rate or forecast growth rate used
in the value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of
Jiahao Foodstuff under condiment segment had
been 5.1 percentage points lower, 1.4 percentage
points higher or 1.5 percentage points lower than
management’s estimates at 31 December 2018
respectively, with all other assumptions remaining
unchanged, the Group would not have recognised
an impairment of goodwill in respect of condiment
segment.

PRC enterprise income tax and deferred taxation
The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b)

(©

PRC enterprise income tax and deferred taxation
(Continued)

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it's probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

Business combination- Jiahao Foodstuff
Accounting for acquisitions requires the Group to
allocate purchase price to specific assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values at the date of acquisition. In connection with
the business combination of Jiahao Foodstuff (Note
31), the Group has undertaken a process to identify
all assets and liabilities acquired. Judgements made
in identifying all acquired assets and liabilities,
determining the estimated fair value assigned to
each class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
as well as asset’s useful lives, could materially impact
the calculation of goodwill and amortisation charges
in subsequent periods. Estimated fair values are
based on information available at the acquisition
date and on expectations and assumptions that
have been deemed reasonable by management.
Determining the estimated useful lives of intangible
assets acquired also requires judgement.
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6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has organised its operations into four main operating
segments:

(1) Flavours and fragrances;
(2) Tobacco raw materials;
(3) Aroma raw materials; and
(4) Condiment.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors (the “Executive Directors”). The Executive
Directors review the Group's internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors consider the business from the
operation’s perspective and assess the performance of flavours
and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials and
condiment segments.

(1)  Flavours and fragrances segment includes research
and development, production and sale of flavours and
fragrances products.

(2)  Tobacco raw materials segment includes research and
development, production and sale of paper-making
reconstituted tobacco leaves and new materials products
that are innovative, functional and applicable to tobacco
industry.

(3) Aroma raw materials segment includes research and
development, manufacture and sale of aroma raw
materials products that are extracted from natural
materials or generated from chemical process.

(4)  Condiment segment includes production, sales, marketing
and distribution of condiments. This segment was
established following the acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff in
September 2018.

The Innovative tobacco products segment presented as an
independent segment in the preceding year is classified as a
discontinued operation (Note 28).
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(CONTINUED)
The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of operating profit.

The segment information for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 is presented below:

mE M BRERME

ERERTBEN (K)

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

BITEFRE BRI O BT 5

HY IR

BHE_Z-N\F+_A=+—HILEAERZ
DEERZFNWT

Nine months ended 31 December 2018
BZE-E-\E1t-A=1-HLIEA

Innovative
tobacco
Flavours Tobacco Aroma Continuing products
and raw raw operations  (Discontinued
fragrances materials materials  Condiment Others (Total)  operation) Total
%ZE%% %ﬁﬂ%_ﬁ'éu”n .
EE  ERRM ERA Ak Hit  EHEH  (RLEEE) @t
(Note 28)
(Fy&t28)
Total revenue BExE 1,674,710 720,110 513,152 170,979 12 3,078,963 120,586 3,199,549
Inter-segment revenue NEREE (10,315) (5,448) (4,493) - - (20,256) = (20,256)
Segment revenue - net PHLEEFH 1,664,395 714,662 508,659 170,979 12 3,058,707 120,586 3,179,293
Segment result PEEE 952,540 325,092 57,405 23,451 (70,738) 1,287,750 155921 1,443,671
Finance income B 154,344 4 154,348
Finance costs BEMK (76,913) (19,086) (95,999)
Finance incomef(cost) - net ~ BIBMA/ (RERA)
-8 77,431 (19,082) 58,349
Share of profit of associates and FE{R B2 1A )

a jointly controlled entity HREZHER 2B 9,776 - 9,776
Profit before income tax BB AIEF 1,374,957 136,839 1,511,796
Income tax expense Fri&H (320,805) - (320,805)
Profit for the period THREA 1,054,152 136,839 1,190,991
Depreciation FE 21,850 61,286 11,855 2,905 2,804 100,700 1,785 102,485
Amortisation i3 1,750 8,364 12,343 24,534 266 47,257 15,107 62,364

As at 31 December 2018
RZEB-NE+=ZA=+-H
Flavours Tobacco Aroma
and raw raw
fragrances  materials  materials Condiment Others Total
&% ERRH ERA A Hitr @t

5
ok
=
=
/

ot

Segment assets 9,625,781 3,089,171

890,893 5,201,045

368,540 19,175,430
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. ZEHERIHEHR (HF)
(CONTINUED)
The segment information for the year ended 31 March 2018 is BHE_Z-N\F=ZA=+—BLEFEZHE
presented below: BHZ25MT:

Year ended 31 March 2018 (Restated)
HE-Z-\E¥=-A=1+—-HLEE (LE]))

Innovative
tobacco
Flavours Tobacco Aroma Continuing products
and raw raw operations  (Discontinued
fragrances materials materials Others (Total) ~operation) Total
}-*ri%’i?é% MAESM
B BRRK BRE Htty #Bms (REEE) @
(Note 28)
(Mi7E28)
Total revenue pexE 2,233,503 911,646 604,831 993 3,750,973 220,510 3,971,483
Inter-segment revenue AHEHE (18,368) (96,623) (7,866) - (122,857) - (122,857)
Segment revenue - net PHEXE-FE 2,215,135 815,023 596,965 993 3,628,116 220,510 3,848,626
Segment result AHEE 1,287,988 381,303 143,846 (80,993) 1,732,144 (93,902) 1,638,242
Finance income BIBIMA 122,755 2 122,757
Finance costs BERK (3,578) (19,846) (23,424)
Finance income/(cost) - net BBUA/
(RERE) %8 119,177 (19,844) 99,333
Share of profit of associates JEEBE AR 2 BA 8,232 - 8,232
Profit/(loss) before income tax ~ FRER AT &R,/ (B ) 1,859,553 (113,746) 1,745,807
Income tax expense FREH (349,687) - (349,687)
Profit/{loss) for the year ~EERH/ (BE) 1,509,866 (113,746) 1,396,120
Depreciation & 36,962 77312 13,131 1,289 128,694 3918 132,612
Amortisation b £ 13,718 10,257 14,900 2,79 41,669 32,546 74,215
As at 31 March 2018
RZE-\§¥=A=+—H
Flavours Tobacco Aroma  Innovative
and raw raw tobacco
fragrances materials materials products Others Total
GiEi
A ERRK BRE  RERL Hith Bt

5
okr
=
=
/

ot

Segment assets 8,695,901 3,320,044 741,625 224,443 1,318,897 14,300,910
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6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment
without inclusion of unallocated corporate expenses, finance
costs, finance income and share of results of associates and
a jointly controlled entity. This is the measure reported to
chief operating decision makers for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and
31 March 2018 are mainly located in the PRC.

Revenues from external customers are derived from the sales of
flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw materials and aroma raw
materials and condiments to customers mainly located in the
PRC.

Revenue derived from sales made to the single largest external
customer for the nine months ended 31 December 2018
amounted to 13% (year ended 31 March 2018: 15% (restated))
of the Group's total revenue from continuing operations. These
revenues are attributable to flavours and fragrances segment.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Liabilities related to contracts with customers

The Group has recognised the liabilities related to contracts with
customers of R\MB223,089,000 as at 31 December 2018.

(i)  Significant changes in contract liabilities
The Group receives payments from customers based on
billing schedule as established in contracts. Payments are
usually received in advance under the contracts which are
mainly from sales of condiments. The increase in contract
liabilities were mainly attributable to the acquisition of
Jiahao Foodstuff (Note 31).

(ij)  Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
Revenue recognised during nine months ended 31
December 2018 that was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the beginning of the period was
RMB25,062,000.

mEMBWRME
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7. WE -HKBERRE
Furniture,
Plant and Motor  fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
Note Buildings ~ machinery vehicles ~ equipment  improvements  in progress Others Total
Gl 48
(i BF  BERNE HE RRE  BEEB  RHIE ) &
At 31 March 2017 W-E-tERA-H
Cost i 709793 7718879 77402 190,703 74307 17,301 205 1851468
Accumulted depreciaton ZifTE Quassd  (3%8717) (58649 (121,029) (32,483) - [y (85584
Net book amount FASE 165,239 380,16 18793 69678 1184 17,301 253 995,622

Yearended 31 March 2018~ HZ-F-NE

ZR=T-ALER

Net book amount at 1 Apri AMA-REEEE 165,239 380,16 18793 69678 1184 17,301 253 995,622
Other additons hE 1374 19478 1591 128% 4m 9971 - 134,994
Tiansfers E] 4810 1708 - 1131 453 (12,184 - -
Acquiston of equiy nterestin -~ WETAE S

Jingyi Xianghai 1,085 1389 - 49 - 585 - 16,014
Disposals k= 3 - (1,934) (2572) (1219 - (139 - (5,304)
Depreciaton ik (3,971 (67,022 (3,662 (17619) (10083) - 09 (13261
Curency translaton differences ~ EHAEEE 3 (1299) 4 (416) (53) 3 - (179
Net book amount at 31 March = A=T-BETZE 138,569 344,988 14,154 64862 10985 100627 200 1006425
At31 March 2018 R-%-1%zR=1-H
Cost s 717,109 807,794 54,461 200957 8497 100627 205 1966398
Accumulated deprecaton ZifhE (78540)  (462.806) {30 (13609 [01512) - M 95993
Net book amount FEE 138,569 344,988 14,154 64862 10985 100627 200 1006425
Ning months ended BE-E-N

31 December 2018 E+ZR=-RIEABA
Net book amount at 1 Aprl AMA-REEIE 438,569 344,988 14,154 64,362 40985 100627 20 1006425
Other additons HE 965 21003 4853 13,889 7479 203,04 8 251,241
Tiansfers 174 50,536 35,861 - 1434 598 (88,429) - -
Acquiston of equitymterestin-~~ WEEF AR

Jishao Foodstuf 3 8363 16,556 1830 5,04 = = = 107,063
Acquision of equiy interestin -~~~ JEEHEE B 2R

Hunan Jshou 3 1,560 5547 u - = = = 131
Disposal of subsidiris HENBAA 2 1 (10,500) (454) ®) (6,849) (2846) - - (20,692)
Other disposdls il bt} 53) (2.545) (1,029) (1212) = - = (4.838)
Depreciaion i3 (24,600) (55,894) (2987) (11,606) (1477) - @) (10485
Curency translaton differences ~ EXAEZE (303) pi| B 508 19 = s i/l
Net book amount at 31 December R+ =F=T-BEEFE 539,807 365,352 16,836 66,070 3.3 21500 200 14569
At 31 December 2018 W-5-NE+ZB=1-R
Cost i 861,693 911,764 58,574 05815 78295 25,02 20 233345
Accumulated deprecaton 2iME (21886) (4641 (78 (139,749) (39,060) - (935)  (1,089,776)

Net book amount FHSE 539,807 365,352 16,836 66,070 39,235 21542 2001 1244569
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7. WE- -HKERKE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Depreciation was recorded in the following categories: FERNAT DA

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HE HE
—8-N\F  -T)\F
+=B=+—H =HA=+—H
IEHEA WHFE
Note (Restated)
P 7E (#e&E5)
Manufacturing overheads SUEER 56,532 69,996
Selling and marketing expenses THE RHEER X 850 1,234
Administrative expenses THREA 43,318 57,464
Depreciation recognised in FEKEEBD
continuing operations WR2ITE 24 100,700 128,694
Depreciation recognised in IR - $ 730
discontinued operation BRI E 1,785 3,918
Total depreciation EEE 102,485 132,612
As at 31 December 2018, buildings with net book value RZFE-—N\F+-A=Z+—H8 EEFEAR
of RMB78,771,000 (31 March 2018: nil), were pledged as #78,771,000c (—E—N\FE=A=+—H:

collateral for the Group's borrowings. EMEFEEMEALEEMNERR -
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mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

8. LAND USE RIGHTS 8. L1 ihfEARE
The Group's interests in land use rights represent prepaid REBR T MEARENER/STANKCEESE
operating lease payments and their net book amounts are HE®EFESTOT
analysed as follows:
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R=ZZ-N\F RZE—N\F
+=ZB=+—H —A=+—H
Outside Hong Kong, held on: fEB BB
BATHEERE:
Leases between 10 and 50 years 10E50F BT 49 187,310 171,856

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018
BZE HE
—2-\F —T)\¥
+=—HA=+—H =A=+—H
B WEhEA IFFE
At the beginning of the period/year B4,/ F 4 171,856 150,713
Other additions NE 6,098 25,761
Acquisition of equity interest in WHERZ S Rm R
Jiahao Foodstuff 31 16,620 -
Acquisition of equity interest in WHE N m & & 2
Hunan Jishou 31 4,553 -
Disposal of a subsidiary & KB A 32(a) (7,330) -
Amortisation g (4,471) (4,622)
Currency translation differences BE®REES (16) 4
At the end of the period/year HiR, R 187,310 171,856

Land use rights with net book amount of RMB16,426,000 as
at 31 December 2018 (31 March 2018: nil), were pledged as
collateral for the Group’s borrowings.

RZE—N\F+_A=Z=+—"H EEFEAER
#16,426,000c (ZZT—\F=ZA=+—8:
)N T EREDRBEALRAE BN

o]
AR °
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

mEMBWRME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

9. EIEEE

Non-
Trademarks ~ Customer  competition  Computer Product Domain
Goodwill  and licenses  relationships  agreement software Patents design name Total
BE BERNUR  EFEEK  EREER  ERuM gl EREE  BLRR it
Note
iFd (a) b
At 1 April 2017 H-E-tEmA-A
Cost i 2276413 287,166 256,261 3876 13430 49405 7589 4642 3,008,867
Accumulated amortisation ZitEn - (58,655 (226,73 3431 9,239 (24264) (16,865) (12,06) (351,211)
Net book amount i 2276413 28511 2956 45 41% 5,141 59,027 343% 2,657,656
Yearended 3 March 2018 BE=F-\E
ZRzt-ALER
Net book amount at 1 Apri REA-REEFE 2276413 28511 29526 5 41% 5,141 5907 34398 2,657,6%
Other additons RE - - - - 84 802 - - 1606
Acquiton of equitynterest ~~ ETLAEIS 2 e
in Jiang Xianghai 13,505 - - - - 653 - - 14158
Amoriszton 2y - (15559 (160) 219 Qo8 (23 (142 665 6959
Proviion for impairment HERE (61,056) - - - - - - - (61,056
Curency transaton diffeences ~ EEAZEE (191) (5520) - - (169) - (2579) (2,205) (10963)
Netbook amountat 31 Mah ~ H=A=1-BEEEE LB M B 116 V6 4B Q8 B 2388
At 31 March 2018 RZ%-NFzf=1-8
Cost B 22831 280862 156,61 3876 13,5% 50,859 14N 3587 2948833
Accumulated amortisation Zitky - (13430 (243,181) (3650) (10830 (36,567) (29258) (20,089 (417,005)
Net book amount FAEE 2008371 0743 13,080 26 2766 14292 2,163 B4R 253188
Ning months ended BEC3-N%
31 December 2018 tZAZ1-RLAER
Net book amount at 1 Apri HBA-REAFE 22831 207,432 13,080 26 2,766 14292 42,163 B4% 2531828
Other additions RE - - - - 1,361 6,414 - - 1715
Acouision of equity interest ~~ iEEFRAZHE
in Jiahao Foodstuff 3 3,635,550 354,000 551,000 - 1,006 3 - - Ay
Acqiton of equitynterest —~ WEHEEE 2 IRfE
inHunan Jishou 31 3,588 1741 - - - - - - 5335
Disposal o subsiiaries HERBRAZRE 3 - (86,486) (167) ) (1539) = (32,791) (18812 (139817)
Amortisation 2 = (16,000) (29mM) (10) (759) (6,737) (1.251) (4.159) (57.893)
Curency transaton diffeences ~ EEAZEE - 450 1555 (1) 120 1776 (2,115) (520) 1,210
Net book amount at 31 December 4= A=1-AEEZE 5,861,509 465,215 548497 14 2,95 15,748 = - 6899997
At31 December 2018 RZ2-NF
+Zf=1-A
Cost i 5,867,509 544817 787,443 3,085 9,005 4,11 - - 105803
Accumulated amortisation ZitEH = (19602)  (238,%40) (3.013) (6,009) (30420 - - (358,034)
Net book amount BERE 5,867,509 465,215 548,497 n 2,95 15,748 - - 6899997

Amortisation is included in administrative expenses in the

consolidated income statement.

BEERESARERNTRERR
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Goodwill is mainly attributable to the anticipated
profitability of operations, the anticipated future operating
synergies and enlarged market share. Goodwill arising
from prior year is allocated to the Group’s CGUs identified
within the operating segment.

The goodwill is allocated in operating segments as
follows:

As at 31 December 2018
RZB-NE+ZA=1-H

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

BEEE (&)

(a)

BRI EOKEADNHTAEMBNHON
T8 HA B R R4S 2 15 R AU AN K B T 45
MBRE-AEBEZHEIZREEE
BowokEEZERCELEM-

BHERBEEZNHNENBE 240

T

As at 31 March 2018
R=F-N\E=fA=+-H

Flavours  Tobacco Aroma Flavours ~ Tobacco Aroma  Innovative
and raw raw raw raw  tobacco
fragrances  materials  materials Condiment fragrances  materials ~ materials  products Total
FR
R EARM R Bl [ER R BRE  EEHE @z
Goodwil ~ EE 1,194,551 951,024 86,384 3635550 5,867,509 1,194,551 947,436 86,384 - 222837
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based GRER S EEEMA T WIE S5 TS
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre- REEFE L RAAEEREERE
tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets ERUEN T F R B IAE M AT 2 BAl
prepared by management covering a five-year period. BHEREREFE - HALFHNRS

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated terminal growth rates below. The
terminal growth rate does not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the businesses in which the CGU
operates. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant segments or entities
as below. Management determined budgeted gross
margin based on past performance and their expectations
for the market development.

MEBFEBME KEFHEEEY RN
TR KEFERETSBARSESE
BNZEBIHEENRPFHER
RoFTAZENER BT AIEN K L
THEREED B TR - BEER
BREMNEEREHMSERNTE PR
TETEFTERE-
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(a)

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 9. BEE (&)
(Continued) (a) (&)
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are FABEFENEIE/RBNOT:
as follows:
As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 March 2018
RZZ-NE+ZA=1-A RZE-N\EZR=T-H
Flavours Tobacco Aroma Flavours Tobacco Aroma Innovative
and raw raw and raw raw tobacco
fragrances materials materials  Condiment fragrances materials materials products
it
Bl ERRER ERH Bl &R EREH BRH BB
Terminal growth rate KEEFEEE 0% 3% 3%-~5% 3% 0% 3% 3% 3%
Discount rate i3k 15.4%~15.8% 14.8%~23.5% 15.0%~24.5% 13.5% 154%  14.9%~155% 15.1%~24.4% 17.5%
These assumptions have been used for the analysis of ERETAREESFPHERERE
each CGU within the operating segment. EEXBENHNSTAC
Based on the assessment of the cash flow projections of FERHEZERSEE SRR S RTEA
the various CGUs, the Directors considered that there is BAEBCEEFEREE T —\F
no impairment of goodwill for the nine months ended 31 TZAZT—HIEAMEAREEE S S
December 2018 (year ended 31 March 2018: impairment CEBTERE-BE_ZT-N\F=A
charge of goodwill amounting to RMB24,478,000 for the ST —HILESE MEEEHRERKT
CGU of VMR Products under innovative tobacco products Z VMR Products¥i & EEE B A R EEHE
segment and RMB36,578,000 for the CGUs of fragrances B(EEZE2HRER) 2REEEEMDN
subgroup under flavours and fragrances segment). B E S Bl A AR24,478,0007T K&
Goodwill for the CGU of VMR Products under innovative AR #36,578,0007T © B 58 28 B KT
tobacco products segment which was fully impaired AlEE R R R 2 VMR Productsii &
previously was derecognised with the disposal of VMR B LA BB FE H & VMR Productsif
Products (Note 32(b)). IEER (MFFE32(b)) ©
Trademarks represent Peacock, Xinghu, Samshiang, (b) ®WEDELE 2N BELE FT-

Chunzhu, Jinba, Jiahao, Zhanwang, Jinchan, and Sanfan
trademarks.

DB R EX o8 —BEBER-
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10.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The Group has interests in six (31 March 2018: five) individually
immaterial associates as at 31 December 2018. The following
table analyses, in aggregate, the movements of the carrying
amount of the Group’s investments in these associates, and its

share of results of these associates.

Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§

mE M BRERME

10. REEERTIZBRE

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in iy

associates is as follows:

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

REZE-NF+-A=+—H AEER/E

“E-NF=ZA=1+—8: 0@ L IFEH
BEANBEARHEAED  TRAAKENZ
S E N EINRERERE

A Pak AR N\

A ST = L\EJ@{S

Y& REEZD NN -

BRBMESREZSONMOT

Nine months

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

Note 2018 2018

BZE HE

—E-N\EF —ZT-N\F

+=-—HA=+—H =A=+—H

ibg=2 IEhEA IFFE

At the beginning of the period/year B4,/ F 4 371,444 379,106

Share of profit of associates FEAE B & A E AT 7,791 8,232

Dividends received or receivable Tk E - (15,894)
Acquisition of Delion Food WA TR 2R

Service Limited (“Delion”) BRAR ([BIR]) (b) 17,450 -

At the end of the period/year Hik R 396,685 371,444
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10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(a)

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

10. RBEQATZ2HRE (&)
—N&+-A=+—8 Kx&H

RATEE AR

Principal activities

FTEER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had interests in the (CY R ———
following associates:
% of
Country of ownership
Name incorporation Interests
=y HMEYER FRSESEIL
Guizhou Huangguoshu Golden Leaf Technology ~ PRC 40%
Co., Ltd. ("Huangguoshu Golden Leaf") H
EMERCE2ENMBAERAR ([EREEE])
Yunnnan Hongta Blue Eagle Paper Co., Ltd PRC 25.10%
("Yunnan Hongta") ey
EHALERAXERAR ([ERAE])
Beijing Yunji Wuyu Technology Co., LTD PRC 20%
IEREENFRBROERA T B
Hunan Golden Leaf Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves PRC 10%
Co., Ltd. ("Hunan Golden Leaf") (i) H
HEeEEEERAREEAR
(el ()
Yunnan Ruisheng Tobacco Technology Group Co., PRC 6.72%
Ltd. (“Yunnan Ruisheng”)(i) h
EfintRERN (RE)BRAR
(IZ@mAL )
Delion (b) PRC 15%
BIZ(b) H
(i)  The Group has significant influence over Hunan (i)

Golden Leaf and Yunnan Ruisheng by representations

Produce and sell reconstituted
tobacco leaves
FEMBEEREEE

Manufacture and sales of cigarette

paper and auxiliary products
EEMHEEBERK RS M

Provide software development
service and sale of self-developed
software and electronic products
RERHHAERERIEEBTH
By BHREFER

Produce and sell reconstituted
tobacco leaves
FEMBEEREEE

Research, develop, produce and
sell flavours and additives

M EEMEEERERR
AINE

Sales of food products and
provide professional food service
solutions
HERMREHREERMER

.
UAE S

AEEBBEAREESENERR
HHEEEHEEES HEWHE

on the board of directors of these two companies. REIBERZEN -
The Group acquired 15% of ownership interests of Delion b)) EERZZE-—NFLtANUARKE

in July 2018 at a cash consideration of RMB17,450,000
and has significant influence over it by representations on

the board of directors.

17,450,0007T U B 12 37 22 15% 2 A% # -
THREZSPZITEF HHEAAESE

N-Z I
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11. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITY

The Group has interests in one immaterial joint venture as at 31
December 2018. The following table analyses the movement of
the carrying amount of the Group's investments in this jointly
controlled entity.

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in jointly
controlled entity is as follows:

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

1. REREHERZKRE

RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—H ~EER—E
WIHEBERNAFIES ERAEGER - TK
RARBRZHAREFHEEOKRE REGEX
REZEGHEEXENREEZBOIN-

RARZEHIERBNERREZHHTWT

Nine months

ended
31 December
2018
BZE
—E-N\F
+=A=+-8
IEAEA
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-NFM@A—H 5,100
Share of profit of a jointly controlled entity — FE1f t£[E475 I & % & 7 1,985
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—-)/\F$+-_A=+—H 7,085
(@) As at 31 December 2018, the Group had interests in the (@ MZZE—N\F+-_A=+—H £5£H
following jointly controlled entity: RATHEEH EEHEE R
% of
Country of ownership
Name incorporation Interests  Principal activities
z8 AMEVER FfiISEEESE TEER
Dianhua Benxiang Technology Co., LTD PRC 51%  Research, development,
("Dianhua Benxiang”) =s manufacture and sale of cigarette

EEABFRRARAR (DEEAE])

capsules, cigarette materials,
cigarette filter stick and packaging
materials

e M AEMBEEER
B BEME - ERBEM
B RBEME

165



166 Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 2k AR 2= 2018 Annual Report 43§

Notes to the Consolidated e MR

Financial Statements
(BBEEBEEN FELEHUARETFTIIR)

12. UAREBEFTEEESB T AHMER

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EREBEZEHEE

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018
BZE HE
—E-N\%§ —E-N\F
+=ZA=+—H =A=+—8H
(g LEA@EA FEE
At the beginning of the period/year #1147,/ E 4] - -
Reclassify unlisted equity securities from #HAEHESRMEESEHEE
AFS to FVOC UARBEEEBEZEA
Htpra s < Ik EiEERE 80,672 -
Additions for the period/year AERFEEM 48,331 -
Fair value change RABEEY 19 28,332 -
Currency translation differences ERHnEER 1,862 -
At the end of the period/year iR,/ EXK 159,197 -
Equity investments at FVOC| include: NARnBEFEEHEZE T ALMES KE
ZEREE R
As at As at
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018
R-ZZE-NFE RZZE—N\F
Mz=Z +=BA=+—-H =A=+—H
Non-current assets: FEMBEE

Unlisted equity investments in

KA BEIE EMRESRRE

the PRC: at fair value NAE (a) 51,640 -
Unlisted equity investments in RASHENIELMERIRE:
Cayman Islands: at fair value NAE (a) 34,776 -
Unlisted equity investments in Israel: R IA@FIAFE LT EZEIRE -
at fair value NiAE (a) 72,781 -
159,197 -

These investments were classified as AFS for the year ended 31

March 2018 (Note (b)).

BHE_Z- \FZA=+—HILEE HEFL
EnBEATHEESREE (b)) °
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12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 12.
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(CONTINUED)

(a)

The fair value of unlisted equity investments are based (a)
on market comparable companies with the following
unobservable inputs used.

Fair value as at

Bl

7
&l

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

BEGEBESEHT ARLMER
ZEMEE (&)

FrhRERREZAREDREDTS

E

AL AR A BEE AERE

DNRER
31 December 31 March
Unlisted equity interest 2018 2018 Valuation techniques
—E-N\F —E-N\F
F LR +=-HA=+—-H —A=+—H BREPA
Private equity fund 159,197 80,672 Net asset value
LEES EEFE
FVOCI are denominated in the following currencies: NARBEFEEEEHTALMES
Kz emEENTIEEYIR:
As at
31 December As at
2018 31 March
2018
R-B-NF R )\&F
t=A=t—-H =A=t+—H
RMB AR 51,640 -
usD XTT 107,557 -
159,197 -
None of these financial assets is impaired. RECREESRE-
Financial assets previously classified as AFS (as at 31 March (b). NRATHSBERAHEHECREE 2
2018) EE(R-_E-—N\F=A=+—H)
AFS include: AR EEMEERRE:
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R=Z-NEF RZE—NF
+=ZB=+—H —A=+—H
Non-current assets: EMENEE -
Unlisted equity investments in the PRC: AR BRI FMEZFIRE
at fair value NAE = 30,261
Unlisted equity investments in Israel: RUAEFIHIE ETRERIRE -
at fair value NAE = 50,411

80,672
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13. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 13. EEEFBHREE &E
The movements in the deferred income tax are as follows: RIEFTISTHE BN T -
Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities
ERfEHER EEFEHEE
Withholding
income tax
on dividends
Unrealised Valuation ~ expected to
profits surplusof e remitted
arising assetsand  from group
from recognition entities
intra-group  Recoverable of intangible  incorporated
Note sales tax loss Others Total assets in the PRC Total
S8R
£8R HREEAN
NIMHE EETE DIRMELN
FELHEER BUREY REFELZ
i AREEA  TEREE it B EENER  BRAEH it
At Aprl 2017 RZE-tEMA-H 54,154 7142 548 66,744 3,260 18,047 56,307
Acquition of equity inerestin WELREAIE
Jiangxi Xianghai - - - - 780 - 780
Recognised in other comprehensiee ncome - RE 42BN EES 19 - - - - 419 - 479
Recognised in the income statement MeERET il 6812 4977 1863 13,602 (1216) 3165 148
Currency transiaton differences ghiagze - - - - (3) - 3
At 31 March 2018 NE-\E=A=1-H 60,966 12,009 131 80,346 31,680 49,706 81,386
Acquistion of equiy inteestin Jiho.~~ WERFARZBE
Foodstuff 31 - - 13818 13818 139,663 - 139,663
Acquition of equity inetestin Hunan Jishou WEHEE & 272 3 - - - - 863 - 863
Disposa of a subsidary HENBAT 3 - - ) ) (1,685) - (1,685)
Recognised in other comprehensive income BN E b 2 AN AR 19 - - - - 194 - 194
Recognised n the income statement MeERET il 6,107 9,697 1,650 17454 (6,59%9) 39,063 32,465
Currency transiaton differences ghiaEzE - - - - (%) - (%)
At 31 Decernber 2018 RZE-NETZA=1-A 67,073 21,766 0,75 111593 165,751 88,769 254520
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for temporary SEARFIEBEEMEENEBRARERE
differences arising from unrealised profits from intra-group sales, %‘Jﬁﬁu RIBEFTISHEE RSN BEER
and calculated under the liability method using the tax rate EERAEANAEEEARNR R EE R
which are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet M ERBEE

date.
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mE M BRERME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
13. BEFREHEE BE (K)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

13. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax liabilities arose from the valuation surplus
of property, plant and equipment, land use rights, intangible
assets and FVOCI; recognition of intangible assets as a result
of acquisition of subsidiaries and withholding income tax on
dividends expected to be remitted abroad by group entities
incorporated in the PRC.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the PRC
approved by the National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends remitted from the
PRC entities to overseas investors with effect from 1 January
2008. A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applied to Hong
Kong investors as there is a tax treaty between the PRC and
Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty rate is not automatically
granted. The taxpayer needs to apply to the relevant tax bureau
for an approval for the treaty rate. The Directors estimated that
a portion of profits generated by the PRC subsidiaries would be
distributed to their Hong Kong immediate parent companies
and the approval for the treaty rate will be obtained. Therefore,
deferred income tax liabilities had been provided based on
5% or 10% of the estimated profits to be remitted to Hong
Kong. The Directors of the Company will review the funding
requirements of the Group and revise the dividend distribution
policy of its subsidiaries as appropriate.

As at 31 December 2018, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB227,378,000 (31 March 2018: RMB266,036,000) have
not been recognised for the withholding tax that would
otherwise be payable on the undistributed profits approximately
RMB4,528,876,000 (31 March 2018: RMB5,315,584,000)
retained by certain PRC subsidiaries.

EEFRBHRABETIHNARRUE LS G
BRABIMEBHZME HRLRE LHEM
- BREEMARABEFEEEEHTA
Hipira e o @ BEEMF A% EKE
MEARMERZBVEE REBARS
A AR SZ B 2 B TR HARE R N R B P EE A
ZEREMEHMmEL-

BEZEARRKERER-_ZEZTLF=A+X
HEmBMFRBEMCEMESHRE AT N\F—
A—BH REAERIIFEECEDIRR
B BIR10% 2 HEBBEH - ERPE KR
EABRHABEHE WPECEREFTER
BERESREKE IZEREENHES%E
W o BRZ5%HERELIEBE RS  RARHAR
MEBEIERRREBNEZEREHE AR
REEHEdeEHELPRERENBARZA
FIRERE FTERBEENEET QR A
BEEMBHRAEIREHRELETS 2 AT
5% 10% BB EFTE - RAFESZ B TR
HNAEBEZEST RN ERFAENBARZ
B BB o

WZE—NFE+-_A=+—8B KREEIL XK
RETHFBEAREMNBAT Z R RAEFL
ANR#4528,876,000 (ZE—/\F=A
=—+—H: AR#®¥5,315,584,000t)B T X
NMERAMEHEREENSREEARE
227,378,000 (ZE—NF=A=+—HQ:
AR #266,036,0007T) °
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(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

13. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 13. EEFEREE BE (&)
(CONTINUED)
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income BIEMEHEERBBENDTHT

tax liabilities is as follows:

As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R-ZE-N\F RZE—N\F
t=A=t-B =A=t+-"

Deferred income tax assets: BEAMBHERE
— 10 be recovered after more than 12 months —~E+Z@A%KESG 21,766 12,069
- 10 be recovered within 12 months —fE+ B AR E S 89,827 68,277
111,593 80,346

Deferred income tax liabilities: EEAMEHARE
— to become payable after more than 12 months ~TERBTEREEAENTNH 239,905 77,678
— to become payable within 12 months T+ EAREAEMNHMR 14,615 3,708
254,520 81,386
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14. INVENTORIES

14. B

mEMBEmRME
(BREEEREN TESTEHUARETITIIR)
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018

R=F—NE RZF-N\F
t=—A=+t—-H =A=+—H

At cost: AN

Raw materials R #Y 444,246 392,779

Work in progress 8 191,661 196,349

Finished goods RIRK Gh 260,336 176,877
896,243 766,005

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the cost
of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost
of goods sold and administrative expenses amounted to
approximately RMB871,968,000 (year ended 31 March
2018: RMB934,354,000 (restated)).

The Group recognised provision for impairment of approximately
RMB1,213,000 (31 March 2018: RMB2,587,000) in respect of
the losses on obsolete inventories.

HE_Z-/\F+_F=t+—HI-HEzEE
RATERBE AW AEERARITHERA
MEREL A ARES71,968,000T (ZZT— )\
F=HA=4+—H: AK%¥934,354,0007T (£
B3)) e

AEBHRREFTEREMERREREBDY B
AR#1,213,000 (ZE—N\F=ZA=+—
H: AR#2,587,0007T) °
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

mE M BRERME

(BBEEPEIN FESEHUARBTTIIR)
15. ES R EHMEWRKE

As at As at

31 December 31 March

Note 2018 2018

RZBE-NE R-_Z—N\F

e +=BA=+—H =FA=+—H

Trade receivables 2 5 W FIE (a) 1,159,052 1,062,482
Less: provision for impairment of BB 5 RENEIERE

trade receivables R 4.1 (b) (9.334) (12,925)

Trade receivables — net 2 5 WA — 55 1,149,718 1,049,557

Notes receivable FEW R & 128,312 151,428

Prepayments and other receivables T 738 I H b & 4 5508 244,977 240,919

Advances to staff B TR 4,092 7,254

Others HAth 33,782 28,437
Less: provision for impairment of R B At FE R IR (B

other receivables B 4.1 (b) (20,693) (21,111)

1,540,188 1,456,484

Except for prepayment of RMB54,214,000 (31 March 2018:
RMB41,623,000), trade and other receivables are financial
assets categorised as those to be measured at amortised cost.
All trade and other receivables are either recoverable within one
year or on demand. Accordingly, the fair values of the trade and
other receivables approximate their carrying amounts.

BIBTBRRARYES4,214,0000T (ZZ— N\F
ZA=Z+—8: AR®41,623,0000T) 45 &
S REMBEWEE SRR [ A EK AR 2R
CREE] - FMEE S REMBEWFKIBTIR—
FRNRBEARIBE - 8 2 R H M0 FEWFIE
FEEEEQERS-
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)

The credit period generally granted to customers ranges
from 0 to 180 days. At 31 December 2018 and 31
March 2018, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables
(including amounts due from related parties which are

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

15. ESRHEHMEKRRIE (&)
(a) EBTFEFHEEH-—KAB0E180H R
—NF+_A=+—BFE-ZT—N
FZAZ+—"H EHEKRFE(BE
FMEATHE ZEKRZIE)REZEEZH

trade in nature) based on invoice date was as follows: M ERER D AT 0T -
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R-ZE—N\HF R-ZZE—)N\F
+=A=+—8 =A=+—H
0 - 90 days 0%£90H 1,029,914 908,682
91 - 180 days 91%2180H 88,053 110,860
181 — 360 days 181%2360H 23,781 12,872
Over 360 days 360H A 17,304 30,068
1,159,052 1,062,482

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. For the
nine months ended 31 December 2018, a provision of
RMB924,000 were made against the gross amounts of
trade receivables (Note 4.1(b)).

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables

RNEE A5 AW AR IR E S 753k
HERIEO TR ETRBMEERE -
HZE2018F12A31HIEER 28 E
5 IEWGRIB A EE L AR #924,0007T
ZBE (MiE4b)) -

AEENEZRKANEEE(BIEH

(including amounts due from related parties which BATWESEKFTIE)ATIEE R

are trade in nature) are denominated in the following B
currencies:

As at As at

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

R-ZZE—N\EF WZE— \¢

+=-—HA=+—H A=+t

RMB ARE 1,135,770 1,041,002

usD EIT 23,124 21,330

HKD T 158 150

1,159,052 1,062,482
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 15.

(@) (Continued)

mE M BRERME

(a)

The creation and release of provision for impaired

receivables have been included in

“administrative

expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally
written off when there is no expectation of recovering

additional cash.

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16.

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

BEZREMBWRTER (F)

(%)
HEREERKABENRINEOEE
REAARERT [TTREA] Rt A
BERPTNBE-—REEBRHEEK
(O] %8 51 3R 2 B 8K o

URREETEEHSBHTABEZ

PROFIT OR LOSS SREE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018
BZE BHE
—2-[\F  -T)\F
+=A=t-B =A=+-A
B & th@A HEE
At the beginning of the period/year B,/ FH) = -
Reclassify bank financial products from  $R1TIEBf &= G ¢ AT H &
AFS to FVPL TREEBNREN
NABEFEEEE
AAREZERMEE (a) 102,000 -
Acquisition of equity interest in WERSRmIRE
Jiahao Foodstuff 31 180,811 -
Additions 21 579,660 -
Disposal & (293,257) -
Fair value change NABEE 23 5,035 -
Currency translation differences E¥HmEES 49 -
At the end of the period/year iR,/ FXR 574,298 -
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16.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

16. U AAREBEFEEHEZBITAREZ
TRMEE (#)

FVPL include: LARBEMEEEZH T ABE2ERE
EfiE:
As at As at
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018
R-ZZE-N\F RZT—\F
B +=A=+—~H —A=t+—H
Listed equity investments Tz REE S 59,121 -
Wealth management products RITHEEREM (a) 515,177 -
574,298 -

See Note 3 for explanations regarding the change in
accounting policy and the reclassification of certain
investments from AFS to FVPL following the adoption
of HKFRS 9, and Note 2.11 for the relevant accounting
policies.

(@) FHEFHBRREERNENEETB
HEERNESRRZ MR LI ER A
ELREEENOBREURREE
BEEBFABEZSMEENRFE
A RMEES, A R AR g S RS M T
211
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17. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

mE M BRERME

(BBEEPEIN FESEHUARBTTIIR)
17. BTREEFERS

As at As at
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018
R=Z-—NEF RZZE—NF
Mz +=A=+—8H —A=+—8H
Short-term time deposits EHITE BITF (a) 1,606,790 1,076,955
Cash and cash equivalents BeMESEEYD 5,535,601 6,635,651
7,142,391 7,712,606
(@) The original maturity of time deposits was six month (a) FEHEIFEEAFESEVREIHA A T E A S

or above with average interest rate of 3.4% (31 March
2018: 2.8%). The fair values of the short-term time
deposits approximate their carrying amounts. None of the
deposits is either past due or impaired.

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following

EREFHERENEXRARILE (ZF
—N\F=ZA=+—H:288) - BHTF
BEFEmEEREAR

BERE - BEFK

RITREFREATIEESEIIR:

currencies:
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R=ZZE—N\EF RZE—NF
t=—A=t—-H =A=t+—H
RMB AR 6,532,668 6,647,997
usD ETT 367,082 892,613
HKD g 241,032 169,340
EUR and others BT M E A 1,609 2,656
7,142,391 7,712,606

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s and the Company's
maximum exposure to credit risk of cash and bank
balances is their carrying amounts.

RZZE-NEF+_A=+—H F&H
RARBDEENRERITREFREH
EaEERR T HEKRAEEE-
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18. SHARE CAPITAL 18. &
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: Tk BETRAR -

Share capital

Number of &N
shares RMB’000
il - 4=| AR¥TR

At 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 and RZE—N\F=F=+—H"
31 December 2018 “E-NFEA-BR

—E-NF+-_A=+—H 3,107,962,876 318,647
For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Company HE_Z-N\F+_A=+—BHIENAEAR"
repurchased a total of 126,000 shares of its own ordinary shares AN R B R AT LA B AR B 4975 6 402,000T
through the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration (FEERHARM352,000T TEER HK
of approximately HKD402,000 (equivalent to approximately ) BBl A 126,000k B B AR - 5% E E
RMB352,000, excluding transaction costs). The shares with BEHATEEABE12,600T (HERHARK
total par value of HKD12,600 (equivalent to approximately 11,00070) K A& 19 720184F 12 A31 B 1 &k &
RMB11,000) repurchased were not cancelled and are recorded SHEBERATEGFRG] A WHEE%ER20194
as “treasury shares” at 31 December 2018, which were 1R14BFHE -BERMDAZN ZRERER
subsequently cancelled on 14 January 2019. The amount paid AIRBANFNGR BN r&EeERE
on the repurchased shares was deducted from retained earnings KED R ABBREE3 20T RABEE3 15T

of the Company. The highest price and lowest price paid for
the repurchase was HKD3.20 per share and HKD3.15 per share
respectively.

177



178

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 2k AR 2= 2018 Annual Report 43§

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

mEMBWRME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

19. RESERVES 19. %
Capital ~ Sharebased  Cumency
Contributed ~~~ Treasury Merger Share Capital  redemption ~ compensation  translation Other
Note surplus shares  resewe premmresewe fesene  resene  Rene  Iesenes Total
HRAAERK L
it RdEe  ERR ABEE BORE  EiGE BARBRE  MEBE  ABEE At it

A1 Aprl 207 RZ5-tERA-A 29,853 - (e28.439) 429861 M 474 39,120 360 199,586 979764
Far vl changes on AFS TRHESHEE BTG

netofta NhrERE o - - - - - - - - [958 (94
Appropriaons from net proft BRHER 0 - - - - - - - - 1B 193,43
lisue of new shares fo 2EERROERD

non-contoling neress of

Huzbao Flavours & Fragrances

(o, Ltd (‘Huabao Fiavours”) - - - - - - - - 1A 1358
Additonal imvestment n BEERENELT

non-holly owneg subsidaries - - - - - - - - (478) (478)
Emolyee shae option EREREE

stheme- Lapsedof shareoption~—~~ ~EREXT - - - - - - (39120, - 3,10 -
Curency ansiation iferences FLEEES - - - - - - - 1539 - 1339
131 ch 208 il e %65 BBy mE W 4w - B 2
AT Aprl 2018 R-E-N\ERA-A 296,853 - (028.438) 429,861 241 4749 - (9731 2338 23851
Far value changes on FVC, Qﬁ’%‘@f Eﬁgiﬁ

netoftax

M@@ﬂ [ c c c s = = - - 26408 26,408
Appropriatons fom et poft BafEn 0 - - - - - - - - 3N AT
Repurchases of shres mERk# 18 - 1) - - S i - - - -
Curency tranltion ifferences gHnEER @ - - - - - - R - R
13 Dt 201 HoE-NErAt-E I I T - U s
(@) For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the (@) Hz=2—_ZFE—NF+_A=+—HILN
amount of changes in fair value in FVOCI before BA AAnBEFEEEZFHTAR
tax is RMB28,332,000 (year ended 31 March 2018: fiEe RS s EMEECAREER

RMB38,979,000) (Note 12), of which RMB1,924,000 (year
ended 31 March 2018: RMB479,000) was recognised in
other comprehensive income as deferred tax (Note 13).

i A & 58 A AR %28,332,0005T (B =

ZE-NF=ZA=F+—HLFE: AR
#638,979,0007L) (Ki&E12) " EF AR
#1,924,000C (BAZE =T —N\F= A
£+—E¢¢F'/\E¢ﬁ<479,oooma
REMEEREERBELETE (M
13) ©
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20. RETAINED EARNINGS 20. REBEF

Nine months

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

BZE HZE

—E-N\F —E—-N\F

+=HB=+—H =A=+—H

IEA@EA IEFE

At the beginning of the period/year H1, F 4 8,601,342 8,528,166

Profit for the period/year KEFERAF 1,017,959 1,263,797

Appropriations from net profit ERpEELR] (74,372) (193,243)
Final dividends for the year ended BHE-E-/\F=A=+—H

31 March 2018 I E 2 BIRAE (405,353) -
Interim dividends for the six months HE_Z—)\FNLA=THL

ended 30 September 2018 ~ME Az H R E (275,620) -

Repurchase of shares (1 8 Az 19 (352) -
Final dividends for the year ended HE-ZT—+tF=-HA=+—H

31 March 2017 IEFE 2 BIRAE - (576,800)

Interim and special dividends for the HE_Z—tHNLA=1+H
six months ended 30 September 2017 1758 B 2 = H R A BIRR B - (420,578)

At the end of the period/year HIR R 8,863,604 8,601,342
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mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

21. BORROWINGS 21. EX
As at As at
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018
R=ZF-—NF RZZE—N\F
Mz +=A=+—8H =A=+—8H
Non-current M
Long-term bank borrowings REIRITER
— Secured bank borrowings —HHEFRITER (a) 2,888,092 -
— Unsecured bank borrowings —EIEFIRITER (b) 12,751 -
Less: current portion B mBE Y (144,405) -
2,756,438 -
Current mEh
Short-term bank borrowings RERITER
— Unsecured bank borrowings — I PIRITER (b) 789,296 210,000
Current portion of IERBAB T ZRBBS
non-current liabilities
— Secured bank borrowings —HEBIRITER (a) 144,405 -
933,701 210,000
Total borrowings BE 3,690,139 210,000
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21. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(a)

The Group entered into a bank loan agreement in
August 2018 for a loan amount of approximately
RMB2,888,092,000 for the payment of the consideration
for the acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff and related
expenses. The loan is repayable within five years and is
secured by the equity interest in Jiahao Foodstuff Limited
and Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd (“Guangdong
Jiahao”), and its land and buildings in Zhongshan with
total carrying values of RMB95,197,000. During the
period, the average interest rate of the loan was 5.70%
per annum.

The unsecured bank borrowings are repayable within
one to two year. During the period, the average interest
rate was 3.72% (year ended 31 March 2018: 4.25%) per
annum.

Borrowings are financial liabilities categorised under “financial

liabilities measured at amortised cost”

. The fair values of the

borrowings approximate their carrying amounts.

Interest expense on bank borrowings for the nine months
ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately
RMB76,183,000 (year ended 31 March 2018: RMB3,578,000
(restated)). No interest expense (year ended 31 March 2018: nil)
was capitalised during the period.

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

21.

BEX (&)
(@ AEBRZ=ZZ—-—NF/NAER
TEXHSH EXRESBHNAARE
2,888,092,0007t AR X W iE = =
RENREFREREBZER ZEFR
AFREEZE TAEZRRHERQE M
ERESZRRERARA([EREZ=])
2 R EAI AR LM I RAEF (4
FREE A ARB9S5,197,0007T ) 1k &K
o REIN - ZERTEHF B AEF5.70
@o

(b)y WMEMRTERTR —EMFADEE

2o RER EZ%‘ ”1’77F|J%'7%$3.72
BE(ZE—N\NE=A=+—H:4.25
E) -

EXNERABRIBR RBHERAGFE
E’]/i\mﬂ”éﬁj CEFMMEEEREAEER

o+
o

HEZZ—-\F+ZA=t+—HLEALEA®
HITERFERZLO A ARYTE,183,0007T
(Bz==2—N\F=ZA=+— amﬁr AR
#3,578,0007C (£ &%) ) - R BN & (&K
EE-)\FZA=t+—HLEEE E)FE
BREARL-

An analysis of the carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings REBSMAEEERWEREBENT
by type is as follows:
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R=F-N\F R-ZE—NF
+=A=+—8H =RA=+—H
At fixed rates Eifrabl P 3,181,942 210,000
At floating rates F BRI 508,197 -

3,690,139 210,000
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(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

21. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 21. EX(#\)
At 31 December 2018, the maturities of the borrowings are as RZE-N\F+_A=+—H KAEEEEE
follows: RERITER T :
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R-ZEBE—N\F RZE—NF
+=—A=+—8 =A=+—H
Within 1 year —FLAN 933,701 210,000
Between 1 and 2 years -2z 445,964 -
Between 2 and 5 years ZERF 2,310,474 -
3,690,139 210,000
The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings were BITERRUATINEB REAL:
denominated in the following currencies:
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R-ZZE—N\EF N-ZE— /\¢
+t=A=+-8 =A=+-
RMB ARE 3,181,942 210,000
HKD T 508,197 -
3,690,139 210,000
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

mE M BRERME

(BBEEPEIN FESEHUARBTTIIR)
22. ESREMEMSTE

As at As at
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018

R-B-N\#F R-ZT—)N\F
izt +=A=+—8H =A=+—H

Trade payables 5 R A (a) 338,697 348,522
Dividends payable FET AR B 272,320 -
Wages payable JERTTE 93,537 46,797
Other taxes payable Hith fe 118 144,941 90,452
Accruals for expenses JERTRXE 17,931 23,435
Advances from customers PR - 25,590
Payable for licence fee JEf BRI E = 27,744
Other payables H b e~ 5B 130,240 120,735

997,666 683,275

Except for other taxes payable of RMB144,941,000 (31 March
2018: RMB90,452,000), wages payable of RMB93,537,000 (31
March 2018: RMB46,797,000) and advances from customers of
nil (31 March 2018: RMB25,590,000), trade and other payables
balances are financial liabilities categorised under “financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost”. The fair values of trade
and other payables approximate their carrying amounts.

B H R S B A R #144,941,0000T (=
Z—-NF=A=+—H: AR¥D90,452,000
JT) c JERF T & AR ¥93,537,000 (=&
—N\E=ZF=+—H8: AR%¥46,797,0007T)
BEFEMF H#(ZE—NF=ZA=+—
B : AR#¥25,590,0007T) 5 B 5 K& H b &
NEhemBEREYEA [REHEKATEN
CHAE] - BEHREMENKENAAEE
HERMEMRE-
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 22. EFZRHEMESRE (&)

(@) As at 31 December 2018 and 31 March 2018, the ageing (@ RZE—NF+_A=+—HEKZ=Z
analysis of the trade payables (including amounts due to —N\NF=ZA=+—H BHENRE
related parties which are trade in nature) based on invoice (BEEBALNE S EMNZRE) RIKE
dates was as follows: SHAMRETHT

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

As at As at

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

R-B-NE R-T-)N\F

+=ZB=+—H —A=+—H

0 - 90 days 0£90H 296,844 312,436
91 — 180 days 912180H 24,839 23,887
181 — 360 days 1812360H 5,678 2,067
Over 360 days 360 A 11,336 10,132
338,697 348,522

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables
(including amounts due to related parties which are trade

AEBENEZENR (BHEEBALDH
BZRMNFIB)NEREENTINEE R

in nature) are denominated in the following currencies: BB
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R-ZE—N\F RZZE—NF
+=A=+—8 =A=+—H
RMB AREE 325,476 290,590
usD ETT 6,789 46,927
HKD oo 31 4,131
EUR and other BT & E A 6,401 6,874
338,697 348,522
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23. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS - NET

Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§

mE M BRERME

Nine months

(BBEEPEIN FESEHUARBTTIIR)
23. HtW AR HMkE— 35

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
BZE HE
—E-N\F —E—-N\F
+=B=+—H —A=+—H
Lth@EA IEFE
Note (Restated)
B (&%)
Changes in fair value of FVPL AR ERTZ BHEBETA
BERNemEEN
NAEEF) 16 5,035 -
Government grants B R, 101,141 183,486
Foreign exchange gain — net b 5 s — F 58 15,976 3,511
(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE&EHBE QR Z (EE),/
Yo (2,539) 454
Gain on disposal of AFS HEAHEES/REE
Z s - 3,987
Gain on disposal of FVPL HENAREFTEAHR
BETABZNESE
BERWE 665 -
Others HAt 2,045 3,950
122,323 195,388
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24. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and marketing
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed according to
their nature (with the exception of “research and development
expenses” which are shown as a single item and analysed

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

24 RUHEESBHHX
EROEHERAS HERTHSHEEMNI K
TRER WREAEE (R E@ERIEE
FEESIRO [HERERFAL] I BHAM
SHETREERRAREROSE) HiTH

according to their nature in Note (a) below) as follows: N
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
BZE HE
—g-N\F T N\F
+=—A=+—H —A=+—H
LEh@EA IEFE
Note (Restated)
iby=2 (&&&E?)
Depreciation e 7 85,776 105,985
Amortisation B 6 44,699 38,614
Provision for impairment of goodwill 7 22 e (B 1 15 9 - 36,578
Provision for impairment of inventories 7 & J3 B 5 762 -
Provision for impairment HinIEm B & ERUE B
of non-current assets - 36,000
Changes in inventories of finished R MR ERLEEZE
goods and work in progress 108,816 4,753
Raw materials and consumables used = R #7# 2E i & 709,542 821,924
Lease rentals He 21,336 32,878
Auditor’s remuneration 2% EX AN B 8,096 6,036
Consulting service fee HERBKE 48,867 38,331
Travelling expenses EMRFA X 34,226 47,579
Employee benefit expenses EEREMNRAXZ 25 284,884 273,062
Research and development expenses  #f3C K 3% & 5 5% (a) 198,408 275,820
Delivery expenses BT 37,141 40,219
Utilities expenses NHFBIERAT 57,347 67,237
Motor vehicle expenses BEBARY 8,709 10,434
Maintenance expenses HEE 20,309 21,314
Advertising and promotion expenses [EE LT EE 59,079 47,221
Office administrative and WARBAE
communication expenses 7,026 8,934
Other surcharges E B nfR & 49,264 58,365
Others HAt, 107,377 100,787
Total of cost of goods sold, selling BIHENRAR  HERTS
and marketing expenses and HERZMITHE
administrative expenses 1,891,664 2,072,071
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24. EXPENSES BY NATURE (CONTINUED)

(@)  Depreciation, amortisation and employee benefit expenses
included in research and development expenses are set

mE M BRERME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
24. RMHEESBEHBX (F)

(@) MELREZERFAXTEENTE HBHER

BERAAIIRAOT :

out below:
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
BZE HZE
—E-NE —ZT—-)N\F
+=—A=+—H =A=+—H
IEhEA IFFE
Note (Restated)
{hy=2 (g &E3)
Depreciation e 7 14,924 22,709
Amortisation #H 6 2,558 3,055
Employee benefit expenses EERBFFZ 25 89,581 90,206

No development cost has been capitalised for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018 (year ended 31 March
2018: nil).

25. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

EBE-_ZT—N\F+A=1+T—HIEAEA
A EERBREADEDME (ZF—-N\F=

A=+—RH:#&)-

25. EER®FAMAX

Nine months

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

BZE HZE

—E-N\F —FE-N\F

+t=A=+-8 =A=+-8

IEhEAR IEFE

Note (Restated)

ibg=2 (e&E7)

Wages, salaries and bonus TE&E - HNRIEA 321,402 302,295
Defined contribution plans and FE R RRET BI R EA

other employee insurances 8 TRk (a) 33,701 35,330

Other benefits H b8 7 19,362 25,643

374,465 363,268

187



188

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 2k AR 2= 2018 Annual Report 43§

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

25. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Defined contribution plans and other employee
insurances

The expenses mainly include contribution of pension,
housing scheme and other employee insurances for
employees, of which the arrangement of pension scheme
is as below:

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a MPF Scheme for all
eligible employees. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee with a choice to
make additional contributions. The employer’s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of each employee’s
monthly salaries up to a maximum of HKD1,500 (the
“mandatory contributions”). The employees are entitled
to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions upon
their retirement at the age of 65 years old, death or total
incapacity.

In Mainland China, the Group makes defined
contribution to retirement schemes managed by the local
governments. It is the local governments’ responsibility to
pay the retirement benefits to those staff who retire.

In Germany, the Group makes defined contributions
at certain percentage of monthly salary to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German rules and regulations. It is the
insurance company’s responsibility to pay the retirement
benefits to those staff who retire. In Botswana, no pension
obligation is required under its laws and regulations.

mE M BRERME

(BBEEPEIN FESEHUARBTTIIR)
25. EERFBAX (&)

(a)

EEMRTEREME TRE

HERBERKEHR BEITEFE
REME TR - RIKSFTE 22 HE 0
T~

AEBERBEAMBAERREERILRRE
TFt Bl - RS 2 EERANKEFT

FrEBILDRM -

RizwiEssts SREEBKASH
5% (fx = L 588 A A 1,50000) 1
R 30 AT R $R 4R BB AME SR o (B E I
BIRBEEEAFS% (Rt RBEAES
1,50070) YEH 3k (Mg bl g5k ]) »
BEATRATARER FHH T2 E
K T RS H B UREE £ 1B H = 2 2Bsa 4l

3o

A

AEBETEAMBEAERETHE
AFHFELETADLAPELTBFRE
AR 5t EIE R R SR o i T K
FBERERAZFRKEESMERAKE -

AARETFRIFEEOBREAERMER
AEERBTRAFNETESILREA
BMRRARMELHFK - RBRARBAEME
MZERNEE SRR E - 1HREH
WARRBERINERY BERFERNETX
MRAEHEE-
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25. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES 25. EERFBAX (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Five highest paid individuals b) EEBESHFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the period include 2 (year ended 31
March 2018: 2) directors whose emoluments are reflected
in Note 38(a). The emoluments paid and payable to the
remaining 3 (year ended 31 March 2018: 3) individuals
during the period are as follows:

A EXAEEZAERSHFHALE
EMi (BEZ-_Z—-N\F=A=+—H
LFE ML) RES MREZMEF
BEBRHGE38(a) - AME N T H ik
AT (BE-FZ-NF=ZA=1+—
BIEFE: =) zBamT:

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
Bz HE
—2-\F  —T)\F
+=A=+-8 =A=+—H
IEREAR HEFE
Basic salaries and allowances AR © MER 15,111 19,556
Contributions to the retirement scheme R85t 2|4 3K 143 120
15,254 19,676
The emoluments fell within the following bands: REZMESEATHE :

Number of employees

EEAH

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
Bz H=E
—E-N\F —E-)\F
+=A =A
=+—HL =+—H1t
H{E B FE

Emolument bands B % &5 &

HKD3,000,001- HKD3,500,000 ;& %3,000,001 ¢ — % #3 500,0007C 1 -
HKD4,000,001- HKD4,500,000  7#4,000,0017T— % ¥4 500,0007T 1 -
HKD5,500,001- HKD6,000,000 /& %5,500,001 7T — % #6,000,0007C - 1
HKD7,000,001- HKD7,500,000  &#7,000,0017T — % #7,500,0007C - 1
HKD10,000,001-HKD 10,500,000 &#10,000,0017C— /& #10,500,0007C 1 1
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26. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

mE M BRERME

Nine months

(BBEEPEIN FESEHUARBTTIIR)
26. B UW A K& KA

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

Bz HZE

—E-N\F —E—-N\F

+=HB=+—H =A=+—H

IEAfEA IEFE

(Restated)

(&E7)
Finance income: s U A

— Interest income on bank deposits FEHRA —RITIF K 154,344 122,755
Finance costs: B & A AR

— Interest expense on bank MEBRA-RITERZEMM
borrowings and others (76,913) (3,578)
Finance income — net B UA — F 58 77,431 119,177

27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 27.

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income
statements represents:

Fr&®
SFARARERZBASEIRMT

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
BZE HE
—E-NF -T)\F
+=-—HA=+—H =A=+—H
IEA@EA LEFE
Note (Restated)
B 5 (ge&E7)
Current income tax B EAR 18
— Hong Kong profits tax —BAEFEHK (a) 8,577 11,236
— PRC corporate income tax —HRE SR (b) 295,947 326,454
— Germany company income tax —EEPEMEN (© 122 99
— Botswana company income tax —1ER LN EFTE (d) 1,148 1,057
Deferred income tax FIEFTSR 13 15,011 10,841
320,805 349,687
(@) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate (a) BBFEREAAB MG IERTAET

N E165% (HE-ZT—NFE=A
—t+—HIEFE:16.5% ) #E-

of 16.5% (year ended 31 March 2018: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profit for the period.
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27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(b)

PRC corporate income tax has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the period at the tax rates
applicable to respective companies of the Group.

The income tax rates enacted or substantively enacted to
the major subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the
PRC are derived from various tax policies as follows:

(i) The Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC stipulates
the applicable income tax rate at 25% for domestic
enterprises in the PRC.

(i) Enterprises supported by Western Development
Strategy can continue to enjoy tax rate of 15% until
2022.

(i)  The Corporate Income Tax Law also stipulated that
the Corporate Income Tax shall be levied at the
reduced rate of 15% for High/New Tech Enterprises
that are specifically supported by the State.

Germany company income tax has been provided at the
rate of 15% (year ended 31 March 2018: 15%) on the
estimated assessable profit for the period.

Botswana company income tax has been provided at the
rate of 15% (year ended 31 March 2018: 15%) on the
estimated assessable profit for the period.

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has
been made as the Group had no assessable profit in other
jurisdictions during the period.

mE M BRERME

(BBEEPEIN FESEHUARBTTIIR)
27. Fri8% (&)

(b)

(d)

(e)

FTECEMERBARERAREETEX
EAERANFENBNARERNRE
M E

AEBRPBEAREEMZ EELENP
GHERMERE TRMBRLT

(i) DCEAGPERETEBEARMCE
B R PTIS TR R /525%

iy NAESEEIBEOCETEE
ZH15%M T EE £20224F ©

(i) EMBPERELEMGSHS
HRRER R &R ® %
TR15% TR

EECEMSHIE ARG ERM
BFAEERI5% (B2 —\F=A
=t —HILEFE:15%) -

R AN 2 TS A B R (5T /B 2R
MAEFAREIS% (2T —N\F=
A=+—HIEFE 15% ) #&E-

R B A BE R R R E b BRI 3 R
RISERAFHRPA  SHESEMEDE
REATSHELEE-
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27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(f)  The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the standard tax rates applicable to the respective

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

27. Fri5% (&)

(f) AEERBAESHATANOHIE 82K
5 B HE T ARRE A B AT AR 3 1 2 T B AT
AREEEERTEAMTR 5

companies of the Group as follows: s
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R=ZZE—-NEF RZZE—NF
+=-—HA=+—H =A=+—H
Note (Restated)
iog=2 (ge&E5)
Profit before income tax B 5% AT 22 A 1,374,957 1,859,553
Less: Share of profit of W FEAEEEE A E &
associates and a jointly HEEH BB BH
controlled entity 10 (9,776) (8,232)
1,365,181 1,851,321
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate %3 B KT E /A 426,499 513,496
Tax incentives RMWEBETLE (145,075) (214,362)
Super deduction for research and 125 & A JisH IR My 22 £
development expenditure (11,881) (9,390)
Utilisation of previously ) 2 BT ARFERE
unrecognised tax losses S E 18 (5,648) (6,505)
Expenses not deductible for TAMBRAE 2 BB 8
tax purposes 3,067 18,989
Income not subject to tax EARMWAN T2 (6,392) -
Withholding tax on the earnings Bt /& 2 & (& H H AL 8.
from subsidiaries FREEA 2 FBIRFTISHL 55,315 27,531
Tax losses for which no W B FERIEEFT IS
deferred income tax assets BEEMBEER
were recognised 4,920 19,928
Income tax expense TSt 320,805 349,687
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27.

28.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

As the Directors are not certain whether future taxable profit
would be available in certain subsidiaries, the Group did not
recognise deferred income tax assets of RMB81,088,000 (31
March 2018: RMB114,480,000) as at 31 December 2018 in
respect of tax losses of such dormant subsidiaries amounting to
RMB474,676,000 (31 March 2018: RMB541,388,000). The tax
loss will expire in the following years:

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

27. FrE® (&)
AAEEEEIBRENRKREELE THERM
BFBEHE XEBWLERRETHER
Al Z AR BB A R #474,676,000T (=
—N\F=HA=+—H: ARK#¥541,388,0007T)
RIELEFTSTRE E L ARES1,088,0007T (=
T N\F=ZA=+—H: AR¥114,480,000
JL) c AR BN T FE R

As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018

R=F-—N\& RZFT-N\F
t=—A=t—-H =—A=t+—H

Year FE
2019 —E-hHF 24,378 14,866
2020 —E-TEF 81,756 31,753
2021 T —F 27,065 92,687
2022 —TE-CF 68,508 35,762
2023 —EC-=%F 58,046 76,372
No expiring date RAR|EHE 214,923 289,948
474,676 541,388

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

As disclosed in Note 1, the consideration of the disposal of
VMR Products was approximately USD31,352,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB215,679,000). Its related results
were presented in the consolidated income statement as a
discontinued operation.

28, RILEEXT
WTE R )E 1 FE AR - B VMR Productshy £
B4 A3%7131,352,000 (MEERHAREL
215,679,0007T) * EEERERERE KT VIR
R IEEE -
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28. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

 RIEEEER (#)

The financial performance and cash flow information presented

WTE23EEZE

—NF+ZA=t—H8I

below reflects the discontinued operation of VMR Products for HEA (BEHEHLHR) REE=ZF -\
the nine months ended 31 December 2018 (as of the date of FZA=ZT—ALFERIEEEBHIVMR
disposal) and the year ended 31 March 2018. ProductsZ (BRI &M E & F e
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
BZE HE
—E-NE =— )\F
+=-—A=+—H =A=+—H
IEA@EA WFE
Revenue EER 120,586 220,510
Cost of goods sold $HE AR (63,436) (97,909)
Other income and other gains/(losses)-net Hib g A R Ehikzs
(Et8) — %8 2,302 (925)
Administrative expenses THRER (74,656) (182,207)
Selling and marketing expenses SHEEH (11,748) (33,371)
Finance cost — net RUE KA —F58 (19,082) (19,844)
Loss before income tax GO0 SE ! (46,034) (113,746)
Income tax expense FriS % = -
Loss after income tax of discontinued BRITERIEGE XK 2 EBE
operation (46,034) (113,746)
Gain on disposal of VMR Products after & VMR Products 2 Br Fi 1&
income tax (Note 32) Wz (MF7E32) 182,873 -
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operation AR ILEE XK EF  (FE) 136,839 (113,746)
Net cash inflow from operating activities EEEEEL IR TR 38,084 7,441
Net cash (outflow)yinflow from WEES (TR EExz
investing activities e (1,282) 2
Net cash outflow from financing activities BVEEE TR 2R 2 F 5 (19,727) (19,846)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and IREERCRERESE
cash equivalents generated from f"%i“‘bﬂ/ OR2)
discontinued operation 17,075 (12,403)




Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
(a) Basic and diluted

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the
profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the period/year excluding treasury shares.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %%

mE M BRERME

B AR AT 2018 Annual Report 45

(BSBEAEIN FALEOUAREFLIIR)
29. BREAF (F#R)

(a)

EXRR#E

FREXRBMNIBRBEAGRRE,FEARR
AREREEARIERR, (BE) BRI
BN/ FABHTEBR (HREFKR)

MRS B R HE -

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
Bz HE
—E-NE —E-)\F
+=HA=+—H =A=+—8H
IEh{E A LEFE
(Restated)
(g&&E5))
Profit attributable to equity holders of ~ ZAA Al#E A AFEE R A
the Company from continuing SEBICEET 2 BF
operations 863,440 1,343,236
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity ARBIERFEARERE
holders of the Company from RILIEEEB 2 BF
discontinued operation (B8E) 154,519 (79,439)
Profit attributable to equity holders of ~ ANA RIEZE A ATERZAF
the Company 1,017,959 1,263,797
Weighted average number of B 81T 2 EilmAR .z e
ordinary shares in issue (‘000) T8 (F5H) 3,107,958 3,107,963
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) RAREEFEAEGEER
per share attributable to owners EAREERT, (EE)
of the Company (RMB cents (BRAR®ES):
per share):
From continuing operations REFELEES 27.78 43.22
From discontinued operation REKIELEER 4.97 (2.56)
32.75 40.66

The Company had no dilutive potential shares in issue,
and thus the diluted earnings per share was the same as
the basic earnings per share.

AN X B 3 R A R R i
BEREERNESRERBREE -
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mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

30. DIVIDENDS 30. KE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
BE HE
—E-N\F ZFE-N\F
+=B=+—H —A=+—H
LEhfEA IEFE
Payable/paid interim dividend of R/ BT ER B E R
HK10.0 cents (Year ended BE10.01L (BEZZ—N\F
31 March 2018: HK10.3 cents) =A=+—HIEFE:
per share A 10.31l) 275,620 270,746
Paid special dividend: nil BRI EFRAE - &
(Year ended 31 March 2018: (22— N\#F
HK5.7 cents) per share A=+t —HLEFE:
PSS 740) - 149,832
275,620 420,578
Proposed/paid final dividend of ¥R/ BAERREER
HK8.8 cents (Year ended Bl (HE_Z—\F
31 March 2018: HK15.0 cents) =A=+—HIEFE:
per share A E15.01) 239,632 405,353
Proposed special dividend of BRI IR B TR B 15 18.91U
HK18.9 cents (Year ended (BE=ZE—N\F=A
31 March 2018: Nil) per share =t—BILFE:®) 514,663 -
754,295 405,353
1,029,915 825,931

On 12 March 2019, the Board proposed a final dividend of HK
8.8 cents (year ended 31 March 2018: HK15.0 cents) per share
and a special dividend of HK 18.9 cents (year ended 31 March
2018: nil) per share, totalling approximately RMB754,295,000
(year ended 31 March 2018: RMB405,353,000) for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018. The proposed dividend
in respect of the nine months ended 31 December 2018 is
calculated based on the total number of shares in issue as at
the date of this report. The proposed dividend is subject to the
shareholder’s approval at the Company’s forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. The financial statements do not reflect this
dividend payable.

R-E—NFZA+_—_RH EFECEBZRHE
HEZZ—)\F+ZA=+—HLENLEAHN
HABRBERABESSII (BHE-_T—N\F=
A=+—BLEFE BE15.00L) RERIKRE
FREE18IMI (BE_T—NF=ZA=+—
AIEFE &) BRREREEXHARE
754,295,000t (B2 —_E—N\F=ZA=1+—
HIFFfE : AR%405,353,0000T) - BE-Z
—N\F+Z_A=+—HILNEANEERE
DEBAAREAHEEITROAEE &
R ZREFERARATBLRITHRE
BERE FREMR TR o B 15 W AR R BRI FE
A% E -
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a)

Acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff

In September 2018, New Generation Global Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an agreement with independent third parties to
acquire 100% equity interest in Jiahao Foodstuff, for a
cash consideration of approximately USD695,985,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,745,437,000). Jiahao
Foodstuff is principally engaged in the production, sales,
marketing and distribution of condiment products in the
PRC.

On 4 September 2018, the Group completed acquisition
of Jiahao Foodstuff and has effective control over
it. After the acquisition, the Group will focus on the
complementary products in the taste-based fast-moving
consumer products, including products in the niche
markets such as flavours and fragrances, additives,
ingredients and packing materials, condiments, etc. It is
expected to play a synergistic effect.

The goodwill of RMB3,635,550,000 arising from the
acquisition is attributable to the synergy and economics
of scale expected from combining the operations of
the Group and Jiahao Foodstuff. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

mE M BRERME

(BBEEBEEN FELEHUARETFTIIR)
31. ¥4 6f

(a)

KBEERR

RZZE—NFALA AREIZE2EM
B A @]New Generation Global Limited
BBYF - FF%BHE UWESRK
f£695,985,000E L (T EHN AR
4,745,437,000 ) HEEZZ R @ W
100% s - BERBEBEFENYEE
E-HE EHEkIEARRER-

AEEDR -F—N\FAAMB KK
BEZRAYHEFIES -EELE
BRBR NEBRBRERE X REMS
ZHREER BREBESR HMNE &
BRBEMH ARXRFAITHZE
- TR A R R R (E

I E A W E A R%3,635,550,000
TIRERBEASEREZRMBZE
1% T8 HA 22 LE B0 1 [RS8 R R 48 8 A s o
BREANEEBEPTAIMNBRER -
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(@) Acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff (Continued)

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

mEMBWRME

(BBEEBEEN FELEHUARETFTIIR)
31. ¥%46f (#)

(@) WBEE=am(E)
WBELEZFEENBBHBET:

Consideration — cash paid W E IR ST 4,745,437
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets AR HRFEEZANEE

acquired — shown below — & (1,109,887)
Goodwill (Note 9) P2 (M59) 3,635,550

The fair value of assets and liabilities arising from the

RpBEmELEZEENBENREE

acquisition are as follows: N
Property, plant and equipment (Note 7) M MRS R B (FEE7) 107,063
Land use rights (Note 8) T AR (MI5E8) 16,620
Intangible assets (Note 9) mREE (M:9) 906,009
Inventories FE 22,694
Trade and other receivables g5 K E UG IE 13,845
FVPL NARBEFEERESFARRZERMEE 180,811
Cash and cash equivalents BehESEEY 163,760
Deferred income tax assets (Note 13) FRIEFTS R EE (MIFE13) 13,818
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b T 5RI8 (77,373)
Contract liabilities cRAaE (97,697)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13) EIEFTSRaE (MIFE13) (139,663)
Fair value of identifiable net Wiz EEAAEE

assets acquired 1,109,887
Outflow of cash to acquire business B 2R eR

(net of cash acquired) (BB FHRE)
Consideration — cash paid NIR & XU ERE 4,745,437
Cash and cash equivalents in a subsidiary WIEMEARANRE RIRSEED

acquired (163,760)

Net cash outflow on acquisition U B8 B9 H 3R £ 4,581,677
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of Jiahao Foodstuff (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs of RMB18,723,000 have been
charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated
income statement for the nine months ended 31
December 2018.

The acquired business contributed revenue of
RMB170,979,000 and operating profit of RMB61,520,000
to the Group for the period from date of acquisition to
31 December 2018, while the operating profit for the
condiment segment amounted to RMB23,451,000 after
deducting the one-off acquisition-related cost, currency
exchange gain and amortisation expense of intangible
assets arising from the acquisition of approximately
RMB38,069,000. If the acquisition had occurred on
1 April 2018, consolidated revenue and consolidated
net profit after tax would have been increased by
approximately RMB291,967,000 and RMB46,949,000,
respectively.

Acquisition of Hunan Jishou

In September 2018, Smart Sino (Shanghai) Investment
Management Co., LTD., a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement with independent
third parties to acquire 85% equity interest in Hunan
Jishou, a company incorporated in the PRC, for a cash
consideration of RMB13,498,000.

Hunan Jishou is principally engaged in the production
and sales of ingredients of cigarettes and filter rods. It is
expected that the market position of the Group in this
industry will be strengthened through the acquisition.

Hunan Jishou has become a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group in September 2018. The goodwill of
RMB3,588,000 arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the synergy and economics of scale expected from
combining the operations of the Group and Hunan
Jishou. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.

mE M BRERME

(BBEEBEEN FELEHUARETFTIIR)
31. ¥%46f (#)

(a)

(b)

KBE=Em (E)

W B MR RE R AN A R #18,723,000T 2 7
BE_ZT— ) \E+_A=+—HItNE
RBEREWERANITHE R F k-

ZEBKARERE-_ZT—N\F+_A
=+ —HiE BEREBEFRMHBEE KA
MmE@EEF - D RIHAREE170,979,000
TR #) AR #61,520,0007T © 1B 7 0
R A2 B8 T S A 2 — M Wk B AR B AR A
EHWENETEERHBERASHAR
#:38,069,0007T 1%  # Ik f 1Rk BB Y & 18
B A AN R¥23,451,0007T © 4077 U B8
RZTE-NFHEA—B#HLE AEBEZ
BAEHEEWARGEBEANES B
BANH AR #291,967,0007T M A R
46,949,0007T °

RS

RZE—NENA RRARZE2EWE
NREER (BB REEEAR AR HEE
NEZHEEBFE URESREARE
13,498,000 0 —RRAFBIKZHA
B AT A8 %R o

WMEETEIENEERAMEREEDN
HERBE - BBKE AEEBEHA
ISR E ™IS £ 2 e

HEEER - N \FLARELNER
MIETENBRR - WEEENEEA
R 3,588,000t RERNEBAAREE K
MR T B A RTERELENRRRE
MEEes - HREENEEBIHERA
HBR TS -

199



200

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 2k AR 2= 2018 Annual Report 43§

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisition of Hunan Jishou (Continued)

mEMBWRME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

31. ¥%46f (#)
(b) WEEMEEE (M)

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Consideration — cash paid
Consideration — other payable

Less: fair value of identifiable net assets

acquired — shown below

WBELEZFEENBBHBET:

Goodwill (Note 9)

WEHE-BENRE 9,450
U i S0 (8 — EoAth FE A< 3K 4,048
BB HRFEEZANEE

—#5 T (9,910)
EESRCEEE) 3,588

The fair value of assets and liabilities arising from the

ApBmELZEENBENRLEE

acquisition are as follows: N
Property, plant and equipment (Note 7) M MRS IR B (B EE7) 7,131
Land use rights (Note 8) T HbE FARE (FF5ES) 4,553
Intangible assets (Note 9) | EE (M5E9) 1,747
Inventories FE 1,661
Trade and other receivables B 5 & A b e GRIE 2,464
Cash and cash equivalents RERBELFEY 73
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A BRI (5,106)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13) BEFTSTRAE (MiFE13) (863)
Total identifiable net assets Whg - AEFE 11,660
Less: non-controlling interest IS R (1,750)
Fair value of identifiable net WiE s EENAEE

assets acquired 9,910
Outflow of cash to acquire business WIS B 2 IRE M

(net of cash acquired) (MBRWEE 2 FHE)
Consideration — cash paid NIRE T WEERE 9,450
Cash and cash equivalents in WHENB AT AR S RREEED

a subsidiary acquired (73)
Net cash outflow on acquisition WS ) F IR 20 9,377

Non-controlling interests in Hunan Jishou are measured
at the present ownership interests’ proportionate share
in the recognised amounts of Hunan Jishou 's identifiable

net assets.

MRS B IR IR A AR
5 L DR ME & & 2 A
FAESE-
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32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries:

Continuing operations
- Qingdao Qingda (Note (a))

Discontinued operation
— VMR Products (Note (b))

(a) Disposal of Qingdao Qingda

In October 2018, the Group completed the disposal of the
entire issued share capital of Qingdao Qingda, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group, to an independent third
party, at a total consideration of RMB15,300,000. A net
loss on disposal of Qingdao Qingda of approximately
RMB2,539,000 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the nine months ended 31
December 2018. The gain on disposal of the subsidiary is
summarised as follows:

mEMBWRME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

32.

H & B B 2 7]

HEMRBARZ
(E18) s

—55F K (K@) (2,539)
R ERT

—VMR Products ( Hf5¥(b)) 182,873

(a) HEBFBBEKX
REBRZZ-—NF+ATKEE—
2EWNBRA BEFAT—BUE=
FoBRER AR15,300,0007T i}
EFEBFTAZEBELHARE2,539,000
TERBE=Z— \F+=ZA=+—H
EAEANGAEKRSRER  HEZW
BB BT

Sales consideration HERE 15,300
Less: Net assets disposed of: BT EEEFE
— Property, plant and equipment (Note 7) — W R KA (HET7) 11,629
— Land use rights (Note 8) — T fE AR (MF5E8) 7,330
— Intangible assets (Note 9) —mREE (H59) 190
— Inventories -F5 163
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 M E A ERGRIE 236
— Cash and cash equivalents -RekReFED 27
— Deferred income tax assets (Note 13) —RIEFTBHEE (H:E13) 25
— Trade and other payables —B 5 Rk HAMENRIE (76)
— Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13) —IREMEHEE (MiE13) (1,685)
Net assets disposed of L EEEFE 17,839
Net loss on disposal of the subsidiary HE TR ZFEE (2,539)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

HEBEFAZFRSMASEEYR

in respect of the disposal of Qingdao Qingda is as follows: AZ DT

Cash consideration RERE 15,300
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FItEReRESEEY (27)
Net proceeds of disposal of the subsidiary S B QRIS IR FEE 15,273
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32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 32. HEMEBLAR (&)
(b) Disposal of VMR Products (b) HEVMR Products
As disclosed in Note 1, the consideration of the MW EE HESTHEH2RED
disposal was approximately USD31,352,000 (equivalent 7% 7031,352,000 (HERO AR
to approximately RMB215,679,000) and a net gain 215,679,0007T) < tHE Wz 4 A R ¥
on disposal of approximately RMB182,873,000 was 182,873,000cEREBE T — N\ F
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the TZA=+—RHIENEASEE WX
nine months ended 31 December 2018. The gain on R HEZME R A e U S it 1
disposal of the subsidiary is summarised as follows: K
Sales consideration HERE 215,679
Less: Net assets disposed of: BTN EEEFE
— Property, plant and equipment (Note 7) — W B AR (MTEE7) 9,063
— Intangible assets (Note 9) —\REE (M) 139,627
— Inventories —FE 34,653
— Trade and other receivables — 8 5 &k H A fE R GRIE 18,067
— Cash and cash equivalents - REeRBESEEY 23,806
— Borrowings — &5 (89,566)
— Trade and other payables —EZ 5 MEMENFIE (126,559)
Net assets disposed of P& & EFE 9,091
Non-controlling interests IR 5,804
Reclassification of cumulative currency R EBBRERERDER
translation reserve upon disposal to ENEEER
profit or loss (29,519)
Net gain on disposal of the subsidiary HEF AR 2 F S 182,873
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HEVMR ProductsZ JF IR & RIRE ZEWR
in respect of the disposal of VMR Products is as follows: AZ DM
Cash consideration HeRE 215,679
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of It EReRESEEY (23,806)

Net proceeds of disposal of the subsidiary S B A RIFTS R IEF 5 191,873
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33. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(@) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated (a)

mEMBWRME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

33. RETHELENES
BB RAREEEKFTERS TEAD

from operations B
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018
8Z H=
—E-N\F —E-N\F
+=ZA=+—-8 +=-A=1+—H
Bt 3 L AMEA IENEA
Profit/(loss) before income tax: BREIRI AT (EE)
Continuing operations B ETE 1,374,957 1,859,553
Discontinued operation BRI E T 136,839 (113,746)
Profit before income tax including BRERI BN (BERIHEEER)
discontinued operation 1,511,796 1,745,807
Adjustments for: A
— Depreciation & 7 102,485 132,612
— Amortisation — 8 8,9 62,364 74,215
— Provision for impairment of —EEFERE
goodwill 9 - 61,056
— Provision for impairment of inventories  —713 & 5 (B & 762 1,261
~ Provision for impairment of —8B 5 RE A IR
trade and other receivables BUERHE 4.1(b) 976 21,947
— Provision for impairment of —Ht3ER B EERERE
non-current assets - 36,000
— Interest expense —FEER 6 95,999 23,424
— Interest income —F 2 A 6 (154,348) (122,757)
— Share of profit of associates —FEIREE AR R LR S
and a jointly controlled entity B2 &N 10,11 (9,776) (8,232)
— Gain on disposal of property, —HEYE I REHERE
plant and equipment (856) (1,948)
— Gain on disposal of AFS —HEAHEESHEE 2 s 23 - (3,987)
— Gain on disposal of FVPL —HEUNAAREBEFE8EES
SABRNERMEE KR 23 (665) -
— Gain on disposal of subsidiaries - net ~ —HEHBRRZ M= —FE 32 (180,334) (454)
— Changes in fair value of FVPL —ARREEFZEEZHTA
BaNeREEZ AAES 23 (5,035) -
— Foreign exchange gain — net — [ e — 5 (15,972) (2,623)
Changes in working capital: EEARE:
~ Inventories -FE (141,458) (73,687)
— Trade and other receivables —E 5 R H A FE W IE 44,062 (64,398)
— Trade and other payables —E 5 RAAMERFIE 165,538 32,066
Net cash generated from operations KEZEBER®FE 1,475,538 1,850,302
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33. REFHELENERE (A)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) RESRSREBRA HEWFE BHER

REZEREHE:

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds (b)
from disposal of property, plant and equipment

comprise:

Nine months

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

Note 2018 2018

BZE HE

—E-N\F —ZZE-N\F

+=—HA=+—H =A=+—H

B IEhEA IFFE

Net book amount REFE 7 4,838 5,864

Gain on disposal of property, LEME - IR R

plant and equipment BE 856 1,948

Currency translation differences ~ EH# IR & =% = (73)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME s BB

property, plant and equipment B FT 15 3K 5,694 7,739

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (0 ®BMESEHER

activities

This section sets out an analysis of the movements in

AEHINBME FEREABES T LA

liabilities from financing activities: BEBEZ-
Liabilities
from financing
activities
Borrowings
mESE
BN
Liabilities from financing activities —N\FOA—BAZzMEEE
as at 1 April 2018 210,000
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEX 3,580,389
Repayments of borrowings BRER (100,250)
Liabilities from financing activities RZZE-N\F+_A=+—HZREAE

as at 31 December 2018

3,690,139
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34. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

34. EiE
(a)

Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred at

BEAREE

REERERNEDARBELENERFRL

the end of the period/year are as follows: N
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R=ZZB—-NEF RZZE—NF
+=B=+—H —A=+—H
Property, plant and equipment L ER T L] 193,080 83,358
Investment in an associate REENRIZIKE 43,420 43,420
FVOCI UNRAREEBEBEFT A
Hiiralm s e MEE 127,016 -
AFS AL ESREE - 133,099
363,516 259,877
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) =EEHERIE
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under REERARBIAIHEEERE KK
non-cancellable operating leases at the closing date are as RBENTAEEOT
follows:
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R=Z-NEF RZE—NF
+=—HA=+—AH =A=+—H
Land and buildings: T RETF
Not later than 1 year TEBiB1E 91,460 31,556
Later than 1 year and not later BRI 1 F1E IR
than 5 years 40,506 66,944
Later than 5 years FRIBSE 21,405 30,385
153,371 128,885
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties

Name

=1
Huangguoshu Golden Leaf

EREEE

Yunnan Hongta

EFAE
Hunan Golden Leaf

e

Yunnan Ruisheng

EmHF
Dianhua Benxiang

SHERE
Yingtan Weizhijia Food Co. Ltd. (“Weizhijia")

EBERZFZERMAERAR ([KZK])

(b) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive) and senior
management. The amounts of compensation paid and
payable to directors is disclosed in Note 38(a). The
amounts of compensation paid and payable to senior
management for employee services is shown below:

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

35. EBALRS
(a) BHATESWEBEZ

Relationship

B &

An associate indirectly held by
the Company
NN ES SRRk TNl
An associate indirectly held by
the Company
RRREEFAHBE QR
An associate indirectly held by
the Company
EN/NCIILE S SRS ROk TNl
An associate indirectly held by
the Company
RRRIEEFFA L QR
A jointly controlled entity indirectly
held by the Company
RATIEZEFAHLRZEGE R
An entity controlled by the Company’s
ultimate holder

RETHBEGREZ AT

(b) FEEEAESHE
TEERAERBRREESE (MTES IF
HITEFRBYFATER)NIRE
BAB-ENEENTEENMEZCH
FiEE38(a) ik B - Mm A E R A B X ME
REERBHEHREMBEHOT:

Nine months

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

BZE HE

—E-N\F —ZE-N\F

+=B=+—H —A=+—H

IEhEAR IEFE

Fees, salaries and bonus T& - FHRIEA 18,391 18,220
Employer’s contributions to 1B = BhRIRET IR

retirement benefit scheme 346 373

18,737 18,593
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Transactions with related parties

Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

35. BHBALRS (&)
(0 HEBATHRS

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
BZE HE
—E-N\F —E-)N\F
+=B=+—H —A=+—H
Lh@EA IFFE

Sales of goods HEE®
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf - HREEE 11,205 3,761
- Yunnan Hongta —EFALE 21 30
— Hunan Golden Leaf —HEeE 341 671
— Dianhua Benxiang —BELRE 18,367 -
— Weizhijia Rz R 132 -
30,066 4,462

Purchase of goods and services B B RAM B R RS

— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf - EBERESE 40 -
- Yunnan Ruisheng —EMEHA 82 41
— Dianhua Benxiang —BERE 11,621 -
— Weizhijia —RZK 13 -
11,756 41

Dividend revenue A B M A
— Yunnan Hongta — B4R = 10,161
— Yunnan Ruisheng —E/FnFt = 5,733

15,894
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(d) Balances with related parties

mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

35. BHBALRS (&)
(d) BEEEA L&

As at As at
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018

R-ZE—NF RZZE—)N\F
e +=A=+—RH =ZA=+—8H

Balances due from a related i de) N
parties:
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf - ERESE
— trade and other receivables — 8 5 & E AWK 14,630 4,504
— Dianhua benxiang —BERE
— trade receivables — B SR 21,305 -
— Weizhijia —RZ R
— prepayments — AR ) 10,500 -
46,435 4,504
Balance due to related parties: AT BEEE A 4554
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf - ERESE
— trade payables —E Z K 40 -
- Dianhua Benxiang —EERE
— trade payables —EZENK 12,971 -
— Weizhijia —RZK
— trade payables =) ANEN 13 -
— contract liabilities —&aRAE 2,900 -
15,924 -

(i) On 27 November 2018, Guangdong Jiahao, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered
into the Entrusted Management Agreement with
Weizhijia, a company ultimately controlled by Ms.
Chu. Balances due from Weizhijia represented
upfront payment of the sales network construction
fee for 2019.

i) RZE-NEF+—-A=-+ttRH Xr&£H
WEENBAREREFEARLLR
RIEFINRRRZ KL R EE R
o RUERZTNBBER/ T —NEFH
ERBERBNENK
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36. TEMBRARZHE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Place of
incorporation and

Nominal
value of issued/

Ownership
interest

Principal activities and

Name kind of legal entity registered capital held by the Group % place of operation
FMA LI BRITEER/ AEEREH
ARER EEERER EMEREE EREZE% TEERRBE Y
Direct Indirect
E# Bk
Aromascape Development Germany, Limited liability ~ EUR25,000 - 100 Research and development
Centre GmbH Fet.A0t company B 725,000 of flavours & fragrances
B AEREELT in Germany
HEER 2
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Republic of Botswana, BWP100 - 100 Production and sales of
Limited liability EH1007T natural extracts in
company Botswana
TR A EENHERARDY)
BREAERAT ER B
Guangdong Golden leaf PRC, Limited liability RMB 100,000,000 - 100 Research & development,
Technology Development company AR 100,000,000 manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. HEBRETDF reconstituted tobacco
BRELSERHERAR leaves in the PRC
ﬁﬁg{@\ﬁ]zm ﬁﬂ?é‘( iﬁ&%%@ﬁ%
R
Guangdong Jiahao PRC, Limited liability RMB115,000,000 - 100 Production, sales, marketing
Foodstuff Co., Ltd. company A E#115,000,0007T and distribution of
BEREFRmARAA e BEREERA condiment products
in the PRC
kEHE BHEROBER
Wm -
Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted PRC, Limited liability RMB40,000,000 - 55.375 Manufacture & sale of
Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd. company AR #40,000,0007T reconstituted tobacco
BREReMBERE HEAREEAF leaves in the PRC
IR A R s, 242, 241 EEREEERSR
Guangzhou Huabao Food PRC, Limited liability RMB 10,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
Co., Ltd. company AR #10,000,0007T manufacturing & sales of
BMNEERmBRARN B BEREERA flavours & fragrances
in the PRC
e AEREERRE &
GuangZhou Hua Fang PRC, Limited liability RMB23,380,000 - 51 Manufacturing & sales
Tobacco Flavors Ltd. company AR #23,380,0007T of tobacco flavours &

BNERERERARATCC

FEARELAF

fragrances in the PRC
HERHERRER +
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DAEER
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity
R L 3t B
EEERER
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mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

Nominal

value of issued/
registered capital
BERTEER/
HAMEFEE

Ownership
interest

held by the Group %

rEEEEN
ERER%
Direct Indirect

=8 GF:3

36. TEMBAR 215 (&)

Principal activities and
place of operation

FTREBREL Y

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances (HK)

Limited
EEER (B ERAAN

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances
Co., Ltd.

EHERIY
ﬁ |§E /L\\ ETZHW,SM,FCW,CW,VXW,XW,XZ

Huabao Korea Company Limited
EERARFA GO

Huabao Qiangi Leasing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

ZETHEE (R
BRAT e

Hunan Jishou Mingzu Materials
Co., Ltd
HEEETRKENBRAF

Jiangxi Xianghai Biological
Technology Co., Ltd.
IREBENHBRERAR

Jiangxi H&K Food Technology
Development Co., Ltd

IREEBLERMMRER
ﬁ |§E /D\ ETYXW, YX2, ZH1

Hong Kong, Limited
liability company
BE BREMERH

PRC, Limited liability
company

hE R BRI

Korea, Limited liability
company
BHE EREMAF

PRC, Limited liability
company

PE AREEAF

PRC, Limited liability
company

PE AREEAF

PRC, Limited liability
company

PE AREEAF

PRC, Limited liability
company

PE AREEAF

HKD3,000,000
#1£3,000,0007T

RMB6 15,880,000
AR #615,880,0007

WON16,320,000,000
5£[816,320,000,000

RMB300,000,000
AR #300,000,0007T

RMB15,850,000
A E#15,850,0007T

RMB10,010,000
AE#10,010,0007T

RMB300,000,000
AR #300,000,0007T

100

81.103

|
o
o

85

95

Research, development,
manufacturing & sales of
flavours & fragrances
in Hong Kong

e LERHERR BE

Manufacturing & sales
of tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
HERHERRER +

Manufacture and sale of
filter materials in Korea
e EEREERERE

Em B

Equipment leasing,
office stationary leasing
assets management,
investment management,
investment and leasing
consulting in the PRC

KaREEE HARmE
g BEEE REER.
REFZANEER HH
i

Production of tabacco
raw materials and
cigarette filter

TERHEERRE TH

Produce, research and sale
of synthetic perfume
in the PRC
EERBEEERE R

Manufacturing and sales
of food flavours and
fragrances in the PRC
HERHERAER o
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36. TEMBAR 215 (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal Ownership
incorporation and value of issued/ interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity registered capital held by the Group % place of operation
HEME LR BRTEER/ AEEREN
NRAR EETRER HZMEXREE BREE% TEXBREELY
Direct Indirect
E# EiF:
Owada Flavours (Guangzhou) PRC, Limited liability HKD60,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
Co., Ltd. company 7 #60,000,0007T production and sale
REZERS (BMN) e BEREAEAT of tobacco flavours &
ARAR fragrances in the PRC
EERHECRERER
&
Shanghai H&K Flavors & PRC, Limited liability RMB260,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of
Fragrances Co., Ltd. company AR 260,000,000 food flavours & fragrances
HEEEHETR hE FREMEAT in the PRC
AR HYERHERRER T
Shanghai Huabao Biological PRC, Limited liability RMB 10,000,000 - 100 Production and sale of
Technology Co., Ltd. company AR 10,000,0007C tobacco raw material
HEEEEMRK hE FREMEAT EERHERRARE T
ﬁl}E/D\ETZHW,ZHZ, X1
Smart Sino International Investment  PRC, Limited liability USD55,640,000 - 100 Investments holding in
Holdings (China) Co., Ltd company % JT55,640,000 the PRC
ERARRERR (PE) hE FREMEAT REER mE
ﬁﬁEQﬂCLXQL L1, XQ2
Shanghai Xiangyue Technology PRC, Limited liability HKD10,000,000 - 100 Investments holding in
Development Co., Ltd company 7#10,000,0007T the PRC

HEBRUBEEE
BER A FpQu.xez

PE AREEAF

REER - P
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mE M BRERME

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

36. TEMBAR 215 (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal Ownership
incorporation and value of issued/ interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity registered capital held by the Group % place of operation
AT AL B R ERITEER AEEHEEH
NEAR EEERER EMEREE EREE% TEERRCERE
Direct Indirect
E# CiF3
Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical PRC, Limited liability RMB30,000,000 - 51 Research, development,
Technology Co., Ltd. company AR 30,000,0007C distribution and retail of
EFRIBBRER R HE R ERAT fragrances in the PRC
AR A E W2 e £E HERTE
ARAIER +
Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma PRC, Limited liability RMB6,000,000 - 100 Production and sales of
Co. Ltd company AE#6,000,0007T aromatic raw materials
HERmAENERERAAN FE - BREAEAF in the PRC
EERBEEERE R
Yingtan Huabao Flavors & PRC, Limited liability RMB96,500,000 - 100 Production and sale of
Fragrances Co., Ltd. company A E#96,500,0007T tobacco flavours &
EEEZEER BB BRETAT fragrances in the PRC
AR ARz EERBEERR &
Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour PRC, Limited liability RMB35,000,000 - 94.14 Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. company A E#35,000,0007T flavours & fragrances
KMLBEBERBRAF FE - BREAEAF in the PRC
EERBEERH &
Yunnan Tianhong Flavors PRC, Limited liability USD2,550,000 - 60 Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. company % 712,550,000 tobacco flavours &
ERALARERAT e BEREAFAT fragrances in the PRC
CERBERRAER &
Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability RMB11,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of

(Guangdong)
EREZEEFNHBRARN

company
in the PRC
HEBRETNF

AE#11,000,0007T

food flavours & fragrances

TERHERAER THE
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36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Material non-controlling interests

The total comprehensive income attributable to non-
controlling interests for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 is RMB178,384,000 (year ended
31 March 2018: RMB125,094,000), of which
RMB186,037,000 (year ended 31 March 2018:
RMB145,937,000) is from Huabao Flavours and its
subsidiaries (“Huabao Flavours Group”). The non-
controlling interests in other subsidiaries are not material.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for group of subsidiaries that have non-controlling
interests that are material to the Group :

(a)

mE M BRERME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
36. TEMEATZHE (&)

BRI HER

HE-Z—- \F+=ZA=+—HLtnh
BA sl Es a2 mE kR esg
A ARE178,384,000 (B E-F
—N\FZAZ+—BHLEFE: AR
125,094,0007T) - R BEEZRH K&
HWB AR ([EEROER]) 2 IEE
FIMESEHEAREAEEARE
186,037,000 (HHZE=Z — \F = A
=t+—HIEFE: AR%145,937,000
TC) o R ELAB H B A B A IEE B
W RERXe

AT ENNAREEBE R IFES 1w
MM EARMNMIBERRE

Summarised balance sheet of Huabao Flavours EERONEBZEEEGERBE
Group
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
RZZE—N\F RZZE—N\F
t=A=t—-H =A=t+—H
Current mE
Assets BE 7,940,296 7,064,301
Liabilities afE (523,231) (396,065)
Total current net assets FBEEHEE 7,417,065 6,668,236
Non-current JET B
Assets BE 1,686,786 1,639,947
Liabilities afE (2,481) (5,630)
Total non-current net assets FARBEELEE 1,684,305 1,634,317
Net assets EEFHE 9,101,370 8,302,553
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36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised income statement and statement of
comprehensive income of Huabao Flavours Group

mE M BRERME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
36. TEMEATZHE (&)

(a)

ERGFEGIES (F)

EERODEBZUBERREEKRERE

=

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HE HE
—E-N\EFE —E-NF
+=—H=+—8H —A=+—H
IEAEAR LEFE
Revenue EERE 1,674,630 2,233,830
Profit before income tax W 56 AT & 1,086,504 1,397,853
Income tax expense TSt & A (176,547) (201,089)
Profit for the period/year NEARE AT 909,957 1,196,764
Other comprehensive income HEih 2wk 29,762 (28,490)
Total comprehensive income 2EKEETE 939,719 1,168,274
Total comprehensive income DEL T IR
allocated to non-controlling BT
interests 186,037 145,937
Dividends paid to non-controlling ) FE 4% ) 14 4 25 R A< 2 AR R
interests 16,091 20,954
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36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised cash flows of Huabao Flavours Group
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mE M BRERME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
36. TEMEATZHE (&)

(a) ERFEHMEER (H)

EEROEEZRERERE

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
Bz HE
—®-N\E -TN\F
+t=A=+-8 =A=+-A
IEA@EA IFFE
Cash flows from operating activities Z&EFBH 2 RERE
Cash generated from operations HEEACZHE® 1,073,823 1,475,741
Income tax paid B FTERHR (127,091) (204,606)
Net cash generated from operating LEREACHEFHE
activities 946,732 1,271,135
Net cash (used in)/generated from wEES (FTA) EEZ
investing activities R #5 (2,203,784) 61,719
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEEE (FTA) EEZ
financing activities BeFHE (147,818) 1,934,122
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReRAESEEY L)/
and cash equivalents 3 hNFEER (1,404,870) 3,266,976
Cash and cash equivalents at the Y,/ FNRE R
beginning of the period/year ReEEY 5,889,492 2,636,124
Effects of currency translation ERBREHRE R
on cash and cash equivalents BeEBYHNEE 24,808 (13,608)
Cash and cash equivalents MR ERXRZBEER
at the end of the period/year BHEEEY 4,509,430 5,889,492
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Notes to the Consolidated mEMERRHEE
Financial Statements
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB BEEBEEIN TESEHUAREF TIIR)
37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37. ARFNHMBRRARRFEEES
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company PN S O
As at As at
31 December 31 March
Note 2018 2018

R-ZF-N\F R-ZT—)\F
e +=A=t—H =A=+—H

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE

Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZIKE 1,090,943 997,624
Current assets REEE

Trade and other receivables B 5 M E I GRIE 2,580 86,277

Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UR BT B A B FRIE 6,302,799 1,357,837

Cash and cash equivalents BeMBEEEEY 111,389 881,100

6,416,768 2,325,214

Total assets WEE 7,507,711 3,322,838
EQUITY E
Capital and reserves attributable AR FERIEE AEERA

to the Company’s equity holders % &%

Share capital &% 7R 318,647 318,647

Reserves B (a) 652,494 352,170

Retained earnings REB AT 2,448,767 2,313,125
Total equity BmrEs 3,419,908 2,983,942
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities EREBEE

Borrowings B 2,743,688 -
Current liabilities REBEE

Borrowings B 652,601 -

Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT I B A &) k08 395,520 337,751

Trade and other payables B 5 RHA N RIE 295,994 1,145

1,344,115 338,896
Total liabilities mas 4,087,803 338,896
Total equity and liabilities BERRAEERE 7,507,711 3,322,838
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board ARRZEEBBRERZZE—NF=A+=
of Directors on 12 March 2019 and was signed on its behalf. HHESBIELZESE -
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu Mr. Xiong Qing
KMEL L REMI L HE
Chairlady Director

= EF



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
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mE M BRERME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
37. ARFANABRARRFERE D

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movements of the Company (a) 2DEFEEH
Capital ~ Share-based Currency
Contributed ~~ Treasury Share Capital ~ redemption compensation Other ~ Translation
surplus shares  premium feserve feserve  reserve reserve feserve Total
HEfA
g1 Egt £
EdE® ERRGD  RBRE  EAGEE  BRER  MeBR  EMEE  HERE 3t
At 1 April 2017 AZE-tEmA-H 296,853 - 429861 240 4749 39120 - (84,59) 688,398
Employee shere option scheme  EEEF#EHH
Lapsed of share ptions —BRELR - - - - - (39,120) 39120 - -
Currency trandlaton diferences  E¥ERZE - - - - - - - B8 3329
At 31 March 2018 RZE-/\E=R=1-R 296,853 - 429,81 2411 4709 - 39120 [@20824) 32170
At 1 April 2018 Z5-/\§EA-H 296,853 - 429,861 21 4789 - 39120 (&084) 32170
Repurchases of shares @E%Hx {3 - (1) - - 11 - - - -
Curency transaton diferences  EMEH 22 - - - - - - - 3003 3003
At 31 December 2018 AE-\ETZA=1-A 296,853 (1) 429,861 241 4760 - 39120 (120,500) 652,494
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38. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

mEMBWRME

(BBEEPEIN FESEHUARBTTIIR)
38. EENFZMER

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEBRTHEAZMS
The remuneration of each director and chief executive of SEEFERTHBERBE=Z—\F
the Company for the nine months ended 31 December FTZAZ+—BIEAMEARZZE-N\F
2018 and the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out ZA=t+—BLEFEZHMENOT:
below:
Nine months ended 31 December 2018 Yearended 31 March 2018
ZE-NE+ZBZt-ALAfER R N\EZAZT-ALER
Employer's Employer's
contribution contribution
to pension to pension
Name of directors Note Fees Salaries Bonus scheme Total Fees Salaries Bonus scheme Total
EEREMR EEHER
jE3:3 ik e #e B HEER @t ne ¢ T HERR @i
Executive directors: nEs:
Ms. Chu Lam Yiu FMELT ) 6,590 - 17,017 - 23,667 8731 - - - 8731
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok BRELE = 1153 = 780 1933 - 2,054 - 507 2,561
Mr. Xia Liqun EMERE - 3,842 - 12 3854 - 5,091 339% 15 8,500
Mr. Lam Ka Yu HEFRE 1921 - - - 1921 2,545 - - - 2,545
Mr. Xiong Qing BREE - 1474 - 21 1,495 - 1,951 - 15 1,966
Independent non- BUKHTES:
executive directors:
Dr. Ding Ningning TEEHL 154 - - - 154 204 - - - 204
. Lee Luk Shiu THARE 154 - - - 154 204 - - - 204
Ms. Ma Yunyan RERLT 154 - - - 154 204 - - - 204
Mr. Wu Chi Keung ikt 154 - - - 154 204 - - - 204
9127 6,469 17,017 813 33,486 12,092 9,09% 33% 537 25,119

(i) Ms. Chu Lam Yiu is also the chief executive officer
of the Company.

No directors waived any emoluments during the nine
months ended 31 December 2018 and the year ended 31
March 2018.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018 and
the year ended 31 March 2018, no emoluments had been
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for
loss of office.

(i) MELZEIREAEENERHR

T8 °

BE-T-\E+-A=T—BLNE
AR=Z-N\E=A=+—RILFE
mEENRA AN

HE-FT—-)\F+ZA=+—HINAE
AR—_ZE—N\EFZA=+—BLFE"
REBTERAEESIHMSIEAMARE
SE RS ERBERAEE-
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38. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

U]

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018 and
the year ended 31 March 2018, no retirement benefits
paid to the directors of the Company by a defined
benefit pension plan operated by the Group in respect
of the director’s services as a director of the Company
and its subsidiaries or other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefit

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018 and
the year ended 31 March 2018, no payments to the
directors of the Company as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018 and
the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company did not
provide any consideration to any third party for making
available director’s services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such directors

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018 and
the year ended 31 March 2018, no loans, quasi-loans
or other dealings in favour of directors of the Company,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018
and the year ended 31 March 2018, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group's business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the period/year or at any time during the period/year.

(b)

(9]

(C)]

(e)

()

mEMBWRME

(RBEEBEN FASBHUARETLIIR)
38. EEMRMEMER (F)

EFRHKEF
BE_Z-N\F+-_A=t+—HLNHE
AR—ZE—NF=A=+—HIFE"
AEBEYEBRAEEINREFER/RAF
&ﬁ%@ﬂ%%ﬁ1%%ﬁmgﬁﬁﬁ

B AR 7E Wi s AR R AT 21 1 1) B S AN AR R
‘A

EERBEA
BE_T-/\FT-_A=t—HILNE
ARZZE-N\F=A=+—HIFE"

AEEYEAEF AR LR
BEfE -

AE=AXNRHESHRE2KE

HEZZ— )\ F+ZA=+—HINE
ARZZE-NF=ZR=+—RHILEFE"
AEBEYERIEREERBMAE=T
RHAEE -

FRUESE EEcIEMLtEREHE
BASBAZER EERREMRFZZ
&l
HE_Z-N\F+A=+T—HIENE
H&_E*)\E:H:+*H¢EE
AEBITEAEE XZFESEHD
EANBBRZEETNHRETIRBIREFEER
MEE K-

EERNRG ZYREHN2ERER

HE-_Z—N\E+-_A=t+—HItNL#
ARZZE—N\F=A=1+T—HBHLFE"
RRRWEET RS RAEE 2 %5
MARFzEEEHNHEEETES
EAER EERS WHLER-
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Five Year Financial Summary EFEMKREE
(All amount in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB BEEBEEIN TESEHUAREF TIIR)
RESULTS
E
Nine Months
ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2015 2016 2017 2018 2018
HEZ-A=-t-HLFE gz
—E-N\f
t=A=t-H
“Z-1F —ERF “E—+tF “Z-)\F LENMEA
Note b Note b Note b Note a Note a
fiizEh (g HisEb fizta fitska
(Restated)
(E5)
Turnover BES 3,431,077 3,200,436 3,482,894 3,628,116 3,058,707
Gross Profit eS| 2,399,198 2,203,988 2,270,823 2,463,927 1,949,805
Profit before income tax BRI 2N 1,892,390 1,493,331 1,409,112 1,859,553 1,374,957
Income tax expenses FEH (310,122) (297,686) (294,573) (349,687) (320,805)
Profit for the year/period KEZ BT 1,582,268 1,195,645 1,114,539 1,396,120 1,190,991
Notes: P&

(@)  The financial figures were extracted from the consolidated income (a) AR EHFIFEEAELGAWZER-
statement.

(b)  The financial figures were extracted from the 2017/2018 annual report. (b)) ERFKHEFI@EE T —t =T —N\FF

No separate disclosures of continuing operations and discontinued W mEE—_ T —RFE_ZT—+tF=-fA=+—
operation were made on the financial figures for the year ended 31 HIEFE 2 W8T I MR R R A & 5 % 1E
March 2015 to 2017. REEBORBE-

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EEREAEE
As at
As at 31 March 31 December
2015 2016 2017 2018 2018
R=A=+-H RZE-N\E&
—“T-1%E “E-RE “E—+F “Z-)\f# +ZB=1+-H
Total assets BEE 8,634,468 9,654,219 11,497,751 14,300,910 19,175,430
Total Liabilities Bag (1,185,779) (879,748) (890,839) (1,182,573) (5,430,012)

Shareholders' funds FEE 7,448 689 8,774,471 10,606,912 13,118,337 13,745,418
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OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

LT EHKERE

(BRAEEAEIN AESBEHUAARETTIIR)

Hith B B B
As at
As at 31 March 31 December
2015 2016 2017 2018 2018
R=ZA=1—H RZZ-N\f
ZT-RF ZERE I “Z-\¥ +ZA=t-H
Earnings per share, basic FREMN EX
(RMB cents) (AR¥S) 50.77 38.04 34.29 40.66 32.75
Earnings per share, diluted BREN #E
(RMB cents) (AEES) 50.70 38.01 34.29 40.66 32.75
Aggregated dividend per share BREEZFRE
(HKD cents) (1L) 9.5 - 22.00 25.30 18.80
Aggregated special dividend per share  FR2F R:HERIR S
(HKD cents) (7&1L) 22.20 - - 5.70 18.90
Fiscal year-end share price (HKD) FHEEEERRE
(B1) 5.77 2.9 4.54 5.20 333
EBIT ratio EBITE 53.6% 44.5% 38.5% 47.7% 42.1%
EBITDA ratio EBITDAXR 58.2% 50.1% 44.7% 52.4% 46.9%
ROE ROE 22.3% 15.0% 11.6% 12.0% 8.8%
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Glossary

AGM
Board
Bye-laws
CEO

CFO

CG Code

China, Mainland or PRC

Company or Huabao

Corresponding Period
Last Year

Current Reporting Period

Dianhua Benxiang
Director(s)
electronic cigarettes
EPS

Executive Director(s)

FCCA

FCIS

FCPA

FCPA (Aust.)

FCS

Financial Year 2017/18
Group or Huabao Group
Guangdong Jiahao
Guangdong Jinke
Guangdong Jinye
Guangdong Jinye Group
Guangdong Tobacco
Guangdong Tobacco

Company
Guangdong Zhaoqing

Annual general meeting

The board of directors of the Company

Bye-laws of the Company

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

The People’s Republic of China

Huabao International Holdings Limited

twelve-month period from 1 January to
31 December 2017

nine-month period from 1 April to
31 December 2018

Yunnan Dianhua Benxiang Technology
Co. Ltd.

The director(s) of the Company

e-cigarette(s)

Earnings per share

Executive director(s) of the Company

Fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants

Fellow member of The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators

Fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public
Accountants

Fellow member of CPA Australia Ltd.

Fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries

twelve-month period from 1 April 2017
to 31 March 2018

the Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd

Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted Tobacco
Leaves Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Jinye and its subsidiaries
and affiliated companies

Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong
Industrial Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Tobacco and its subsidiaries
and related companies

Zhaoqing Perfumery Co., Ltd.
(Guangdong)

Sl

BRRBERE
Exg
AR
BEHTE
BEMBE

DEEATE
B o B
ARFREE
R
AR5 4 B
HEAE
£F

TTE
SREF
WTES
FCCA

FCIS

FCPA

FCPA (Aust.)
FCS

201718 L &

AEESEERE

ERZ=Z
ERER

EREE

EReEEE

BERFE

ERFEAT

EREE

RERBFERE

KARIMESS

iN/NE] /NETE
BERHITE

BEVBE

7 3R B B 8% PO B 1 Y
TEERTA

R AR FEE

EEHRIERER A
20171 81BE12A31H
IF+=1@A

20184 A1HE128318
IENE A

EEEERFREBRAF]

ARFEF

T

SRAEF

ARFZHTES

HERHARRHAARE
RHA

HERTRER
TRABAREREE

o

’

ARG

BN E R & 5 ED
EBRTWELAGEARGER

201794 518 £201843
A31B1E+={@A
RABIREKEBRF
BEREZREmABRAFA
BEReRHEEEBR AR

ERASEMKFHHE
BRRA

EREENEMBLARAR
AN

ERPETXAREEAT]

FERAPENEWMERE R
FEEaE S
FEREEEHBER AR
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HKD

HKICPA

HNB

Hong Kong or HKSAR
Hong Kong Stock Exchange
Hongta Tobacco

Hongta Tobacco Group

Huabao Flavours

Huabao Flavours Company
Huabao Kongque

Hunan Jishou

INED(s)

Jiahao Foodstuff
Jiangxi Huabao Kongque

Jiangxi Xianghai

Listing Rules

Model Code

Period Under Review

R&D
RMB

RTL

Huabao International Holdings Limited # B EIFZAAIR 25 2018 Annual Report 3§

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency
of Hong Kong

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants

Heat not burn

Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic
of China

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Hongta Tobacco (Group) Co., Ltd.

Hongta Tobacco and its subsidiaries
and related companies

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co.,
Ltd., a joint stock limited company
established in the PRC with limited
liability and an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company

Huabao Flavours and its subsidiaries and
related companies

Shanghai H&K Flavours & Fragrances
Co., Ltd.

Hunan Jishou Mingzu Materials Co. Ltd

Independent Non-executive Director(s)
of the Company

Jiahao Foodstuff Limited

Jiangxi H&K Food Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

Jiangxi Xianghai Biological Technology
Co., Ltd.

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules

twelve-month period from 1 January to
31 December 2018

Research and development

Renminbi, the lawful currency of
the PRC

Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves
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Glossary

Scheme Mandate Limit

SFO

Shareholder(s)
Share(s) or ordinary share(s)

Shenzhen Stock Exchange
STMA

United States

usb

VMR Products
Weizhijia

Xiamen Amber
Yancheng Chunzhu
Yongzhou Shanxiang

Yunnan Hehe

Yunnan Tianhong

The Maximum number of Shares in
respect of which share options may
be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company

the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong

Shareholder(s) of the Company

Ordinary share(s) of HKD 0.10 each
in the capital of the Company

Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the PRC

State Tobacco Monopoly Administration

United States of America

US dollars, the lawful currency of
the United States of America

VMR Products, LLC

Yingtan Weizhijia Food Co., Ltd.

Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical
Technology Co., Ltd.

Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma Co., Ltd.

Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour Co., Ltd.

Yunnan Hehe (Group) Co., Ltd.

Yunnan Tianhong Flavour Co., Ltd.

Sl

AR R

&7 N g &P

PR
Pt =k 3 i Ak

RYNEHRZ B
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ESE1
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VMR Products
K2R
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RREZ R
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B HE0.107T ) BB AR
FEBRYIFE 753X 5 A
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ENERERE

Xt XBDEEE

VMR Products, LLC
EER s REmBRAF
EFIRIA BRI AR 5
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